

Internal Migration in Asia

A comparative study exploring key drivers of migration, climate-induced migration, impact of COVID-19, labour laws, and social security measures in six Asian countries

BANGLADESH I CAMBODIA I INDIA I INDONESIA I NEPAL I THAILAND



October, 2022

Migrants Resilience Collaborative

People's Courage International, Inc. 3206 10th St NE, Washington, DC 20017, USA Email - info@globaljansahas.org Website - www.globaljansahas.org

Country consultants:

Bangladesh - Mohammad Jalal Uddin Sikder

Cambodia - Sochanny Hak

Indonesia - Yoga Prasetyo

Nepal - Arjun Kharel

Thailand - Patporn Phoothong

Research design: Aarya Venugopal and Ameena Kidwai

Written by: Ameena Kidwai and Soumya Tiwari

Editor: Aarya Venugopal

Proofreading: Evlyn Samuel

Report Design & Layout: Sonal Agarwal, Shashwat Raj, & Sumit Singh

Photo Credit: ILO/Pradip Shakya, The Telegraph online, Shutterstock, Flickr,

Shutterstock/HM Shahidul Islam, Shutterstock/Suwan Wanawattanawong, Shutterstock/Vintemp, Shutterstock/Tirachard Kumtanom, Shutterstock/Alf Ribeiro, Shutterstock/Rahai, ILO/Emmanuel Maillard, ILO/Pradip Shakya, ILO/ECOT, Shutterstock/1000 Words, Shutterstock/Sk Hasan Ali, Simon Baker

We acknowledge Pritham Raja for his guidance in country selection and valuable feedback.

ADVISORY COMMITTEE

The following experts working on migration and labour issues in Asia were a part of the advisory committee to guide the Jan Sahas research team:

- **Amit Chowdhury,** National Project Officer at United Nations International Organization for Migration (IOM), India
- Carolien de Bruin, Founder & CEO, C-Change
- Coen Kompier, Senior Specialist International Labour Standards, ILO Decent Work Team, Egypt
- **Katya Demushkina**, Lead, Global Alliance for Social Entrepreneurship, Schwab Foundation for Social Entrepreneurship, World Economic Forum
- Marat Yu, Programme Manager, Porticus, Hongkong
- Natasha Tariq, Director, Philanthropy, Synergos
- Priya Deshingkar, Professor of Migration and Development at the University of Sussex, UK
- Saleem Khan, India Director, British Asian Trust
- Shabari Nair, Labour Migration Specialist for ILO South Asia, India
- Susan Clear, Director, Social Impact Investing, Macquarie Group Foundation, Hongkong
- Yara Asad, Private Sector Development Lead World Bank, Washington DC

CONTENTS

Preface	 06
Key Findings	 07
Key Recommendations	 11
Introduction	 14
Study Design	 16
Key Drivers and Impact of Internal Migration	 19
Impact of Covid-19 on Internal Migration	 33
Climate Change and Migration	 44
Labour Laws and Impact on Internal Migrants	 56
Social Security Schemes	 75
Conclusion	 85
Appendix 1	 86
Appendix 2	 88
Appendix 3	 92

TABLES

Table 1: No. of internal migrants in selected countriesTable 1.1: Factors influencing duration of migrationTable 1.2: Predominant sectors of work for migrants in selected countriesTable 3.1: Estimated people displaced due to sudden climate events in sample countriesTable 3.2: Estimated climate migrants as a result of slow onset climate change in sampleTable 4.1: Country-wise list of labour lawsTable 4.2: Selected countries adherence to right to strikeTable 4.3: Legal regulations of termination in selected countriesTable 4.4: Work hours limit in selected countriesTable 4.5: Overtime payment in selected countriesTable 4.6: Minimum wages in selected countriesTable 4.7: Number of accidents and injuries at the workplace in selected countriesTable 5.1: Existing schemes in selected countriesTable 5.2: Portability provision in existing schemes in selected countries

FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Hierarchy of needs for remittance Figure 2.1: Unemployment rates in selected countries since 2019-2022 Figure 3.1: Slow onset of climate change leads to migration

HIGHLIGHTS

Highlight 1.1: Positive impact of migration Highlight 1.2: Examples of government push for digital payments Highlight 4.1: Amendments were in favour of the industry rather than workers: Examples from India and Indonesia

ILLUSTRATIONS

Illustration 1: Push and Pull factors for migration Illustration 2: Additional categories of internal migrants post COVID Illustration 3: Double migration as a result of climate change Illustration 4: Barriers to access schemes

NOTABLE POSITIVE TRENDS

Notable Positive Trends: Key Drivers and Impact of Internal Migration Notable Positive Trends: Impact of COVID 19 on Internal Migration Notable Positive Trends: Impact of Climate Change on Internal Migration Notable Positive Trends: Labour Laws and Impacts on Internal Migrants Notable Positive Trends: Social Security Schemes

CASE STUDIES

Mohsin* - migrant working in food industry in Bangladesh Raj*- a migrant working as a waiter in Nepal Chhaiya* - a migrant working as a waitress in Cambodia Savitri Devi* - a migrant working as an agricultural labourer in India Saira* - a migrant working as a domestic worker in Indonesia Aranya* - a migrant working in a food processing factory in Thailand

PREFACE

At the beginning of the first wave of Covid-19 in 2020, countries across the world announced lockdowns of varying severities. Millions of migrant workers were left to fend for themselves, with many forced to make their way home amid the struggle to make ends meet. The pandemic exposed the failure of our systems for migrant workers.

The report "Internal Migration in Asia" is a result of in-person conversations with 300 internal migrants at both source and destination locations across Bangladesh, Cambodia, India, Indonesia, Nepal, and Thailand in the last year. This study was undertaken to understand and highlight the precarious lives of migrants and their increasing vulnerability due to factors like climate change and the pandemic. We see this as the first step towards starting a regional discourse on internal migration and how we can strengthen systems for migrant households in Asia.

740 million individuals migrate internally worldwide. Of this, 282 million internal migrants belong to Asia alone, which is one-third of the global internal migrant population. Internal migration across countries is driven by economic distress caused by failure of traditional livelihood options, and economic shocks caused or aggravated by social exclusion and climate change. The pandemic aggravated this distress at scale across the region. In the Southeast Asian region, 4.7 million were pushed into extreme poverty conditions due to Covid-19. Our analysis indicates that the number of internal migrants is set to grow as returnee international migrants resort to internal migrants and the number of first-time migrants increases. We also found that the conditions of women and girl migrants worsened post Covid-19. For example, in India, it was found after the pandemic that women were eleven times more unlikely to return to work post job loss.

Internal migration has not received the attention it deserves from governments, despite the fact that globally it is four times more common than international migration. Laws addressing internal migration at the national or regional level are missing in most of the region. The data on the Labour Rights Index demonstrates the prevalence of poor working conditions across all countries covered in the study. In addition, access to social security schemes remains very low: less than 50% of the poor have access in lower-middle-income countries, while just 18% have access in lower-income countries. Furthermore, since most countries do not design schemes with internal migrants in mind, it becomes harder to meet their unique challenges. Exclusion among seasonal migrants is likely even higher. Their limited access to social security is characteristic of their 'invisibility', particularly in cities.

However, there are examples of positive government action from countries part of the study in terms of laws and policies to protect workers that we can build on. Cambodia's labour laws have a special provision for piece-rate workers where if workers produce fewer pieces than the minimum wage rate, then wages should be adjusted. In 2021, the Indian government created the E-shram portal, a mechanism to register unorganised workers – with special reference to migrants; it is the first such database which aims to extend social security benefits to registered workers and has already registered over 27 crore workers till June 2022. Thailand has been able to increase access to healthcare for almost its entire population. The Bangladesh government launched various food security and employment generation schemes in the Monga-affected regions to help populations in distress. The governments of Indonesia and Thailand rolled out wage subsidy programmes to help low-income workers during COVID. All these examples point towards the possibilities and mechanisms in protecting the informal sector workforce in distress.

As the world deals with the challenges of inequality, climate change, and the after-effects of the pandemic, safe and fair migration must be given its due importance by formulating policies that specifically address the needs of internal migrants. It is essential to understand that migration will continue for the years to come as people seek better livelihood opportunities than what is available at source locations. Therefore, the focus has to be on providing workers with better opportunities, enabling fair working conditions, safe passage, and other basic support when they migrate.

We hope that this report enables an open conversation on ensuring the dignity of internal migrants in our respective countries and paves the way for meaningful collaborations between civil society organisations, governments, private sector, and communities in the region.

Ashif Convenor, Migrant Resilience Collaborative

KEY FINDINGS

Internal migrants across Asia face challenges of underrepresentation and an implicit exclusion from social and worker protection measures. For the majority of internal migrants, seasonal migration is the primary means for survival. External factors such as climate change and COVID-19 are significant stressors that directly result in unemployment, loss in wages, a vicious debt cycle and potentially push already vulnerable migrants into extreme poverty. Across the board, compliance and implementation of existing laws and policies pertaining to labour rights are non-existent.





- Migration is driven by economic distress caused by the failures in traditional livelihood options such as agriculture along with a lack of alternative livelihood opportunities at source locations.
- Decisions to migrate and where migrants move are largely defined by factors such as distance to the destination locations, the presence of social networks, and availability of higher wages in comparison to their places of origin.

Duration of migration is defined mainly by the interplay of two factors – firstly, 'land ownership' - i.e. those with productive/ agricultural land tend to move for short-durations or seasonally, as land is an asset and a way to feel connected to their roots. Secondly, distance and cost of travel determined the number of times migrants travelled back to source locations. It is important to also note, other factors influence duration of migration such as – migrating with or without family may determine the duration of migration.



Impact of Migration _____

- The positive impact of migration are remittances and the technical knowledge or skills migrants bring back to source locations.
 - Remittances were primarily used for basic sustenance and debt repayment rather than for savings. In few cases, investments on assets have been observed.
 - Government incentives to help migrants shift to safer digital modes of money transfer has worked in Cambodia and Bangladesh.
 - In a few cases, it was observed that the technical know-how migrants learn over the years aid in the process of self-employment or to start businesses at source locations.
- The negative impact of migration includes labour shortage created at source locations, poor mental health of migrants as a result of isolation, lack of access to social security schemes and deplorable working conditions at the destination locations.

- As a result of migration, labour shortage is witnessed in rural areas. This gap is often filled by left behind families, particularly women and children. Evidence has shown that this burden often has negative impacts on their mental health too.
- In destination locations, isolation, deplorable working conditions and barriers to access basic facilities and social protection lead to a sense of alienation that has a grave impact on workers' mental health.
- Since most internal migrants end up working in the informal sector, they are not protected by labour laws, and thus are often faced with unjust working conditions such as delayed wages, lack of job security, jobs that are dangerous and unsafe.
- Furthermore, in most countries, schemes are not portable, and in cases where they are portable, implementation challenges have also been observed. Hence, most migrants find it hard to access social security schemes in destination areas.

Covid-19 and Impact on Migration



- Increase in internal migrants: Our analysis indicated that there is and will continue to be an
 increase in the number of internal migrants with the increase in two categories of workers returnee international migrants (who returned from foreign countries because of the pandemic)
 and individuals who never migrated in the past but are forced to now migrate (who have been
 pushed to extreme poverty).
- **Potential shift in sectors:** Experts believe the slow recovery of tourism and hospitality sector in Thailand could lead to many migrants shifting to different sectors altogether in the long-term. Such shifts need to be studied further to understand the sustained impact of the pandemic.
- **Cash-transfers:** All countries expanded cash allowance, food and employment schemes as part of relief measures. Thailand and Indonesia provide 50% wage subsidy to the private sector/ specific industries to ensure employees are not laid off.
- Women bear the brunt: Across all countries, it was observed that fewer women are entering the workforce, as a result of either fewer job opportunities or increased household responsibilities. In India, it was found that women were eleven times more unlikely to return to work post job loss.



Climate change and Impact on Migration

India, Nepal, Bangladesh and Indonesia rank among the top 15 countries at highest risk of being impacted by extreme climatic conditions.

• Climate-induced migration is the consequence of either sudden or slow-onset climate changes that disrupt existing populations' livelihood.

- Climate migration cannot be looked in isolation from migration as a result of economic distress: Rural areas in developing countries are highly dependent on rainfall for agriculture. As a result of slow-onset climate change such as droughts, heat waves and erratic rainfall patterns, there has been an increase in agriculture failure. Therefore, people who practice subsistence farming are pushed into economic distress.
- Women and girls are severely affected: In the event of climatic events, the development
 of unsafe migration or displacement pathways, especially for women and girls, accelerates.
 For example, during the Assam floods in India, which has become an annual occurrence,
 instances of forced child labour and marriage have increased multi-fold. Similar increases in
 trafficking after sudden climatic events have been witnessed In other countries of Asia as well.
- Worrisome predictions of climate impacts on destination locations: Climate events will disrupt migration patterns, making it essential to explore the consequences of environmental impacts at both source and destination. For example, both Bangkok and Jakarta are expected to experience flooding because of rising sea levels that could result in mass out-migration.

Labour policies found lacking in design and implementation



- **Non-existent law/ policy:** Law addressing internal migration at a regional or national level is missing in the region, except India. (However, the ISMWA, the law tackling inter-state migration, has been subsumed under larger labour codes)
- **Recent amendments causing more trouble to workers:** Amendments carried out during the first phases of the pandemic were largely in favour of industry.
- Low compliance and unclear pathway to grievance redressal: In relation to working hours limit, overtime payment, and minimum wage.
 - Employer is a key person in implementing the law, however because of complications around outsourcing and value chains, the definition of the employer is often unclear. Many exploit this ambiguity to forego their responsibilities.
- Exclusion of the sectors from minimum wages: Domestic workers are brought under the ambit of the labour laws by some states within India (Minimum Wage Act - however, even in India, domestic workers are excluded from several labour laws as the definitions of 'workmen', 'employer' and 'establishment' are limited). Cambodia's Minimum Wage Act is limited to garment and textile workers.



Migrants lack access to social security schemes _

- Types of scheme access:
 - All countries have existing schemes for health insurance and cash transfer.

- **South Asia:** Bangladesh and India are the only two countries that have schemes in place in relation to food, cash transfers, employment and health insurance. Nepal has existing schemes in place except for food assistance programmes.
- **South-east Asia:** None of the countries have schemes in relation to employment. Indonesia is the only country that provides access to food schemes.

• Lack of portability, a major roadblock to access:

- Bangladesh was the only country that did not provide portability in any of the major types of social security schemes of ration/ food, cash transfers and health insurance – this was a result of its scheme design that covers vulnerable populations based on geographical area.
- India and Indonesia provide portability in relation to scheme design in all major types of schemes.
- Complex registration processes and illogical eligibility criteria mar the process even in countries that have portability features embedded in the scheme design:
 - These complexities in accessing schemes occur because most schemes are not designed with a migrant lens. Therefore, issues such as lack of documentation and information of schemes which are higher among migrant workers are not taken into account.

KEY RECOMMENDATIONS

1. International organisations such as IOM and ILO along with regional level organisations such as ASEAN and SAARC must work on the issue of internal migration and play an important role in working with member countries to bring the issue to the forefront.

Currently, the focus of majority of these organisations is international migration and an added lens of internal migration is equally important in relation to labour welfare and economy.

• These organisations must come together to form a platform where they work in collaboration to discuss and address the migrant issue at national, regional and international levels: For example, the Migrant Forum in Asia^(II) is a regional level platform which brings together organisations, associations and unions working with international migrants in Asia. It acts as a regional facilitator and coordinator between member countries.

2. Designing policies and interventions to address the unique challenges of migrant workers:

Worker welfare to include social security, worker protection, responsible business and financial health during external shocks - particular focus on worker welfare could be brought into disaster relief measures.

Since we understand migration is an inevitable process, it becomes essential to design policies focused on safe migration of vulnerable populations. These policies must have special provisions for left behind women, elderly and children.

What can the key actors do?

- Domestic governments must be at the centre of addressing challenges and formulating
 policies related to internal migration: With an increase in migration as a result of climate
 change, the pandemic and agricultural distress among other factors, the number of internal
 migrants across countries may continue to increase exponentially. Therefore, the onus of
 protecting internal migrants must fall on domestic governments.
 - 1. Design interventions to promote safer mode of payments for migrants to send remittance: A good example of this is Bangladesh, where the government provides monetary incentives to encourage people to use the digital payment app, Bkash
 - 2. A further lens of left behind women and children while designing policies is also important.
 - 3. Strong contingency plans for any future crises affecting the informal sector must be considered. Should ensure lens of internal migrants and worker welfare is taken into consideration during disasters or external shocks such as COVID-19.
 - a. International and regional level organisations can lead the way in regard to ensuring the lens of internal migration is included in labour laws and welfare measures. All member countries must ratify ILO Convention No.189 on Decent Work for Domestic workers^[1] and Convention No.190 on Violence & Harassment in the workplace^[2] in selected countries.

https://mfasia.org/

3. Robust and standardised datasets on internal migration is essential to ensure the development of inclusive and targeted policies that address the needs of migrants:

These datasets must capture different trends and patterns of migration including sociodemographics of migrants, their occupational sectors, degree of vulnerability, type of migration, reasons for migration, access to social protection measures and important migration corridors. These could be collated to develop a regional level database, and further develop data-backed and context specific policies. The 'Migration Data Portal', an IOM dashboard on international migration is an example of a comprehensive dataset.

What can the key actors do?

- Governments must address the severe lack of recent data available on internal migrants by creating comprehensive datasets at a national level. This standardised data could be part of the country level census or any other national level data collection exercise. Such data must also be accessible to the public.
- Private stakeholders especially from sectors employing a high proportion of migrants should maintain records of workers along with the details of any intermediaries who may be hired by the industry to help create a more inclusive database.
- Non-profit organisations could work with governments to build a more comprehensive and inclusive database, ensuring wider reach with the migrant community.
- International and regional level organisations must work with member countries in developing standardised metrics across countries on aspects such as key sectors, access to social protection, migration corridors, etc.

4. Ensure compliance of labour laws across countries and building awareness amongst workers:

Labour policies ensuring the protection of workers across parameters [such as work hours limit, overtime payment, minimum wages (also in relation to piece-rate output remuneration), and occupational health and safety] are ridden with issues of low compliance because of implementation and monitoring related challenges.

What can the key actors do?

- Governments, private sector, trade unions and civil society must partner together to ensure compliance of labour policies and build awareness around it.
 - In cases of non-compliance, all stakeholders must work to strengthen grievance redressal systems and build awareness around the same.
- Governments must work towards bringing the informal sector under labour laws as they are highly unregulated and therefore witness maximum cases of exploitation.
- Private sector employers/ investors should ensure enforcement and monitoring of labour laws by intermediaries within workplaces.

• International and regional level organisations should initiate dialogue between member states for strengthening implementation of labour laws and learn from the best practices of each country.

5. Migration as a result of climate change will be the leading cause of movement in the near future. Therefore it is important that policies specific to climate migration are formulated.

What can the key actors do?

- Domestic governments should capture climate migration and migration corridors formed, especially as a result of slow onset climate change. Welfare schemes and policies must take into consideration climate migrants as a lens in design.
- There must be a strong focus on designing policies addressing climate migration for both source and destination to ensure safe migration.

6. Efforts to improve access to social security schemes for migrant workers must be the primary responsibility of the national governments.

However, given government administrative capacity to undertake the task might be limited in some developing nations – a collaborative effort between governments, industry and CSOs could be encouraged to ensure last-mile delivery of benefits.

What can the key actors do?

- Governments must ensure a migrant-friendly intersectional lens when designing social security schemes, and address the unique barriers internal migrants face in accessing schemes such as portability, complicated documentation process, etc.
- Private employers must take equal responsibility in enabling access to social security for casual workers.
- CSOs should support workers in receiving access to social security schemes: CSOs' existing
 presence and work within communities provide them with the means to reach the last mile.
 They should use this to build end-to-end programs that support migrants in accessing social
 security schemes.
- Capacity building trainings for awareness on rights at the workplace and social security schemes, its eligibility and registration processes with migrants by CSOs can be effective in empowering workers.
- 7. Investors to promote innovations such as strong focus on measurement of "S" in ESG ratings especially within industries employing a majority of internal migrants; investors play a significant role in norming labour welfare expenditure and practices in supply chains.

INTRODUCTION

Internal migration is an ignored phenomenon despite the fact that globally it is four times more common than international migration. ^[3] Recent debates on national and global development trajectories, spatial inequalities, uneven growth, climate change, and the pandemic have brought the question of internal migration to the forefront.

International Organization for Migration(IOM) defines internal migration as *"the movement of individuals within a state involving the establishment of a temporary or permanent residence."*^[4] 740 million individuals migrate internally worldwide ^[5] with 282 million internal migrants belonging to Asia alone, which is one-third of the global internal migrant population. ^[6] However, this is a conservative estimate given the inconsistencies and absence of recent data.

Asia is the largest and most populous continent globally, home to two-third of the world's population. In the past few decades, with rapid urbanisation, the region has witnessed an increase in internal migration.^[7] It has increasingly been gaining prominence as an essential livelihood strategy among the economically disadvantaged. ^[8] The count of internal migrants from India and China alone exceeds the number of international migrants worldwide. ^[9]

Although internal migration data from national surveys across countries in the continent is not comparable because of inconsistencies in definitions and time period of data collection, the following data points provide us with an overview of the magnitude of migration across countries (this report will focus on the following 6 countries of Asia – rationale for the same is provided in subsequent sections):

Country	No. of internal migrants	Source
Bangladesh	13.7 million [®]	Bangladesh Population and Housing Census (2011) ^[10]
Cambodia	3.3 million	Population Census (2019) [11]
India	140 million ^[iii]	Census of India (2011) [12]
Indonesia	5.4 million ^[iv]	Socio-economic national survey (2019) [13]
Nepal	10.5 million ^[v]	National Labour Force Survey (2017/18) ^[14]
Thailand	1.02 million	Annual migration survey (2020) ^[15]

Table 1: No. of internal migrants in selected countries

iii Lifetime internal migrants in Bangladesh

This is an estimated figure of internal migrants who move for work, it is obtained through calculations from the Census 2011. However, the overall figure is 453.6 million which includes all types of internal migrants such as marriage migrants. For more information: <u>https://m.timesofindia.com/india/30-of-migrants-will-not-return-to-cities-irudaya-rajan/articleshow/76126701.cms?utm_source=whatsapp&utm_medium=social&utm_campaign=TOIArticleshowicon</u>

^[V] Lifetime internal migrants in Nepal

Temporary or seasonal migration is a prominent migration trend in Asia. In several countries such as Bangladesh and India, poor households adopt seasonal migration as a livelihood strategy during agricultural off-seasons. [16] However, since most national surveys look at migration over five to ten years, tracking seasonal migrants, who move for less than a year for work, becomes extremely difficult and often leads to them being undercounted. Some rough estimates exist, such as in India, there could be anywhere between 59 million [17] to 140 million [18] migrants who move seasonally for work. World Food Programme Report (2019) survey in Cambodia observed 33% migrant households moved seasonally or for short durations. [19]

Even though seasonal migration is a prominent coping strategy, specific risks and vulnerabilities are intensified by the migrant identity. Evidence from India suggests seasonal migrants are the most vulnerable as they experience hazardous working conditions, low wages, and inaccessibility to basic social security benefits. ^[20] Exclusion from social protection measures of internal migrants is common in many Asian countries. The reasons for their exclusion include the effects of direct and indirect policies such as portability constraints and exclusive eligibility mandates, to name a few.

Despite these vulnerabilities in living and working conditions, it is noteworthy that internal migration has improved migrant households' standard of living. A disaggregated analysis of human development indicators based on migration status across 16 low and middle-income countries showed that internal migrants fare slightly better than nonmigrants.^[21] However, it is also important to note, improvement in living standards mainly depends on the working conditions of the migrant in destination location and duration of migration. Living and working conditions continue to suffer, and these have not been captured adequately. At the source, standard of living is still poor for migrant families as it is observed that remittance is largely used for personal consumption, thus, migration might only help with basic sustenance instead of helping a family move out of poverty.

Asia has the highest urban population across all continents, consisting of 54% of all individuals living in urban areas. Asian countries such as Bangladesh, Thailand and Indonesia have reported a significant increase in their share of the urban population in the last 15 years as a result of high rates of rural to urban migration driven by urbanisation, the associated boom in the manufacturing sector, and the relaxation of movement restrictions. ^[22] In this context, with the continuously growing rates of internal migration across Asia, it becomes imperative to understand the phenomena of internal migration at a regional level.

The first chapter delves into the main determinants of migration. The second and third chapters focus on understanding the role of climate change and COVID-19 on migration. Finally, the last two chapters provide a cross-country analysis of the labour laws framework and social protection landscape.

STUDY DESIGN

Rationale of the study

Currently, there is a lack of recent studies that comprehensively examine and analyse internal migration to highlight key successes and failures in tackling internal migration at a regional level, particularly in Asia. Hence, this study was designed with a key aim for knowledge-generation around internal migration and social protection, and it must be viewed as a first step to set the foundation to an extensive task - ensuring safe migration of internal migrants.

Aim

To carry out a landscaping exercise to map trends of internal migration, generate a comprehensive understanding of policies governing internal migrants' social protection coverage, focus on the impact of climate and COVID-19 along with an effort to map positive initiatives in countries across Asia.

An important sub-objective is to actively engage relevant stakeholders from government, industry and non-profits working with internal migrant populations through a platform at a regional level.

Objectives

Based on our rationale and aims behind the study, five key objectives were formulated to be explored in the study through primary and secondary research.

- To understand country-specific trends and patterns of internal migration.
- To examine the impact of climate events on migration and its future implications.
- To explore the impact of COVID-19 on internal migration and migrant livelihoods.
- To identify and analyse country-specific labour laws and policy measures governing migration, and social protection coverage of internal migrants.
- To identify positive trends and initiatives by countries towards their internal migrant population and replicate them at a regional level.

Methodology

- Secondary Research: An in-depth desk research of existing reports on internal migration trends and patterns and social protection coverage of internal migrants, published by international and national human rights agencies, academic journals, non-governmental organisations and community-based organisations was undertaken.
- Primary Research: Qualitative research was undertaken to gain country-specific insights on the status of migration and identify unique challenges and success models. Thematic analysis was carried out to analyse qualitative data using Dedoose, a web-based application.

Sample Size:

a) 300 migrant workers: 50 migrant workers were interviewed in each country through In-Depth Interviews (IDIs) and Focus Group Discussions (FGDs)

• One detailed interview on climate migration and forced labour was conducted in India.

b) 36 stakeholders: 6 IDIs were conducted with key stakeholders in each country with NGO leaders, civil society activists, labour department officials, academic experts working directly with internal migrant workers (from each country) to gain regional level insight.

Country Selection:

The study focused on three countries each from the South and South-East regions of Asia respectively:



Detailed methodology such as the criteria based on which the countries were selected, district selection, sample demographics, please refer to **Appendix 1**.

*Names of all respondents have been changed to ensure their anonymity.





Key Drivers and Impact of Internal Migration

Internal migration is an important coping and livelihood strategy adopted by vulnerable populations in distress across countries. This chapter will attempt to understand the migration process itself, i.e. the numerous push and pull factors that determine why and where a migrant moves and how this move impacts a migrant household.

1. What are the push factors of distress migration?

The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) defines distress migration as *"All migratory movements made in conditions where the individual and/or the household perceive that the only viable livelihood option for moving out of poverty is to migrate."* Some of the key causes for distress-driven migration include food insecurity, rural poverty, limited income opportunities and environmental degradation. ^[23]

Over 75% of the global population is food insecure and lives in rural areas. A considerable percentage of this population includes small landholding farmers and agricultural labourers who depend on farming and agricultural production for their subsistence. However, agriculture is failing to provide adequately practicing farming for small landholders offers little to no profit leading to economic distress because of low agricultural productivity and constant crop failures. The culprit is often a combination of factors such as the inability to invest in expensive agricultural inputs (such as seeds and technology), size of the landholdings, adverse environmental impacts, and lack of favourable state support and policies. [24] Further, rural communities in Asian countries experience seasonal variation in poverty, owing to lean seasons. [25] The unavailability of alternate livelihood opportunities at source has led to livelihood diversification through internal migration as a coping mechanism. [26]

"Agriculture is a common livelihood in my village. It is the primary way of earning and my family has a small plot. There is usually no profit or loss in farming. However, for the past 2-3 years, we have only been bearing losses on our farm. Sometimes the produce is not even enough for our consumption and we have to buy food grains for ourselves. Due to this, our financial condition in the village has been bad. **There was no way we could only depend on agriculture.** I couldn't find any other jobs in my village. After consultation with my family members, I decided to migrate."

Jayshna, waitress in hospitality, Nepal

It must be noted, not everyone from rural areas migrate in the event of agricultural failure. In the case of large landholding farmers, migration is less likely compared to small or marginal farmers. This was reiterated by primary respondents from India who mentioned how large landholding farmers rarely migrated for work outside rural areas and for those who did, it was not distressdriven.

Two critical factors that are the leading causes of forced migration and will be key drivers of internal migration in years to come are climate change and financial duress because of the pandemic. Considering its growing importance, these factors will be separately discussed in detail in Chapter 2 and 3.

2. What are the pull factors of distress migration?

What influences the decision to migrate to specific destination locations?

The following factors are at the core of their decision-making process – distance, social networks that provide information about the destination and lucrative job opportunities, and wage differentials. For each country and migrant, these factors may differ in its importance.

Distance between source and destination can be considered an important reason for destination preference. As evidenced in Table 1.1, the cost of travel to destinations is an essential factor within it. ^[27] A survey conducted with migrants in Bangladesh found that 26% migrants chose to move to Rajshahi city because it was closer to their source location, making it easier for them to move and it drastically decreased travel costs. ^[28]

Social networks play a significant role in determining the choice of destination for internal migrants. They provide support, information about destination locations and availability of jobs ^[29] to new migrants. They also act as an insurance or safety net for migrants during their first move. The likelihood of finding employment within the first month of search increased by 8% for those who had existing networks.^[30] According to a micro-study in Cambodia, 74% migrant workers had helped others (relatives, friends, fellow villagers) to find employment in their workplace, and were also willing to share

their accommodation with them. It is also noticed that when a family member or close friend migrates for work, they are often followed by other individuals from their villages.

"Around 7 years ago, my uncle who had migrated to Batam city was paying a visit to my hometown. He encouraged me to come along with him to the city. So I migrated with him."

- Ramelan, labourer in construction sector, Indonesia

"I went to Batam because job opportunities in my hometown were very few. Also, my hometown's minimum wage in Wonosobo was very less... only about IDR 1.1-1.2 million, while the prices of things were like other parts of Indonesia with higher minimum wages. I already had a family of my own back then, so it wasn't enough. That's why I moved here, as the wages were higher."

- Adhiaraja, labourer in construction sector, Indonesia

Higher wages or wage differentials at certain destinations is another critical factor that encourages migrants to move to certain destinations.^[31] For example, the monthly household income in the North and Northeast was less than half of the wages in the Greater Bangkok area.^[32] In two other countries in our sample, i.e. India and Indonesia, similar differences in minimum wages were present.

These are some of the key reasons for moving to specific destinations, however, it must be noted that migration experience could vary based on each individual's need, such as better infrastructure. For instance, Vishal from Nepal has an ailing mother who needs constant medical attention. He moved to Kathmandu with her because it had better healthcare facilities than his village. He has also found a job in the city.

What influences duration of migration?		
Short duration	Long duration	
Land owners (small and marginal) ^[33] ^[34] ^[35] Evidence from India, Bangladesh and Indonesia suggests land is usually an intergenerational asset and an essential fallback for internal migrants, therefore making seasonal migration from rural areas more likely in cases where there is land possession. ^[36]	No land ^[37] Migrants without land return to source locations to maintain ties with their origin, but because they don't have assets at the source holding them back, their propensity to migrate with family members is much higher. ^[38] Therefore, migration of landless families generally results in longer duration.	
Proximity to destination locations and low cost of travel: For example, migration from Bundelkhand region to Delhi is prominent, in 2016 alone over 1.8 million migrated to Delhi. ^[39]	Far away destination locations and high cost of travel: In Indonesia, long duration migration is prominent because of the archipelagic landscape of the country where travelling by air to reach hometowns is one the most prominent and fastest modes of transport, but also extremely expensive. ^[40]	
Table 1.1: Factors influencing duration of migration		

Table 1.1: Factors influencing duration of migration



Illustration1: Internal migration of workers is driven by push and pull factors. The push factors include economic distress caused by agricultural failure, climate change or external shocks such as COVID-19 in source areas, while pull factors at destination locations include higher wages, better facilities, distance from source areas and the presence of social networks.

3. What are the predominant sectors of work for migrants?

Country	% of migrants in Construction	% of migrants in Manufacturing	% of migrants in Service Sector
Bangladesh	Not available	Not available	Not available
Cambodia	21% ^[41]	23% ^[42]	37.56% ^[43]
India	36.2% ^[44]	15.9% ^[45]	Not available
Indonesia	Not available ^[vi]	25.3% ^[46]	Not available ^[vii]
Nepal	12.6%[47]	9.9%	42.7% ^[viii]
Thailand	11.4% ^[48]	19.8%	45.66% ^[49]

Table 1.2: Predominant sectors of work for migrants in selected countries

4. Impact of internal migration

Internal migration has significant effects on left behind family members, and these can be both positive and negative. Migration provides those at source with remittances that may help improve their conditions, however, the departure of the migrant could also add to their existing responsibilities and increase their burden. Impact or effect of migration on workers and their families are discussed across other chapters, specifically about their working and living condition at the destination, violence experienced, etc.

In this section, we explore two specific effects of migration - conditions of left behind family members at source locations and the role of remittance in migrant households.

4.1. Condition of left behind families:

4.1.1.Labour shortage is an issue at source locations:

Evidence from five countries observed that due to migration, a labour shortage is created in the agricultural sector in rural areas leading to decreased productivity in land.^[50] ^[51] ^[52] ^[53] For example in Cambodia, the CRUMP survey (2012) found a yearly loss of 4% of population due to migration which led to a reduced workforce in the agricultural sector and thereby, a decrease in agricultural production in the country.^[54]

In slightly more developed countries such as Thailand, challenges of labour gap are addressed

 $\ensuremath{\scriptstyle[\text{viiii]}}$ Includes retail and hospitality sector.

^[vi] Data on migrants in construction sector in Indonesia was available only in whole figures.

[[]vii] Data on migrants in service sector in Indonesia was available only in whole figures.

^[ix] The Parma system in Nepal is a reciprocal exchange of labour. Households come together to conduct similar work such as sowing or harvesting on each household farm during agricultural season. There is no payment involved, but every contributing household is intended to receive the same service in return.

by increased employment of international migrants from neighbouring countries.^[55] In some regions of Nepal, agricultural traditions of labour exchange system such as 'parma' ^[ix] are used by rural communities to supplement the labour loss. ^[56]

"I work in Kathmandu, while my father is working in Malaysia so there is no male family member at home. My mother stays in the village, she works alone on our agricultural field and relies on it for her income. I try to help her on the field whenever I go home. We are engaged in the labour exchange (parma) in the village, neighbours work on our land and we work on theirs without payment."

- Sang, waiter in hospitality sector, Nepal

In other countries, when migrants move, their departure is seen as the loss of unpaid labour by migrant households. ^[57] Multiple mechanisms exist that help migrant households cope in such circumstances - in cases where agricultural work is subsistence-based, this gap is usually filled by left behind family members such as women, other family members and children. ^[58]

In the case of women, the feminization of agriculture has become prominent across countries wherein women have taken on the burden of performing strenuous tasks in the field for meagre or no pay. It is important to note that this added responsibility has not empowered them as their role is mostly limited to undertaking physically demanding low-paid tasks. [59] In India,^[60] Nepal^[61] and Bangladesh,^[62] it was observed at the household level that left behind women might find themselves in positions of decision making. However, stronghold of patriarchal traditions often limits the scope of this increased autonomy. In Cambodia^[63] Indonesia^[64] and Thailand,^[65] on the other hand, internal migration has led to an increase in female-headed households.

4.1.2. Children are severely affected:

Impact on left behind children is also significant. Evidence from India,^[66] Indonesia ^[67] and Cambodia ^[68] suggests that parental migration led to added domestic responsibilities for children. In cases of India and Cambodia, a majority of these children were girls. While in Indonesia, it was observed, adolescent boys were likely to work more hours as compared to younger children. Adverse impact on the psychological well-being of children as a result of migration of their parents was observed in all sample countries. ^[69] ^[70] ^[71] ^[72] ^[73] ^[74]

Highlight 1.1: Positive impact of migration:

Impact of migration on rural areas isn't always adverse - evidence from India and Thailand suggests migrants bring back knowledge, skills and innovation from cities which can lead to the social development of source areas. In India, this included increased awareness amongst migrants regarding better working conditions, increased bargaining power in relation to wages and feudal relationships.[75] In Thailand, education and acquisition of knowledge at the destination location have helped in improvement of land techniques and agriculture. [76]

"I learnt new business skills by selling products in the city. As a result of this, I have been able to invest and grow additional crops on my land, sell them and increase my profit margins. I now have my own agriculture land and have also mortgaged land from others."

- Rahman, construction worker, Bangladesh

4.2 Remittances and migrant households:

Even though research has shown that remittances from internal migration have more impact on poverty reduction than international migration, there is a lack of global-level data on the subject.^[77] Since internal migration in rural areas is distress-driven, remittances are important for supporting the livelihoods of left behind families. Internal migration remittances made up 17.28%, 50% and 38% of household income in Bangladesh,[78] Indonesia, [79] and Thailand, ^[80] respectively. In Nepal, ^[81] about 31% of income in migrant households comes from remittances both international and domestic, while in India, domestic remittances were up to US\$7.485 billion of which 80% went to rural households.^[82] Comparable data is unavailable for Cambodia, however, it is estimated that on an average, internal migrants sent between 10 USD to 20 USD per month to support their parents/ left behind family, [83] which is similar to Indian remittance patterns (approx. 150 USD annually). [84]

4.2.1.What are remittances used for?

Remittances are a major source of income for migrant households as their survival depends on it.

In rural households, it is largely used for personal consumption. ^[85] ^[86] ^[87] ^[88] This information was unavailable for Indonesia, however it was observed that personal consumption of the household is considered the primary responsibility of the migrant and in the long term, if the consumption of family increases, it often leads to workers migrating for a longer period of time to earn more wages. ^[89]

Debt payment is another crucial expense for which migrant households rely on remittances. In India^[90] and Bangladesh,^[91] it was observed that about 10% of rural households used remittances to pay off debts. In Cambodia^[92] and Nepal^[93] as well, a relationship between debt payment and migration was observed. This information was not available for Indonesia and Thailand.



Figure: 1.1: Hierarchy of need for remittance

"Before I had migrated, we took a loan to build our house in the village. It became difficult to pay back the loan as we could not save much out of the income from agriculture. Now, after moving to Kathmandu, I send most of my salary to my parents to pay off the loan ."

- Soumy, waiter in hospitality sector, Nepal

Owing to the aforementioned reasons of debt repayment (on both advances received before migrating and existing debt within the household) and household consumption, quite expectedly, the savings rate is low for migrant households. In India, only 6.4% of migrant households saved remittances^[94] with similar observations in Nepal^[95] and Thailand.^[96] In India and Nepal, remittances are generally low as a result of little income security because of advance systems and forced labour situations. However, another possibility is that the remitted money was saved by the family members, and therefore not captured in these studies. It is observed, migrant households have a higher consumption and savings pattern than non-migrant households of the same economic status.^[97] The savings and accumulation of a migrant or his family primarily depend upon the nature of work.^[98] For example, in Nepal, migrants working as agriculture labourers in Terai region earn more than the labourers in hilly regions while labourers in urban areas earn more than those in rural areas. ^[99]

"We are unable to save money because the majority of our income is spent on our family's basic consumption, including our children's education."

> - Subhadra Devi, brick kiln worker, India

In terms of investment, there is limited evidence that migrants invest in any assets, however, a few micro studies indicate that a small percentage of rural migrants use their remittance for the purpose of agriculture.^[100] Patterns of remittance investment from Bangladesh indicate that migrant earnings provide a source of funds to invest in farming-based livelihoods.^[101]

"We didn't save any money and instead leased farmland. Leasing land is considered an investment in our area."

> - Madiha Begum, domestic worker, Bangladesh

4.2.2.How are migrants remitting money?

With the growth of technology, digital payments have become popularised globally. However, the impact of online money transfers is uneven, as usage depends on their gender, education and income level. There is very little research on how this digital divide has impacted migrant workers and their mode of remittance.^[105] In Thailand, it was observed that male construction workers were more likely to own smartphones than women while domestic workers were less likely to use smartphones because their employers thought that it will be a bad influence on them. [106]

In contrast, migrant workers we interviewed in India, Indonesia and Nepal, preferred sending money through offline banking services or individuals such as contractors. In Nepal, even though usage of the digital methods was present, they preferred sending large amount of money only through individuals.

It is also observed that the decision to send money through banks or a person is dependent upon the amount that had to be transferred, i.e., small amounts were sent through a person and larger amounts were sent through banks. A study (2017) found that this was because sending cash in-person offered greater control and trust. ^[107]

"We send our money through our Sardar who often goes to the villages. He always gives the complete amount to our families. We don't deposit money in the bank because the bank is very far away from our village. We don't have smartphones and we are not aware of mobile app services."

- Anuj Vada, brick kiln worker, India

Highlights 1.2. : Examples of government push for digital payments

In Cambodia and Bangladesh, payment apps are quite popular among migrant workers who wanted to remit money to their villages. ^[102] ^[103]

The Bank of Bangladesh offered incentives to people for sending money through digital means by providing 2% cash incentives on transactions.^[104] Migrant workers we interviewed mentioned that these apps were "common among migrant workers" "convenient" and a "faster way to send money to their family".

"I transfer money through the Wing money app once or twice a month to my mother and children at home. I never send money through other people because I am concerned about cheating or losing my money."

- Sam Art, labourer in construction sector, Cambodia

Notable Positive Trends: Key Drivers and Impact of Internal Migration

- (1) **Government of Thailand** formulated policies that focused on decentralised growth: instead of formulating policies that encourage or discourage migration, the government of Thailand formulated development policies that were regionally balanced such as policies catering to rural development and reducing the growth rate of urban slums. This has helped Thailand reduce internal migration over the years.
- (2) Government of Bangladesh has initiated monetary incentives to use the digital payment app Bkash: One of the safest ways to promote the safe transfer of remittances is through digital payments, government of Bangladesh's initiative to provide monetary incentives to those who use digital payment apps has resulted in Bkash app being a popular mode of payment among internal migrants.

IMPACT OF MIGRATION BANGLADESH

Mohsin* - migrant working in food industry in Bangladesh

"My father and I used to work on other's land as labourers, we did not own any farming land. As my father grew older, it became difficult for him to carry out physically exhausting tasks in the field, making me the sole earner of my six-member household consisting of my parents, wife and two young children. The wages I earned from the field were only 30 Takas (3.43\$), and was insufficient for the survival of my family. **Over the years, even work available in the fields has become less frequent, especially since the majority of the land eroded because of the Padma river in my village. As a result, I started migrating about a decade ago.** I work in the village for three to four months and then migrate to work at different potato cold storages in Paba sub-district, Rajshahi, Bogura, and Tangail districts.

I didn't always work in cold storages, my first migration was with the help of a local contractor who took me to Dhaka and gave me a job as a construction worker. He promised to pay me a large sum of money. However, after the work was done, he cheated me. I returned to my village after 3 months and swore never to work in Dhaka city again. Since I hadn't gotten paid for 3 months, the financial condition in my house became worse. A few villagers told me about the job opportunities available in a potato cold storage. From then on I started migrating there as a factory worker with a group of ten to twelve other villagers.

I earn Taka 8000 (91.39\$) per month working in the factory. I wish to purchase land in the village but it is impossible to do so with my city earnings, I do not have any savings as my income is completely consumed by household expenses. I don't know if migration has been positive or negative for me but if I get money, I will work. It is my responsibility to provide enough food for my household and I will continue migrating."

*This story is anonymous and Mohsin is a pseudonym.

IMPACT OF MIGRATION NEPAL

Raj*- a migrant working as a waiter in Nepal

"My family had taken a loan from the cooperative to build a house in the village but we were unable to pay off the loan, we could not save from the money we earned through agriculture. I decided to migrate to the city to earn a better income. I started working as a waiter at a restaurant in Kathmandu, the income that I earn here is helping me pay off the debt. Migration has helped me in other ways as well. I support my parents financially and pay for my brothers' education. Personally, my health has gotten better, as in the village, we did not have access to hospitals and medicine but here I can buy medicines nearby whenever I feel unwell. Since coming to the city, I have also learnt how to speak to other people and deal with problems and difficulties on my own.

However, my migration has also made a few things difficult back home. As there is less manpower for agricultural work, my younger siblings have to take on my tasks. Sometimes my parents take the help of local villagers through labour exchange or on wages which is an extra cost they have to bear. Also, I am the only educated person in the family so I used to take care of all financial matters and now, my family often finds it difficult to take care of finances on their own. They try to reach out to me sometimes but I am not always available because of my work. If there is an emergency, they have to take the help of villagers but they contact me most of the time as they cannot rely on villagers and our relatives also live far away. Sometimes I also feel very lonely in the city, especially during festivals but I cannot even call them every day because my phone does not always have sufficient balance."

*This story is anonymous and Raj is a pseudonym.







Impact of Covid-19 on Internal Migration

Poverty rates had drastically reduced after decades of anti-poverty measures and efforts, however, we witnessed a reversal in these trends in the last two years of the pandemic with millions of people being pushed back into extreme poverty. In the Southeast Asian region, 4.7 million were pushed into extreme poverty conditions.

Internal migrants, usually the most vulnerable, working predominantly in the informal sector were one of the worst affected. They suffered numerous disruptions, including job loss and wage cuts because of domestic travel bans and shut down of industries during the lockdown. They continue to face several challenges such as increasing debt, hunger and a dire situation in the labour market with lack of job opportunities even as various sectors have restarted functioning. In this chapter, we explore the short-term impacts during Covid-19 lockdowns and how these could affect migration and employment patterns in the future.

1. A potential increase in the number of internal migrants

Since 2021, economic activity has resumed, thereby leading distress-stricken internal migrants back to the cities. ^[108]

Our analysis indicates that estimates for internal migrants have potentially increased as it currently includes two additional categories – international migrants who returned because of the pandemic and individuals who never migrated in the past but are forced to migrate because of lack of viable livelihood means at source regions and mounting personal debts.

There is very little secondary research on the economic activities undertaken by international migrants when they return to their origin country. Evidence from the 2008 Asian financial crisis provides us a glimpse into their journey wherein international migrants, who were forced to return, had to take up odd jobs within the country. ^[109] However, it must be noted, they eventually migrated back internationally post economic stabilisation and recovery.

"Due to COVID-19, the border between Thailand and Cambodia is closed. We decided to migrate to Phnom Penh for a job instead because we do not want to enter Thailand illegally."

- Mony, labourer in construction sector, Cambodia

The second category is first-time migrants who chose to migrate because of the increasing financial distress caused by the pandemic. Distress was found to be a key driver of migration in instances where there are no alternate livelihood options.

"My family was severely affected by the pandemic lockdown, and we couldn't make a living in our village. Therefore, they encouraged me to go to Batam city to work and earn an additional income."

- Imran, factory worker in garment sector, Indonesia

2. Impact of pandemic on employment:

2.1. Increasing unemployment rates that are projected to increase even further:

Unemployment rates are projected to decrease in 2022 for all countries, however it would still not be anywhere close to the pre-pandemic period. In the Table 3.3, a visible increase in unemployment rates was observed across countries except in Cambodia, it was the only exception which saw a significant improvement in its unemployment rates during 2020. This could be due to two reasons, firstly, as mentioned earlier, the first full lockdown in the country did not take place until 2021. Secondly, experts believe this increase in employment was because of the generation of extremely poor-quality and informal jobs such as street vending. However, post the first lockdown in 2021, projections suggest unemployment rates could be much higher in the country. [110]

(Refer to the Figure 2.1: Unemployment rates in selected countries since 2019-2022)



Unemployment rates have continued to persist due to slow recovery of certain sectors. For example, the tourism and hospitality sector is a major contributor to the economies of many Southeast Asian countries such as Thailand and Cambodia. Even as restrictions lift and the sector becomes more active, full recovery could take more time. ^[111] In Thailand, experts suggest that the sector would only return to 2019 levels by 2024, thus impacting future employment prospects. ^[112]

2.2. What were the key factors that led to job loss?

2.2.1. Job loss driven by a combination of lockdown measures and distress stricken industries:

In Cambodia, India, Indonesia, and Nepal, lockdowns led to the shutting of public transport systems and shutdown of industries, and subsequently affecting employment rates. ^[113] India is one of the most well-known examples of how migrants returned to their native villages when faced with sudden lockdowns, job and wage loss in cities. ^[114]

Internal Migration in Asia Report 2022

"Everything was shut and the police were beating us with laathis (sticks) if we tried to go out. Later, we called a vehicle and 20 of us left together. Each person spent around 15,000 INR (196 USD) for the transport, and it took us three days to reach..."

- Iqbal, labourer in construction sector, India

Job losses also occurred as a result of a sector's inability to function due to the direct economic impact of restrictions. Such instances were seen in Cambodia and Thailand. [115] In Cambodia, even prior to their first lockdown in 2021, industries were affected by global impacts of the pandemic in 2020. As a result of order cancellations by global retailers or requests for heavy discounts by suppliers, the garment sector suffered losses which led to layoffs. Over 600 garment factories in the nation's capital were shut down due to economic reasons. [116] In Thailand, lockdown measures disproportionately impacted workers in the tourism and hospitality sectors. Owing to international travel restrictions, they returned to their hometown and relied on agriculture as they could not afford to live in cities.[117] In Bangladesh, internal migrants who were in the worst-hit sectors, such as garment, did end up going home due to job loss.

"In 2020, the ban on international flights affected us as around 80% of our customers were foreigners. Due to decrease in demand, we were unable to operate the hotel at full capacity, as it is a waste of both time and money. As a result, we closed down and laid off our employees. We have told our employees they should find other job opportunities as we aren't sure if we'll be able to start the hotel again."

- Business partner, hospitality sector, Thailand



"Due to fewer job opportunities in my village, I decided to migrate with my sister to Phuket province. After four months, I received employment at a small restaurant. My family largely depends on my income as my husband's work is uncertain. During the pandemic, as international flights were shut and the restaurant wasn't earning as much, the employers decided to lay off the staff. I lost my job and income; I did not know what to do next. At the time, I was pregnant and since I was the one who was laid off, my husband and I moved back to my village. Currently in the village, I am trying to raise my child without any income. I am just waiting for the situation to become better and I hope I can get back to my previous job again. I am ready to go back to work if they re-start their business."

- Suhalee, kitchen staff in hospitality sector, Thailand

2.2.2. Fear of contracting the virus led to job loss:

In some sectors such as domestic work, a major reason for job loss was the fear of contact with an outsider during the pandemic. Domestic work is extremely informal in nature and without any laws regulating domestic workers' employment, they are faced with constant job insecurity. The onset of the pandemic made their existing conditions more difficult, for example, in Bangladesh, fear of community transmission and economic impact of lockdowns led many employers to let go of domestic workers without any notice or compensation. ^[118]

"I have been working as a domestic worker for more than a decade, I specialize in cooking. Prior to the pandemic, I used to work in as many as 13 homes. I start work at 5am and continue until 5pm, receiving salary monthly. The payment received by each household varies, some pay me IDR 600,000 (41 USD) and others, IDR 1 million (69 USD). Employers determine the salary as I don't have any rate card like other domestic workers. My employers trust me to the point of giving me access to their homes even when they're not at home. Since the pandemic, I've lost most of my jobs. I feel this could be because my employers are concerned about their health, so they restrict access to their homes. Moreover, they know that some of my employers are doctors, so they've become particularly careful. I guess they just want to protect their families. Now I work at 4 houses, down from 13."

> - Sarah, domestic worker in domestic work sector, Indonesia

2.2.3 Reduction in female labour force:

A worrying trend that also explains higher unemployment rates is the declining labour force participation of women. It is estimated globally that women are most impacted by job loss and unemployment. Comparisons between 2019 and 2020 find female employment to be lower by 13 million. Since 2019, it is said that over 73 million additional women have left jobs and aren't looking for employment opportunities. This could be due to fewer available opportunities or increased unpaid work in households. [119] In India, it was found that women were eleven times more unlikely to return to work post job loss. [120] During interviews in India, a few women working in the construction sector mentioned they were receiving lesser job opportunities than prior to the pandemic.

2.2.4 Loss of wages and cut in working hours:

In 2020, global labour income saw an 8.3% decline (3.7 trillion USD in monetary terms). ^[121] A 22.6% drop in wages was witnessed for informal sector workers in India.^[122] In Bangladesh and Cambodia, both textile-dependent countries, wage cuts were prominent in the female-dominated garment sector during and after lockdowns.^[123]

Asia witnessed a fall of 4.6% in the number of working hours was noted in 2021 in comparison to the 2019 average. ^[124] A decrease in hours directly impacted wages especially for those who worked overtime or additional hours to earn more wages. Our interviews in Thailand and Cambodia found automobile sector workers wages were significantly impacted due to cut in working hours and overtime, they suffered reduction of 20-30% at an average. However, in some sectors, a drop in wages regardless of working hours was witnessed. Though, it must be noted that this impact has been much more on women and low-income workers.^[125] In India and Nepal^[126], wage cut was common among informal sector workers.

2.2.5 Shifts in major sectors of migrants' employment:

Another subsequent impact of lockdowns on employment is the shift in sector specific jobs for migrants. This impact can only be properly understood in the next few years through careful documentation. As some sectors recover slower than others, job unavailability and decline in wages could lead to workers switching sectors. In India ^[127] and Thailand, labour shortages across multiple sectors is already being witnessed. For example, experts believe the slow recovery of tourism and hospitality sector in Thailand could lead to many shifting to different sectors altogether. ^[128] "An issue post the pandemic is that workers such as flight attendants, tour guides, and tourist bus drivers cannot wait for the situation to improve and have changed their sectors. They have left tourism and hospitality sector to work in other jobs."

> - Dr.Roongroch Seeluangsawat, committee member of Tourism Council of Thailand

2.2.6. A few sectors flourished during lockdowns:

In Bangladesh, a temporary increase was witnessed in daily wages due to high demand in the food-based sector. ^[129] Our research found those working in the potato cold storage and rice puff industries didn't miss a single workday during lockdowns. These commodities were in high demand leading to increased wages for labourers. In the construction sector in India, while a scarcity of labourers was observed after the first lockdown, a spike in wages was witnessed subsequently (in efforts to attract workers back to cities in order to make progress on much delayed projects). ^[130]

The threat of COVID-19 and subsequent waves still loom over countries, even as global economies have started functioning at capacity and are aiming to recover to 2019 levels. In the subsequent years, we may see more visible trends on migration and jobs.


Illustration 2: The impact of Covid-19 has led to the potential increase of internal migrants in two categories. The first, previous international migrants now moving internally and second, those who were never migrants but are now forced to as a result of financial distress caused by covid-19.

Notable Positive Trends: Impact of COVID-19 on internal migration

How did governments across countries address the needs for those in distress?

- Governments expanded on their existing schemes to reach more beneficiaries
 - (1) The Indian government expanded its employment (MGNREGA) scheme to generate employment in rural areas where demand for work had increased as a result of return migration of workers.^[131] As the migrant crisis worsened, the government also expedited the process of making ration scheme portable (ONORC).^[132]
 - (2) During the lockdown period, the Indonesian government, as a part of its relief measures, instated its existing food scheme, Kartu Sembako and coverage targets were increased to reach a wider audience, from 15.2 to 20 million. The coverage of the existing cash allowance scheme was also expanded from 9.2 to 10 million, with benefit values increased.^[133]
 - (3) In Bangladesh, the cash allowance scheme was expanded during this time.^[134]
 - (4) Thailand has a robust cash assistance scheme system in place, and during the pandemic, when many lost their jobs, these schemes provided them immediate relief.^[135]
- Countries where ration distribution wasn't the norm, ration was distributed to meet the ongoing demand.
- Even though Nepal ^[136] and Cambodia ^[137] do not have an active ration scheme in place, during the pandemic they initiated a ration scheme for immediate relief.
 - (1) The Indian government keeping in mind the migrant crises, also started special trains for migrant workers to go back home. ^[138] While in Nepal, the government waived off charges of public utilities and transportation costs for the vulnerable and low income households.^[139]
 - (2) The governments of Indonesia ^[140] and Thailand ^[141] rolled out wage subsidy programmes to help low income workers during COVID.



IMPACT OF MIGRATION *CAMBODIA*

Chhaiya* - a migrant working as a waitress in Cambodia

"I used to work in Thailand with my family, however when the pandemic started, we were forced to return to our village in Thmorkol district. After my return, I initially worked with my parents on our small rice field.

Before the pandemic, I ran away from home to Phnom Penh, as my mother wasn't allowing me to go work in the city alone. I took a bus without any money for my travel, and in exchange I had to give the bus driver my ring. Once I arrived in the city, I stayed with a few people who lived on the street and sold recycled garbage to save my life. After months of searching, I finally found a job as a dishwasher in a restaurant.

After a few months, the country was struck by the first major wave of COVID-19. In the initial days when the infection rates were rising, the restaurant owner arranged a meeting and told us to clean rooms, tables, chairs, and spaces around the restaurant regularly to cut down on the spread of the infection. My wages saw a drastic decrease, earlier I used to receive 150\$ per month, but during this time, the owner only gave me 15\$ even though I continued to work the same hours as before. He stopped giving us any tips or bonus as well. A few weeks later, he finally decided to close the restaurant. As a result, I returned to my village again without any money. I did not receive any support from the government during the pandemic as my family didn't have an IDpoor card.

I am concerned about my parents livelihood as money from our rice field isn't enough to support them. Now that I have been fully vaccinated, I will go work at the restaurant again. Even the owner has asked me to come back, however, this time I will ensure my mother gives me permission."



*This story is anonymous and Chhaiya is a pseudonym.

SORRY WE ARE CLOSSED PLEASE COME BACK AGAIN

12

Climate Change and Migration

Human migration as a result of climate change is considered the single greatest impact that could fall upon populations globally. Discussions around displacement or movement of people because of climate change have occurred since the 1990s.^[142] **Recent predictions claim the situation of climate has gotten dire, which could lead to 40 million climate migrants in South Asia alone by 2050, almost 2% of the entire regional population.**^[143]The onus of protecting climate migrants fall mainly on domestic governments because often such movements are internal.





Current situational assessments find that all parts of Asia, ranging from the mountainous peaks of the Himalayas to the low-lying coastal areas of Indonesia, are affected by environmental impacts. For example, in 2020, low rainfall, floods, and cyclones in East and South Asia led to the displacement and loss of life in many countries in the region, such as Cambodia, India and Bangladesh, Furthermore, such impacts affected agricultural activities and food security, which created distress for populations. ^[144] The Global Risk Index (2021), assessing the most impacted countries by extreme weather conditions, placed India (Rank 7) among the top 10, followed by Nepal (Rank 12), Bangladesh (Rank 13), Indonesia (Rank 14), Thailand (34) and Cambodia (84). [145]



Figure 3.1: Global Risk Index (2021)

Extreme climate impacts is the dismal reality of the present and future, and as the intensity increases, climate-induced migration is bound to increase.^[146] This chapter focuses on the different types of climate impacts, environmental drivers in rural areas that force people to migrate, and its implications at destination locations.

1. Who are climate migrants?

IOM defines climate migrants as "Persons or groups of persons who, for compelling reasons of climate-induced changes in the environment that adversely affect their lives or living conditions, are obliged to move from their habitual homes, or choose to do so, within their country of residence or abroad."^[147]

2. Understanding types of climate migration [X]

Climate-induced migration is the consequence of either sudden or slow-onset climate changes that disrupt livelihoods. ^[148]

The first category, sudden climate events, cause widespread devastation and displace populations without warning. They include extreme events such as floods, earthquakes, cyclones, etc.^[149] For example, Cyclone Amphan (2020) caused wide-scale devastation, which led to the displacement of over 2.4 million people in India alone. ^[150] Similarly, in Nepal, torrential rains in 2017 impacted over 35 districts and losses across sectors, including agriculture with millions being displaced. ^[151]

As we see in Table 2.1, India, Bangladesh, and Indonesia were among the top 10 countries where most internal displacements occurred because of natural disasters in 2019. India had the highest number of displacements among all nations, as it was hit by eight tropical storms and two droughts ^[xi] in the year. Cyclone Phani was the most powerful storm in 5 years that hit three states of India ^[xii] before it moved to Bangladesh. In Bangladesh, monsoon floods led to the displacement of 307,000 people in less than three weeks in July. Indonesia witnessed a massive earthquake that hit the Maluku province, which led to the displacement of 231,000 people.^[152]

^[X] We would like to thank Prayank Jain - his report on migration and climate change in India, developed as part of a strategy exercise for Jan Sahas, helped inform us of critical insights to write this chapter.

[[]xi] Drought displacements were recorded in Andhra Pradesh and Maharashtra of India.

Min Odisha Andhra Prodoch and West Pongol

Country	No. of disasters	Estimate of people displaced ^[xii]
Bangladesh	14	4.1 million
Cambodia	NA	70,000
India	12	5 million
Indonesia	400	463,000
Nepal	NA	NA
Thailand	NA	61,000

Source: Global Report on Internal Displacement 2020 [153]

Table 3.1: Estimated people displaced due to sudden climate events in sample countries

The second type of climate migration is slowonset climate change. This form of climate change leads to depleting water levels and erratic annual rainfall, which affect communities that depend on stable climatic conditions for their livelihood, such as agriculture. ^[154] Evidence from the Anantapur district of India, which has seen no rainfall in the past few years, found that over 42% of borewells had dried up, and crop loss in the region was estimated at 45 to 52 million USD, due to which approximately 4.87 lakh farmers had migrated out of the area. ^[155] In Table 2.2, we see recent estimates of slowonset climate migration, India had the highest estimates.

It is also important to note that sudden and slow-onset climate changes cannot always be differentiated from each other. In some cases, they are interlinked. For instance, a slow rise in sea level might ultimately lead to storms in a location, making it uninhabitable. In some cases, repeated exposure to sudden-onset events along with slow-onset climate change can trigger the cyclical and temporary movement of migration into permanent migration.

A concrete example is the melting of the Himalayan glaciers due to rise in global temperature. According to experts, the glaciers have been melting twice as fast since the start of the previous decade due to climate change. In 2019, a flood was triggered in Uttarakhand, India, after a glacier from the Himalayas broke

Country	Estimated climate migrants ^[xiv]
Bangladesh	455,491
Cambodia	NA
India	14 million
Indonesia	NA
Nepal	345,018
Thailand	NA

Source: South Asia Climate Migration Report 2020 [156] [114]

Table 3.2: Estimated climate migrants as a result of slow onset climate change in sample countries

^[wii] even though estimates of the people displaced in year 2020 have been released by the same organization, in some cases the numbers are extremely low due to the difficulty in data collection during the pandemic. Hence, statistics from 2019 have been included to get a more representative picture.

[[]xiv] These are estimated figure because it is more difficult to count migration due to slow-onset changes.

3. Understanding key drivers of climate-induced migration patterns in rural areas

In the past decades, distress directly affected rural livelihoods making environmental impacts significant drivers of rural to urban migration.

SLOW ONSET OF CLIMATE CHANGE LEADS TO MIGRATION



Subsistence farming dependent upon rainfall in rural areas

Slow onset of climate change leading to soil erosion, erratic rainfall patterns, droughts

Repeated crop failure

Food insecurity, debt, issues with subsistence

Lack of employment or livelihood opportunities at source

Migration becomes the only way to survive

Figure 3.1: Key drivers of slow onset climate-induced migration

In rural areas, poor households with few resources such as land are more vulnerable to the shocks and negative impacts of climate change, leading to internal migration. ^[158] **Experts have argued that it is impossible to look at climate migration in isolation from migration caused by economic reasons.** In developing countries, agriculture is the primary source of employment

in rural areas and is heavily dependent on the environment. Therefore, in case of droughts or floods, workers/ small farm owners are not resilient enough to tackle agricultural failures. In these instances, migration may be the only coping mechanism particularly in the absence of alternative livelihood opportunities.^[159]

"Due to lack of transportation and electricity in our village, we cannot use modern technologies like tractors on our agricultural land... because of the unpredictability in weather changes, farming is usually not very profitable, which is why we have to migrate to earn a living."

- Shraey, driver in transport sector, Nepal

Based on evidence from Bangladesh's northern region, which is highly dependent on agriculture, it used to be prone to heavy floods, riverbank erosion and cold waves. *'Monga'* or *'abhab'* ^[xv] is a seasonal event in this region, a near-famine situation between the periods of cultivation and harvest. People affected by Monga form 10% of the population and occupy 11% of the land in Bangladesh.^[160] With climate change, the area is experiencing increasingly unpredictable weather conditions such as severe droughts and even more scanty rainfall, further exacerbating the existing problems of people living in poverty, and leading to increasing migration. ^[161]

"I come from the northern district of Bangladesh. I used to work as a day labourer in other people's lands before migration. During the Monga period, it is very difficult in our village to find jobs. Therefore, I decided to migrate to Dhaka during this period to work in the garment industry and earn an additional income."

- Jyoti, garment worker in RMG sector, Bangladesh

^[xv] The state of not having enough money even for basic needs.

Migration as a coping strategy is also adopted to mitigate the impacts of sudden events that frequently disrupt communities and their livelihoods. In India, it was found that Odisha has experienced around ten cyclones in the past two decades which caused widespread devastation of land, low agricultural productivity and temporary displacement of rural communities. ^[162] A study on coastal districts of Kendrapada and Korda in Odisha found a large percentage of individuals migrate seasonally to other parts of the country to combat economic and environmental impacts such as cyclones and floods. ^[163]

Unsafe migration or displacement pathways especially for women and girls increase with sudden climate events. For example, during Assam floods in India, which has become an annual occurrence, instances of forced child labour and marriage have increased multifold. Similar rise in trafficking after sudden climatic events have been witnessed in other countries of Asia as well.^[164]

As populations migrate to overcome distress caused by climate and economic impacts, migration corridors develop over the years. It is believed that the same migration corridors with the increasing stress of environmental impacts will be used by future migrants too. ^[165] For example, in the case of Bangladesh, it is predicted that climate impacts that directly affect agricultural output in the northeast region could lead to more people migrating to already prominent destinations - Dhaka andChittagong. $^{\rm [166]}$ In India $^{\rm [167]}$, Thailand $^{\rm [168]}$ and Cambodia existing migration corridors have been used by climate migrants as well. The area around Tonle Sap Lake in Cambodia has one of the highest outmigration rates in the country because a growth in population has led to lack of food, fertile and arable land and depletion of natural resources. People from this area mainly migrate to Phnom Penh to work in the construction sector, service sector and small scale businesses. Some also migrate to the Krong Pailin to work in mining and agriculture land.

4. Climate impacts at destination locations

Climate change impacts are not limited to source or rural areas but are experienced in destination areas as well. Predictions on climate impacts across popular destinations paint an extremely worrisome picture. For example, both Bangkok and Jakarta are expected to experience flooding because of rising sea levels which could result in mass out-migration. ^[169] Such future events could further disrupt migration patterns, making it essential to explore the consequences of environmental impacts at both source and destination.

Other than direct climate impacts discussed above, overpopulation is leading to further issues of water scarcity, high levels of pollution and waste disposal problems.^[170] In fact, urbanisation is leading to irreversible impacts on the environment that further affects the global climate.^[171] A strong linkage between internal migration and haphazard urbanisation exists, as it leads to stress on the natural resources of cities. ^[172] Uncontrolled urbanisation can be detrimental to the environment causing worsening water quality and air and noise pollution.

Indonesia's Jakarta is a well-known example of the environmental impacts of rapid urbanisation. It has been projected that it is the fastest sinking city globally and is estimated to sink by 2030 completely. To combat this, the Indonesian government has shifted the capital to Nusantara.^[173] The primary reason for this change in the capital is rapid urbanisation related environmental impacts and frequent flooding due to rising sea levels.^[174]

The living conditions of migrants at destination locations further display their precarity as they usually reside in areas which are already prone to climate related impacts. For example, during the 2018 Kerala floods in India, it was observed, areas where migrants lived were more prone to floods, landslides, etc. In many instances, this was accompanied with already unhygienic living conditions that could lead to epidemics such as waterborne diseases.^[175]

As many destination locations face similar threats of climate impacts, those who migrate due to distress caused by the environment are twice as vulnerable. Anecdotal evidence from India found many migrants originally belonging to Sundarbans in West Bengal migrated to Kerala after the devastation caused by Cyclone Aila (2009) to their livelihood. In 2018, when the Kerala floods occurred, they were faced with the same predicament and were forced to abruptly travel back to their homes without any likelihood of economic opportunities.^[176] Even though this was a sudden climate event, with climate change threatening to make many of these destinations completely inhabitable over time, this could severely impact migrants and their families.

"I have a small piece of land in my village in Assam. I decided to migrate because I was under debt and agriculture was no longer productive in my village due to erratic weather conditions. I worked in Kerala for a few months to pay the debt, and then the floods occurred. I lost my job, so I decided to come to Mumbai to work. When I migrate for work, I usually go to Kerala and Mumbai. When it is raining in Kerala, I find work in Mumbai and vice-versa."

- Sukwinder, labourer in construction sector, India

Notable Positive Trends: Impact of climate change on internal migration

How are countries addressing climate-induced migration?

Few countries have recognised climate change as a major driver of migration and have attempted to implement policies and interventions to deal with the distress.

- The Bangladesh Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan (BCCSAP) The Bangladesh policy also included a research agenda to monitor climate-induced migration for proper rehabilitation.
- The 10th Economic and Social Development Plan (2007-2011) of Thailand acknowledged climate-induced migration.

There are some ground-level interventions that various governments have adopted to deal with climate-induced migration. A few examples:

- (1) In India, under the Mahatma Gandhi National Rural Employment Guarantee Act (MGNREGA), extra working days (50 days) are provided, which is in addition to the standard 100 days, and are given to drought-prone areas to help with distress migration.^[177] Furthermore, the government is also working in the drought-prone region of Bundelkhand under the vision of 'Har khet ko paani, har hath mein kaam' meaning 'water for every farm and work for every hand' by launching irrigation projects under the MGNREGA scheme.^[178]
- (2) In Bangladesh, the government has launched various food security and employment generation schemes in the Monga-affected regions to help populations in distress. ^[179]





Illustration 3: Threats of climate impacts, like source locations are faced at destination locations too. Those who migrate due to distress caused by the environment can face similar impacts at destination making them twice as vulnerable.

IMPACT OF MIGRATION INDIA

66

Savitri Devi* - a migrant working as an agricultural labourer in India

"I used to work as an agricultural labourer in my village, however as a result of severe water shortage in the past few years, I was unable to receive any employment for half the year. While in the past I did find work for a meagre ₹100 to ₹150 per day in nearby villages, even that became difficult as a result of the drought.

This forced me to migrate to Solapur district, with a local contractor (thekedar) to work as an agricultural labourer on a sugarcane farm for one season. Prior to migration, I received an advance of Rs.30,000 (for all 4 family members). The thekedar promised that the rest of the wages (₹200-₹250 per day) would be given once the work was complete.

Along with my family, I migrated in the hope of earning a better income. However, once we arrived we were faced with terrible working and living conditions, we worked for 16 hours a day in the scorching heat with very few breaks. The owner provided us a small makeshift tin shed as accommodation on the field and gave minimal ration for sustenance. In case any of us fell ill we were given medicine by the farm owner and asked to continue work. If we protested, he verbally and physically abused us, and sometimes beat us up with sugarcane sticks. At the end of the season, we finally thought of collecting our money and going back to our village. However, the owner refused and made us continue working for two more years, without wages.

In 2022, we came in contact with the Jan Sahas (JS) field team who found out about our case from other locals. The team was in constant contact with us to help, however, lack of cooperation by the local authorities, our rescue was delayed. In the meantime, I was worried about my son's health as he wasn't receiving any medical attention after falling sick.

When the team finally came to rescue us along with the local police, the owner again refused to let us go. With the local authorities' intervention, we were finally released. We have still not received our wages and have had to take out a loan to buy ration. After this experience, we have no plans to migrate, we would rather prefer to earn the meagre wages available locally to survive."



*This story is anonymous and Savitri Devi is a pseudonym.



Labour Laws and Impact on Internal Migrants

The unequal power dynamic between workers and their employers lead to instances of unjust working conditions. In such cases, effective labour laws help promote worker protection. If the informal economy is brought under the labour laws, it could lead to reduced poverty, favourable working conditions and improved productivity, and boost economic development.^[180] In the case of internal migrants, who are the most vulnerable, labour laws and its implementation are even more essential.





1. The need for laws and policies addressing the unique challenges of internal migrant workers:

Labour laws that govern workers exist in all countries studied in this report, however laws and policies specific to internal migrants or reviewing existing policies with an internal migration lens is completely missing. At the international level, policies formulated by organisations such as SAARC ^[181] and ASEAN have been limited to international migrants, and the focus on internal migration has been negligible. For example, the ASEAN Declaration on the Protection and Promotion of the Rights of the Migrant Workers 2007 focuses on laying down the principles and norms for international migration between ASEAN countries. ^[182]

At the country level, only India had a law aiming at the safe migration of internal migrants – The Inter-State Migrant Workers Act 1979 (ISMA). According to the act, each contractor or employer under whom more than five internal migrants work had to maintain records of the workers and provide travel allowances, proper living arrangements, medical facilities, and protective gear on site. However, it was never effectively implemented, and has now been subsumed under new labour codes ^[183]

It is essential that organisations and individual countries acknowledge the unique needs of internal migrants and their contribution to the country's economic growth and design labour laws that cater to their requirements.^[184]

Country	List of labour laws
Bangladesh	1. Bangladesh Labour Act 2006 ^[185] 2. Bangladesh Labour Act 2013 ^[186]
Cambodia	 The Labour and Employment law of 1997 ^[187] Amendment of 2007 ^[188] Amendment of 2018 ^[189] Amendment of 2021 ^[190] The Minimum Wage Act 2018 ^[191] Law on Social Security Schemes 2009 ^[192]
India	 Wage Code 2019 ^[194] Occupational Safety, Health and Working Conditions 2020 ^[195] Industrial Relations Code 2020 ^[196] Social Security Code 2020 ^[197]
Indonesia	 The Indonesian Labour law Act of 2003 ^[198] Omnibus Law 2020 ^[199] Trade Union Act 2000 ^[200] Industrial Disputes Settlement Act 2004 ^[201]
Nepal	 The Labour Act of 2017 ^[202] Labour Rules 2018 ^[203] Industrial Enterprise Act 2020 ^[204]
Thailand	 The Labour Protection Act 1998 ^[205] The Labour Protection Act: Amendment of 2019 ^[206] Labour Relations Act 1975 ^[207] Labour Relations Act: Amendment of 2001 ^[208] Homeworker Protection Act 2010 ^[209]

Table 4.1: Country-wise list of labour laws

1.1. Recent amendments to labour laws: [xvi]

Reasons for amendments vary across countries. However, most internal migrants don't benefit from many of these positive changes because it mainly applies to the formal sector.

1. In Bangladesh, the labour law was amended because of a major uproar following the collapse of Rana Plaza. ^[xvii] The amendment focused on strengthening the formation of trade unions and occupational health and safety. ^[210]

2. The Cambodian government has periodically amended certain aspects of its labour laws over the years. The amendments of 2007, 2018 and 2021 focused on overtime, seniority indemnity and provisions on work shifts and inspections, respectively.

3. In India, the government passed four new labour laws, which codified 29 older laws in 2019. These new codes aim to include a need-based minimum wage, improve non-hazardous working conditions, and provide universal social security entitlements. ^[211] However, even though these laws have been passed, they are yet to be implemented.

4. In Thailand, the amended Labour Protection Act of 2019 from the older 1998 law has introduced many positive changes such as increased maternity leave, severance pay and ensured equity of pay. ^[212]

5. In Nepal, the amendments to Labour Act in 2017 and Labour Rules in 2018, brought in positive provisions such as the act becoming applicable to firms with any number of employees, except in the case of forming collective bargaining, safety and health or labour relation committees. ^[213]

Highlight 4.1: Amendments were in favour of the industry rather than workers: Examples from India and Indonesia

It is not always necessary that the change in labour laws is at par with the changing labour trends. As the world revives from the shocks of the pandemic, ILO advocated that keeping workers' rights and principles at the centre would help build back a better workplace in the post-pandemic era. ^[214] However, in some countries, such as India and Indonesia, a reverse trend was observed where labour laws were relaxed under the pretext of economic growth.

- In Indonesia, the Omnibus Law passed by the Indonesian government in 2020 aimed to provide legal certainty to investors, which would ultimately boost the country's economic growth. However, to achieve this goal, workers' rights were taken away.
 - a. Firms were given the freedom to increase working and overtime hours beyond the standard set by the government.
 - b. Micro and small enterprises were exempted from adhering to the minimum wage
 - c. Rights of outsourcing companies were increased. ^[215]
 - d. It has been argued that this law breaches international law standards, thereby violating human rights. ^[216] It has resulted in large-scale protests by workers and activist communities. ^[217]
 - e. Since then, the Indonesian court has directed the government to revise part of the law and has given two years for the government to comply with this order. The failure to do so would result in the court deeming the entire law as "permanently unconstitutional". ^[218]

[xvi] For this report, 'recent' will be looked at from a time frame of 10 years

[[]xvii] Rana Plaza housed five garment factories in Dhaka, Bangladesh. Its collapse led to 1132 deaths and over 2500 injuries. Read more: https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/geip/WCMS_614394/lang--en/index.htm

- 2. In India, the state governments of Uttar Pradesh, Madhya Pradesh, Gujarat, Rajasthan, Tripura and Himachal Pradesh relaxed their labour laws.
 - a. The Uttar Pradesh Government passed the 'Uttar Pradesh Temporary Exemption from Certain Labour Laws Ordinance, 2020'. Under this ordinance, all labour laws, except three,^[xviii] were relaxed in the state for a period of three years.^[219]
 - b. The Madhya Pradesh Government, relaxed the Industrial Relations Act in eleven categories^[xix] of industries for an indefinite period of time. The government also relaxed inspections in industries employing less than 50 workers and surprise inspections for all industries.
 - c. Other state governments such as Rajasthan, Tripura and Punjab increased the maximum working hours to boost their states' productivity. [220]

2. Gaps in existing labour laws and the need to adhere to the international standards

As mentioned above, all countries have labour laws in place. However, even though some recent amendments have brought positive changes for the workers, in countries such as India and Indonesia, existing labour laws were relaxed citing economic slowdown as a result of the pandemic as a reason. It is important that workers' rights are protected in this scenario and countries amend and adhere to the international standards set by ILO. In this section we will discuss these gaps in existing labour laws through three main factors: unclear definition of who is an employer in the informal economy, right to strike and rightful termination of workers.

2.1. Unclear definition of who is an employer: contracting and subcontracting

Employer-employee relationship in the informal sector is often a complex one as the role of an employer is often undefined in labour laws across countries. In some cases, such as the construction sector value chain, different levels of employers exist often owing to sub-contracting of work, and it ranges from principal employer —>contractor—>sub-contractor—>micro contractor. In such cases, the ability to identify who should be complying with laws becomes even more difficult.

In India, under labour law, there are provisions for working hours, wages and overtime. The 'employer' is a key person in implementing this law. Their responsibility is to maintain and register records for overtime, wages and working hours.^[221] However, in the construction sector, these responsibilities are often given to a contractor by the principal employer, therefore, he is often seen as the primary employer by the workers. Such a scenario sometimes leads private firms to forgo their responsibilities towards workers and non-compliance with regulations can often go unchecked.^[222]

^[xvii] related to bonded labour, timely payments and ex gratia to workers in case of work-related diseases and disabilities ^[xiv] These include textile, leather, cement, iron and steel, electrical goods, electricity, public motor transport, engineering including the automobile sector

"When we give a contract to a big contractor, we engage in a contract with them on a specific job and write down that they will abide by the Minimum Wages Act. Here compliance is higher. However, down the value chain, if a small contractor is hired (by the big contractor then it becomes difficult to manage) - traditionally, there will be a foreman and if there is a requirement of 50 masons, he will go around scouting in the neighbouring villages in search of those masons. This foreman will promise to work for 6 months against the amount of wages. During the work period, he will house them in the labour camp and provide them with basic food requirements and then he will give them pocket money for a week - minimum sustenance amount to survive for 1 week or 15 days. When they go home, say after 6 months or during festivals, this foreman will give them a lump sum payment of the time they have worked for - 4 months. Here noncompliance can be higher."

-Harleen Oberoi, Vice President, Project Management, Tata Realty, India

In the garment factories of Cambodia, similar instances of non-compliance are observed. This is linked to the employers often being foreign companies that outsource employment, creating a gap in implementation of legal regulations.

"Our boss is a foreigner hence we face an issue communicating with him about working hours. We often have to work even during pregnancies and sick days because we don't get leaves."

> -Samnang, worker in garment manufacturing, Cambodia

2.2. Lack of strict penalties

To ensure worker protection, it is important that workers have rights in cases of non-compliance. However, this is not always the case. For example, in the event of non-compliance by the employer, the mechanisms for redressal are not strict or properly enforced. In Indonesia^[223] and India^[224], the penalty is significantly less for noncompliance with minimum wage, which further increases the chances of more instances of non-compliance. Meanwhile, in Thailand^[225] and Nepal^[226], even though there is strict punishment for non-compliance with minimum wage, the implementation of the act is poor, leading to high cases of workers being paid less than the minimum wage. The lack of proper enforcement and monitoring of labour laws and limited awareness of workers are some of the reasons for continued violations. To tackle some of these barriers, practices globally can be considered. For example, Brazil's successful approach of dedicating additional resources and complete autonomy to labour inspectorates has effectively increased compliance with labour laws.[227]

2.3. Right to Strike

The right to strike helps workers safeguard their socio-economic interests and improve working conditions. When dispute negotiations between workers and employers fail, peaceful strikes are a democratic way of protecting workers' rights.^[228] ILO Convention (No. 87) on Freedom of Association and Protection of the Right to Organise Convention state the guiding principles of the right to strike^[229] According to ILO, the notice given to the employer by workers before the strike is vital as it acts as an additional stage for final negotiations. In its labour law, each country specifies what this notice period should be. It is essential that the period isn't too long as that might restrict the right to strike.

For most establishments except essential services or services of social or public interests, ILO has not suggested a specified time frame. However, it has stated that a period of 48 hours' notice before the strike is also reasonable.^[230] For the purpose of this report, a maximum of 10 days will be taken, based on ILO guidelines and best practices, for the notice period.^[231]

Country	What does the law say?	Is the country adhering to the international standard?
Bangladesh	According to the Bangladesh Labour Act of 2006, workers should provide a 7-day notice before going on strike. The strike should commence not before 7 days or later than 14 days of the notice.	\checkmark
Cambodia	According to the Labour and Employment Law of 1997, a 7-day notice period is required from the workers before going on a strike.	\checkmark
India	According to the Codes on Industrial Disputes 2020, workers are required to give a notice 60 days prior to going on strike.	×
Indonesia	According to the Industrial Disputes Settlement Act, workers are required to give a notice of 7 days prior to going on a strike.	\checkmark
Nepal	According to the Labour Act of 2017, a 30-day written notice should be given to the employer before workers go on a strike.	×
Thailand	According to the Labour Relation Act of 1975, a 24-hour notice period should be given before workers go on a strike.	\checkmark

Table 4.2: Work hours limit in selected countries

As seen in the above table, Bangladesh, Cambodia, and Indonesia have adhered to the international standard, while India, Nepal, and Thailand have deviated from it. In India^[232] and Nepal^[233], the provision has been criticised as solely working on making the labour market more efficient while dismantling worker rights as an extremely long notice period is not conducive to harmonious labour relations. In Thailand, the notice period is less than 48 hours, which might give less time for reconciliation.

2.4. Rightful termination

It is essential to strike a balance between employers' right to dismiss workers in valid situations and ensuring that dismissal is fair for the employee, as unfair dismissal can have negative economic consequences for the worker and their family.^[234] The ILO Convention on Termination of Employment (No. 158) states a terminated worker should be entitled to a reasonable notice period or compensation. An exception to this is when the worker is guilty of serious misconduct. However, a time period for notice of termination is not provided, leaving it to countries to define a 'reasonable period'. It also suggests that while terminating a contract, an employee should be given a valid reason.^[235] This convention has not been ratified by any of the selected countries.^[236]

According to the guidelines provided by ILO, we will be analysing best practices on three parameters: Does the law include a provision on a) giving a valid reason for termination, b) written notice to the employee, c) severance pay

(Refer to the Table 4.3: Legal regulations of termination in selected countries)

Country	What is the notice period?	Is the employer required to give a valid reason for dismissal?	Is the notification for dismissal written?	Is the employer required to give severance pay?
Bangladesh	According to the Labour Law 2006, a worker is entitled to a notice period depending upon the type of worker. A permanent worker is entitled to a) 120 days for monthly rated worker, b) 60 days in case of other workers. While in case of temporary worker a) 30 days for monthly rated worker b) 14 days in case of other workers	×	~	~
Cambodia	 According to the Cambodian labour law, the notice period is according to the tenure of the employee. 7 days, if the worker's length of continuous service is less than six months 15 days, if the worker's length of continuous service is from six months to two years 30 days, if the worker's length of continuous service is longer than two years and up to five years. 60 days, if the worker's length of continuous service is longer than five years and up to ten years. 90 days, if the worker's length of continuous service is longer than ten years. Method for calculating the length of service of workers, who are not employed on a monthly basis, shall be determined by a Prakas (ministerial order) of the Ministry in Charge of Labour. 	~	~	~
India	According to the Indian labour laws, the notice period is according to the type of worker. If a worker is Permanent monthly paid, then s/he is entitled to 30 days of notice while a permanent non monthly paid worker is entitled to 15 days.	\checkmark	~	~
Indonesia	The Indonesian labour law does not have a provision for notice periods. If termination occurs, the employer should obtain an approval from the institution for the settlement of industrial relations disputes. This pre-termination statutory procedure often involves a delay between the employers, thus notifying the employee of the termination.	\checkmark	×	~
Nepal	According to the labour law of Nepal, depending upon term of employment, workers have a right to a notice period of 1 day (employed for 4 weeks); 7 days (employed for 4 weeks to 1 year); 30 days (exceeding one year)	×	×	×
Thailand	According to the labour law of Thailand, monthly paid worker should be given a notice for up to 30 days.	×	×	\checkmark

Table 4.3: Legal regulations of termination in selected countries

In Bangladesh, the employer is only required to give a reason for termination in cases of misconduct, physical or mental incapacity, or retrenchment. In Thailand and Nepal^[237] the reason is only necessary in cases of retrenchment or misconduct. In Indonesia, the employer is required to negotiate with the worker or the trade union to carry out the termination, even though they are under no obligation to state the reason for dismissal.^[238]

For written notice, we observe that in Nepal^[239], even though the law states that a notice should be given to employees who are terminated, it doesn't specify if the notice should be written or verbal, while in Thailand, the law stipulates that the

employer 'may' give the notice in written form. [240]

3. Lack of adherence to labour laws

Apart from gaps in the existing labour laws, challenges in the form of access barriers/ coverage of workers, and compliance also continue to exist. The data on Labour Rights Index demonstrates the prevalence of unfortunate working conditions across countries such as in India, Cambodia, Thailand, and Indonesia. The index suggested that labourers in these countries have limited access to decent work while in Bangladesh they had a total lack of decent work. Thereby, indicating a

need for labour laws that are more favourable to internal migrants in these countries.^[241]

In this section, we will discuss lack of adherence to labour laws through four factors: long working hours that are above the legal limit, no overtime payment, paying less than the minimum wage and unsafe working conditions.

3.1. Long working hours that are above the legal limit

The ILO Convention 1919 (No.1) states working hours limits should not exceed 8 hours in a day or 48 hours in a week. ^[242] The above prescribed working hour limits are the same in all countries, except Indonesia, where they have been further limited to 7 hours per day.^[243] Even though the working hours limits align with the international standard, only in Bangladesh and India the convention is ratified and in force. ^[244] However, it has been observed that compliance rates are usually low and actual working hours tend to be much higher. ^[245]

Estimates suggest one-third of the global workforce work more than the prescribed working hours, seen more commonly in developing countries. Long working hours can have disastrous impacts on workers' overall health, well-being, and productivity. It is also observed that male workers are twice as likely to work excess hours than women across developing countries.^[246] Women, on the other hand, are almost exclusively responsible for most unpaid labour in the household and unpaid care work, which gives them less freedom to engage in paid labour or paid work longer hours.^[247] Evidence has shown that this burden increased manifold during the pandemic.[248] (Refer to the Table 4.4: Work hours limit in selected countries)

In the RMG sector in Bangladesh, long working hours are a common practice, and it was found that about 50% of the workers in 18 factories exceeded the overtime limit even with clearly defined legal limits.^[249] In Cambodia, 36% of those employed worked more than 48 hours per week. The average hours and actual hours worked were found to be much higher than the legal limit in some sectors such as retail and wholesale trade (57.8hrs), construction (51.7hrs) and manufacturing (50.1hrs).^[250]

Estimates from India found that in urban areas both self-employed workers and regular employees worked over the legal limit, i.e. 55 and 53 per week respectively, while casual workers worked 45 hours per week.^[251] The fact that casual workers in India had fewer than 48 hours of work could indicate loss of work rather than abiding by the law. Nepalese workers were working more than 50 hours across all sectors with hospitality being the highest (56hrs).^[252]

Problems were far worse for sectors not falling under the labour laws.



- Irwan, Director, Yayasan Embun Pelangi (NGO), Indonesia

Country	Working hours limit as per law	What does the primary data say? ^[xx]
Bangladesh	The 2006 Labour Act states that daily working hours shall be 8 hours with an interval under section 108.	92% were working more than 8 hours per day.
Cambodia	Cambodia Labour Law, Article 137 states that working hours cannot exceed 8 hours or 48 hours per week.	70% were working more than 8 hours per day.
India	The Occupational Safety, Health and Working Conditions Code, 2020 states, "No worker shall be required or allowed to work, in any establishment or class of establishment for more than eight hours in a day and the period of work in each day shall be so fixed, as not to exceed such hours."	38% were working more than 8 hours per day ^[xxi]
Indonesia	According to the Manpower Act, the standard working hours are arranged either as 7 hours per day and 40 hours per week for six working days in a week or 8 hours per day and 40 hours per week for five working days in a week.	86% were working more than the 7 or 8 hours per day
Nepal	According to the Manpower Act, the standard working hours are arranged either as 7 hours per day and 40 hours per week for six working days in a week or 8 hours per day and 40 hours per week for five working days in a week.	70% were working more than 8 hours per day
Thailand	The Hours of Work: Labour Protection Act, 1998 states regular working hours of 8 per day and 48 per week. The regular workday cannot exceed 7 hours for hazardous work, and the regular workweek cannot exceed 42 hours.	38% were working more than 8 hours per day

Table 4.4: Work hours limit in selected countries

^[xx] We are aware that our sample is small and not representative, however we have provided our findings to give a glimpse to a wider problem.

^[xxi] 42% of India's sample was from Brick Kilns where most labour policies are not regulated. Most respondents told us that they decided their own working hours, since payment is on a piece-rate output.

3.2. Overtime payment

Based on the principles of the ILO convention, overtime wages must be 150% of the hourly wage in the first hour plus 125% of the hourly wage for every additional hour. It is also essential that overtime hours don't exceed 270 hours in a year.^[253]

In developing countries, overtime work is considered a common practice to supplement low wages, and, in some cases, employment is taken up based on the availability of overtime. For example, overtime work in the garment and textiles sector across Asia is taken up to help supplement their basic wages. However, this should not be seen as a choice but as a coping mechanism for increasing their low income, even if it means sacrificing their free time.^[254]

(Refer to the Table 4.5: Overtime payment in selected countries)

"My salary is 1,200 USD, but I earn around 1,500 USD in one month if I work overtime. I do overtime work for 2 hours per day. And sometimes, on Saturday and Sunday as well. The factory gives us three times of actual salary for overtime work, which helps me increase my monthly income."

- Serto, worker in automobile sector, Thailand

In Bangladesh, a survey on garment factories observed those working on lower wages worked the most overtime hours. It was also found that in 9 of the total 18 factories which were a part of the study, workers weren't paid the full amount for overtime payment.^[255] 36% employees in Cambodia were working more hours than the limit.^[256] During interviews, it was observed that even in prominent sectors such as the construction sector in India^[257], garment sector in Bangladesh^[258] and tourism sector in Thailand^[259], longer working hours, lesser or no overtime payment, and non-compliance with

safety standards were common occurrences.

"My boss often forces me to work overtime without pay even when I do not want to. I don't dare to refuse him because I fear losing my job. On some days, I feel so tired, but I still have to do overtime and if not my boss will cut my one day salary."

- Bora, labourer in the construction sector, Cambodia

Country	Regulations on overtime as per law	What does the primary data say? ^[xxii]
Bangladesh	The Labour Act 2006 states, in respect of overtime work, the worker will be entitled to an allowance at the rate of twice his ordinary rate of the basic wage for hours worked.	76% respondents did not mention receiving any overtime payment for additional working hours in Bangladesh
Cambodia	Cambodia Employment Labour law states employers are required to pay at least 150% of the usual wage to employees who work overtime in the day. However, for those who work overtime during the night (22:00 to 05:00), the overtime rate is 200% of the wage.	66% respondents did not mention receiving any overtime payment for additional working hours in Cambodia
India	The Wage Code states that when a worker works in excess of a normal working day, he is entitled to overtime, which must be at least 200% of the normal wage rate.	48% respondents did not mention receiving any overtime payment for additional working hours in India. Most of them worked in Brick Kilns, where overtime isn't a practice.
Indonesia	The Manpower Act states an employee is entitled to overtime pay if the work time exceeds the 7 hours in a six-day workweek or 8 hours in a five-day workweek. Overtime is paid at 1.5 times the hourly wage for the first hour and double the hourly wage thereafter.	72% respondents did not mention receiving any overtime payment for additional working hours in Indonesia.
Nepal	The Labour Act of 2017 states for overtime, the employee shall not be employed more than 4hours a day and 24 hours a week, paying to the labour remuneration at a rate of 1.5 times the basic remuneration received during regular hours of work.	94% respondents did not mention receiving any overtime payment for additional working hours in Nepal
Thailand	The Law Protection Act, 1998 states for monthly staff overtime on a normal working day is 1.5 times the normal hourly rate. However, on a weekly holiday (such as Saturday or Sunday, depending on what is declared as the weekly holiday) or a public holiday, the overtime rate is 3 times the employee's normal hourly rate.	20% respondents did not mention receiving any overtime payment for additional working hours in Thailand

Table 4.5: Overtime payment in selected countries

^[xxii] We are aware that our sample is small and not representative, however we have provided our findings to give a glimpse to a wider problem.

3.3. Minimum wage

Minimum wages play an essential role in helping reduce poverty and inequality across countries. Minimum wages exist in over 90% of the ILO member states.^[260] Set by governments, minimum wages could either be uniform or defined based on different factors such as the sector of work, region, or skill level. It is observed that uniform wage rate systems usually do not include the complexities of a country as they do not account for factors which determine their difference; therefore, a complex wage system might be more inclusive. However, it must be noted, the likelihood of discrimination can be more prominent under complex wage systems, such as lower minimum wage rates being instated for female-dominated sectors.[261]

In India, Thailand, and Indonesia, a mixed system of wage rates is present by region, sector, and level of skills. In Bangladesh, the wage system is defined according to the sector of work; Nepal has a uniform wage rate system set up with one national minimum wage, and Cambodia has a set uniform wage rate system for only garment sector workers.^[262]

Exclusion of certain sectors from minimum wage is a highly debated issue as globally, many countries exclude certain professions such as agricultural and domestic workers. For example, only some states in India include domestic workers in its Minimum Wage Boards. However, even in India, domestic workers are excluded from several labour laws as the definitions of 'workmen', 'employer' and 'establishment' are limited.[263] Even though Nepal has a provision to provide a separate minimum wage set for domestic workers, it is yet to do so.[264] Since they are unregistered and unregulated, their working conditions entirely depend on the employer. As a result, they work long hours with little pay and limited access to social protection schemes.[265] "I worked there for about 3 months, but I was only paid IDR 1.7 million. I was promised a salary of IDR 1.8 million (124 USD) per month, but when I arrived, my employer told me that they'd only pay IDR 1.5 million (103 USD) monthly. I was also surprised to know that I had to do a lot of tasks. The employment agency only told me that I would be required to cook and do a little bit of cleaning, but in reality, I had to do everything from A to Z."

- Puji, domestic worker in Indonesia

Similarly, Cambodia's Minimum Wage Act is limited to garment and textile workers. ^[266] In Bangladesh, agricultural labourers employed in fields with less than 10 workers are excluded from the minimum wage act.^[267] Such exclusion can lead to the exploitation of workers. For example, exploitation is prominent in the construction sector of Cambodia as it isn't covered under the Minimum Wage Act.^[268]

In certain sectors, wages are fixed according to the number of pieces produced by workers. These workers, called the piece-rate workers, usually belong to excluded sections of the society and are women.[269] According to Cambodia's labour law, if workers produce fewer pieces than the minimum wage rate, then wages should be adjusted according to the minimum wage. Such a provision is not mentioned in any other labour law. The compliance with labour laws in Cambodia has been attributed to their garment factories. In 1999. they entered a bilateral agreement with the United States wherein it was decided that if Cambodia complied with its labour laws and maintained international labour standards at the workplace, the quota for garments exports to the US would increase.^[270]

Country	Minimum wages as per law	Minimum wages in USD	What does the primary data say? ^[xxiii]
Bangladesh	General Worker, Ready Made Garment Sector (RMG) worker: Taka 8000 per month General Worker, Rice Mill: Taka 7810 per month General Worker Cold Storage: Taka 6050 per month Except workers engaged in agriculture and domestic work, all privately-owned industries unskilled workers: Taka 3000 per month	RMG: Approx. 93 USD per month Rice Mill: Approx. 91 USD per month Cold storage: Approx. 70 USD per month Others: Approx. 31 USD per month	18% of migrant workers earned below the minimum wage in Bangladesh
Cambodia	The Minimum Wage Law 2018 states a wage shall be at least equal to a minimum wage which is the statutory lowest wage and is determined by Prakas of the Minister of the Ministry in Charge of Labour	(1) Regular workers - USD194 per month; (2) Probationary workers - USD192 per month.	52% migrant workers salary was below the minimum wage in Cambodia
India	Wage Code, 2019 established that no employer shall pay wages less than the minimum rate of wages notified by the appropriate state government	Construction sector: Maharashtra-Unskilled: USD 137 Semi-skilled: USD 144 Skilled: USD 153 Himachal Pradesh- Unskilled: USD 117 Semi-skilled: USD 124 Skilled: USD 135 Brick Kilns (per 1000 bricks) ^[Jourd] : Bihar: USD 3.72 Jharkhand: USD 3.56 West Bengal: USD 3.18	48% migrant workers salary was below the minimum wage in India
Indonesia	In destination location (Batam): IDR 4,130,279/month (starting 2020) (Indonesian Bureau of Statistics, Riau Islands Province). In source location (Banyumas): IDR 1,970,000/month as per 2021 (Indonesian Bureau of Statistics, Central Java Province).	Destination location (Batam): Approx. 287 USD per month Source location (Banyumas): Approx. 137 USD	78% migrant workers salary was below the minimum wage in Indonesia
Nepal	NPR 17310 per month (for the current fiscal year - 2021/22)	Approx. 145 USD per month	64% migrant workers salary was below the minimum wage in Nepal
Thailand	9.900 Baht/month for Chachoengsao Province 9,390 Baht/month for Pattani Province	Chachoengsao Province: Approx. 330 USD per month Pattani Province: 312 USD per month	6% migrant workers salary was below the minimum wage in Thailand

Table 4.6: Minimum wages in selected countries

An estimated 266 million workers globally are paid below the minimum wage rate in their country either because of non-compliance or lack of coverage in certain sectors. A survey conducted with the garment sector in Asia found non-compliance rates with minimum wages highest in India (50.7%). While in others, such as Indonesia, Thailand, and Cambodia, they were 39.1%, 37.5% and 25.6%, respectively.^[271] In Bangladesh, 64% of those working in RMG, Construction, Tea Plantation and Leather sectors were paid at or above the minimum wage.^[272] In India,14% of informal workers, 50% of self-employed and 24% casual workers earned the same or less than the prescribed minimum wage.^[273]

[[]xxiii] We are aware that our sample is small and not representative, however we have provided our findings to give a glimpse to a wider problem.

[[]xxiv] Minimum wage for Brick Kilns where some workers had migrated was unavailable for some work.

3.4. Unsafe Working Conditions

In Asia, working conditions have been defined as dismal with unsafe workplaces.[284] Unsafe working conditions in developing countries can be attributed to the extra production cost as firms believe that the financial cost to prevent an occupational accident is higher than the cost of accidents.^[285] A key responsibility of employers across countries is to ensure the safety of their workers. However, in many, this regulation is the least implemented. For example, piece-rate workers are highly precarious. Incidents of injuries are higher in such sectors because they might end up injuring themselves to achieve targets. Another instance is that of sugarcane farming in India, where the wage is decided according to the piece-rate system. Evidence from sugarcane fields of Aurangabad district in Maharashtra observed farmers get a mere Rs. 250 (3.26\$), for cutting and wrapping a ton (1000kg) of sugarcane, irrespective of the number of people involved in the work. Farmers work endlessly to meet such targets, even in extreme weather conditions. They are engaged in such tasks as a family where even children are employed to meet the targets.[xxv] Similar instances are observed in brick kiln, where piece-rate system is followed.

"Sometimes bricks would fall on us, and we get badly injured. The employers didn't pay for our medical expenses. So, we had to manage it from the little money we earned."

- Raj, worker in brick kiln, India

However, evidence from rubber plantations in Indonesia has suggested that investing in workers' health increases productivity and the resulting benefits are higher than the costs employer had to invest. A cost-benefit analysis of the intervention indicated that the ratio of cost to the benefit of investing in workers' health was a whopping 1:280.[286] Unsafe working conditions in the informal sector are common, leading to injuries and deaths at workplace. Even though each sample country has a law for occupational health and safety at workplace, data shows that non-compliance has led to multiple injuries and deaths across countries.

Occupational health and safety are one of the core principles set forth by ILO. It states that injuries leading to losses in terms of compensation, lost workdays, interrupted production and health care expenditure represent almost 4% of the world's annual GDP. Workplace accidents and death are preventable and can be achieved by implementing sound reporting and inspection practices. **ILO Convention no. 155 states the guiding principles for occupational health and safety at the workplace.**^[277] However, none of **the countries have ratified this convention.**^[278]

(Refer to the Table 4.7: Number of accidents and injuries at the workplace in selected countries)

The global workforce sustains up to 370 million injuries and 3 million deaths in the workplace every year. It has been argued that this number is higher since many injuries or accidents go unreported. The working conditions are worse in developing countries where every 4 out of 5 workers work in hazardous conditions without proper safety equipment. Migrant and seasonal workers, women and children are most likely to work in the most hazardous and toxic work environment.

"We do not provide any safety and security measures to the worker. We only provide them with helmets for protecting themselves while working on the construction site. We ask them to be safe while working on the site. In case of an accident, the house owner provides help for the treatment. We have not provided the worker with the insurance facility since they do not work with us for a long time. However, I have told them about the insurance scheme and its benefits."

- Vishal Rai, contractor in the construction sector, Nepal

^[xxv] This information was gathered from a field visit by Garima Sahni, Jan Sahas team member.

Country	What does the law say?	Number of occupational deaths (attributable) (2016) ^{(279]}
Bangladesh	According to the amendment of 2013 which focused on occupational health and safety made creation of safety committees in factories with more than 50 workers mandatory, time period of compensation for work related death was reduced and inspections were given high priority.	49234
Cambodia	According to the labour law of Cambodia, an employer must maintain a working environment which is safe for all workers. All establishment and workplaces must be clean and maintain standards for hygiene and sanitation.	3179
India	According to the Occupational Health, Safety and Working Conditions Code, every employer should ensure a workplace which is free from hazards which cause or are likely to cause injury or occupational disease to the employees.	416910
Indonesia	According to the labour law in Indonesia, occupational safety and health initiative should guarantee safety and increase the level of health of workers/ labourers and prevent occupational accidents and diseases, control hazards in the workplace and promote health, medical care and rehabilitation.	102523
Nepal	According to the law in Nepal, the main employer should take the responsibility of making arrangements of workplace safety and health.	9726
Thailand	According to the labour law in Thailand, the employer should provide safety tools and equipments and set the standards of occupational safety in their establishment according to the standards prescribed by the government.	19559

Table 4.7: Number of accidents and injuries at the workplace in selected countries

Notable Positive Trends: Labour laws and impacts on internal migrants. What have countries been doing to protect their workers?

What have countries been doing to protect their workers?

- (1) A provision exists for interstate migrants in India where in case of death of migrant workers, authorities of source and destination location as well as next of kin need to be informed.
- (2) Cambodian labour law has a special provision for piece-rate workers where if workers produce fewer pieces than the minimum wage rate, then wages should be adjusted.
- (3) All countries have special provision for working women. For example, in Indonesia, the employer is required to provide roundtrip travel to women who work between required to provide roundtrip travel to women who work between 11:00 pm to 7:00 am, while in Bangladesh, consent from women is required in case they are required to work after 6pm. However, it is also important to note that many times as a result of these special provisions, employers are hesitant to employ female workers as they add on extra production cost. *"We usually don't hire female construction workers on site. According to the Indian labour law, we are required to give them special provisions such as creches for their children, feeding rooms etc. All of these are extra costs and also take up a lot of space on the construction site. Hirers don't say it directly but we usually make it clear that we won't hire female workers." An employee from a construction company in India.*



IMPACT OF MIGRATION INDONESIA

Saira* - a migrant working as a domestic worker in Indonesia

"I migrated to Jakarta and received employment as a domestic worker with the help of an employment agency. They informed me that I would live with the family and cook for them. In reality, I had to do all household chores from mopping the floor, doing laundry, sweeping the yard, the first and second floors, tidying up the rooms, making the bed, cleaning up the swimming room and bringing some food to the second floor. Even after making me do so much work, I was given very little food and no rest. I lost over 10kgs in 3 months! My employers were extremely loud and violent. If I didn't know how to do a task, they would scream at me. Once, I broke a vase by mistake and they threatened me with a salary cut.

After the first month of working there, I asked for my salary but they refused and said they would give it later as they are going to Bandung. I just kept silent and waited patiently. The next time I asked, they said as you aren't going home right now, we will give it to you later. I couldn't do much and all of this was getting unbearable so I asked if I could leave after one month but they didn't allow me to go and asked me to pay them IDR 2.5 million (170\$) if I insisted on leaving. After working there for three months I finally convinced them to let me leave. Even then, they handed me my salary only a few minutes before my bus departed. Earlier they had told me that I would get IDR 4 million (272\$) for 3 months but I was only paid IDR 150,000 (10.23\$). They said they had deducted my salary to pay for the recruitment fee to the employment agency and the WiFi even though I didn't even own a phone.

I sold satay before migrating, and it was also exhausting but when you work under mental pressure, that makes a huge difference. I think I would've stayed if they'd been nice to me but there was a lot of mental burden so I just went home."



*This story is anonymous and Saira is a pseudonym.





Social Security Schemes

Social protection schemes build resilience for underprivileged communities and reduce inequalities when implemented correctly. However, access to social security schemes is a challenge globally. Social protection schemes' coverage and benefit level are lower in developing and middle-income countries than in developed countries. Data shows that less than 50% of poor people have access to schemes in lower-middle-income countries, while only a staggering 18% in lower-income countries. Seasonal migrants, who comprise one of the most vulnerable sections of society, are often the most neglected in terms of access to social protection.^[280] Thereby, aggravating their already harsh conditions in the destination location. Their limited access to social protection can be associated with their 'invisibility' in the cities and high mobility. Furthermore, since most countries do not design schemes with internal migrants in mind, it becomes harder to meet their unique challenges.

This chapter focuses on social protection schemes in the six sample countries and analyses them in the context of internal migrants' predicament. Our findings aim to shed light on access and awareness to social protection schemes for migrants across the countries and how their deplorable working conditions make them more in need of a safety net.
Social protection policies provide a much-needed safety net to the most vulnerable population of a country. Asian Development Bank (ADB) defines social protection as a "set of policies and programs designed to reduce poverty and vulnerability by promoting efficient labour markets, diminishing people's exposure to risks, and enhancing their capacity to protect themselves against hazards and interruption/loss of income."^[281]

Countries with high coverage and benefit of social protection schemes can reduce poverty gaps by 45%. Therefore, social protection schemes not only assist in building resilience during times of external and internal shocks, but also benefit by reducing poverty gaps and inequalities, increasing productivity and quality of life.^[282]

Social security schemes are essential in helping migrants supplement their income and ensuring they remain resilient even in times of a crisis. This section attempts to understand access to social protection and associated barriers for migrant workers.

1. Types of social security schemes

Across countries, four main types of social security schemes exist which assist vulnerable populations. These include – food assistance, cash transfer (conditional and unconditional), employment and health insurance schemes.

Food assistance schemes provide the most basic level of social protection, and it takes a multifaceted approach to support and empower food insecure communities. Scheme access addresses short-term challenges and further aid individuals to find solutions for long-term causes that lead to hunger.[283] A robust food assistance scheme for internal migrants can therefore be helpful in providing the most basic level of assistance. For example, the Indian government formulated a scheme 'One Nation One Ration Card' through which internal migrants can procure ration from anywhere in the country.[284] However, it must be noted, ONORC is still in its nascent stages with numerous implementation challenges, both at the supply and demand side.^[285] Nepal added 'The Right to Food' as a

part of its new constitution only in 2015[286], and the Right to Food Act was passed in 2018.[287] However, since then, it has failed to make any concrete headway in policies and interventions for the same. Even though the law includes provisions to identify priority households and design food-related interventions, Nepal's food schemes have been limited to mid-day meals for children and have failed to recognise and formulate an action plan for vulnerable households.[288] Cambodia and Thailand [289] do not have universal food assistance schemes in its social protection framework. In Cambodia, there is an existing National Food Security and Nutrition policy for food assistance. However, the scheme has followed a sectoral approach with food distribution in only a few provinces and investment in agricultural output through farmers, as Cambodia is primarily an agrarian economy. The policy is limited to targeted groups such as IDPoor^[xxvi] households.^[290] In Thailand, schemes such as school lunch programs are specific to priority groups that have helped the country drop child malnutrition drastically from 36% to 8.42% as of 2014.^[291] Additionally, it has a proproducer food security policy, which includes massive investment in agricultural infrastructure, tax relief and agriculture credit to farmers that has helped drop hunger ratios drastically.[292]

"I never got any support from the government during COVID-19 as I do not have IDpoor card. Due to extreme financial distress, some workers even tried to illegally migrate back to Thailand because no jobs were available in their hometown. During lockdowns when I had lost my job, some support from the government in the form of food assistance, such as uncooked rice and others, would have been very helpful."

-Chanthou, construction worker, Cambodia

Cash transfer schemes in countries are designed to uniquely cater to their poor population. Conditional cash transfers provide cash directly to households if specific conditions are met such as

^[xxvi] IDPoor is a poverty identification program in Cambodia, schemes for the economically disadvantaged are often linked to. For more information check: https://www.idpoor.gov.kh/ attendance at health clinics. Unconditional cash transfers, on the other hand, focus on grants to all vulnerable populations, for example, pensions to senior citizens, widows and disabled.^[293] All countries provide either conditional, unconditional or both types of cash transfer schemes to their vulnerable populations.^[294] ^[295] ^[296] ^[296] ^[297] ^[298] ^[299]

Further, even though all selected countries have health insurance schemes, only Thailand has been successful in its implementation of providing universal health coverage to almost its entire population.^[300]

Employment schemes, another critical safety net for the poor in times of crises, exist only in countries within South Asia. In Bangladesh,^[301] India^[302] and Nepal^[303] employment generation schemes provide guaranteed employment of 100 days in a year to their population, however, they

are only limited to rural areas in Bangladesh and India. While Indonesia doesn't have employmentgenerating schemes, the government provides skilling courses to workers in formal sector jobs under the Program Kartu Prakerja (Pre-Employment Card Programme). Recipients of this scheme also receive monetary benefits after completion of the course.[304] Cambodia and Thailand ^[305] do not have employment generation schemes in its social protection framework. In Cambodia, employment generation schemes have focused on a skill-based approach bv initiating a government-run program for formal and informal sector workers.[306]

	What type of schemes are provided across countries?			
Country	Food assistance schemes	Conditional or unconditional cash transfer schemes	Employment schemes	Health insurance schemes
Bangladesh	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Cambodia	×	\checkmark	×	\checkmark
India	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Indonesia	\checkmark	\checkmark	×	\checkmark
Nepal	×	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Thailand	×	\checkmark	×	\checkmark

Table 5.1: Existing schemes in selected countries



Illustration 4: Internal migrants face numerous barriers in accessing social security schemes, which include, lack of portability, residential documents, complex registration procedures and lack of information on schemes.

2. Access barriers in social security schemes for internal migrants

Access to social security schemes is a major challenge globally. More than half of the world population lacks access to any kind of social protection scheme, and most of them are from the informal sector in developing countries. ^[307] Despite the expansion of social security coverage during the pandemic, 4 billion people globally still lack access to any scheme.^[308] This section tries to understand the different access barriers that affect internal migrants across countries. However, it is important to note that majority of studies have looked at access barriers for vulnerable communities more broadly, and few of them have directly looked at access for internal migrants as a separate category.

2.1. Portability constraints:

Portability benefits, i.e., the ability to access schemes regardless of location, exist in many countries. However, implementation gaps create significant barriers for migrants. Where portability doesn't exist, migrants become 'ineligible' by default owing to their transitory nature of jobs. For example, in Bangladesh, portability in social security schemes was not available. This was a result of scheme design in the country as their coverage of vulnerable populations is based on geographical area.^[309]

"We received no assistance from the government, non-governmental organisation, or any other entity. Government agents offered assistance when we resided in Dhaka, but we did not receive it since we were not residents of the city. However, because we stayed in Dhaka, we received no help from the village."

> - Abdullah, garment worker in RMG sector, Bangladesh

Country	Portability of schemes		
	Ration schemes	Conditional and uncondition al Cash Transfer schemes	Health insurance schemes
Bangladesh	×	×	×
Cambodia	NA	\checkmark	\checkmark
India	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Indonesia	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark
Nepal	NA	\checkmark	×
Thailand	NA	\checkmark	\checkmark

Table 5.2: Portability provision in existing schemes in selected countries

Evidence from Cambodia^[310], India, Indonesia, and Thailand^[311] suggest that benefits from schemes can be availed regardless of the migrant's location. However, challenges exist because of complex registration processes and limited knowledge of social security schemes. ^[312] For instance, in India, portability exists for ration and health insurance schemes. However, it has been estimated that only 48% of migrant households were even aware of the portability of ration cards.[xxvii] Further, it was observed that among those who reported access, most were intra-state migrants and the rural poor.[313] [314] Under Ayushman Bharat, a health scheme, only 40,000 people availed the portability benefits of the scheme in the first year of its launch.[315] Limited access can be attributed to a lack of awareness^[316] mainly because authorities do not provide any effective information about social protection schemes and proper documents amongst migrants.[317] [318]

Schemes in Indonesia have similar portability constraints, such as the healthcare insurance scheme where access is conditional outside the area of registration .^[319] Migrants can only use the scheme in the destination location three times, after which they are given two options – pay for the healthcare just as regular patients or change the place of registration in the system to destination location. Even

[xxviii] The study primarily focused on the experiences of intra state migrants and this stat might not be reflective of the awareness among inter state migrants

https://policyinsights.in/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/ONORC-report_April-2022-2.pdf

if they opt for the second option, they must wait for a month before they can continue availing the insurance. For other schemes that provide direct government aid, the lack of migrant registries and the ability of local government bodies to keep track of migrants' current residence has restricted access for them.

"No, I didn't receive any support. I think it's because I move around a lot, so the head of the neighbourhood doesn't have my data."

- Siti, domestic worker, Indonesia

2.2. Lack of residential documents and other eligibility challenges

Social security schemes by design is often exclusionary that lead to restricted access for migrants. Schemes tied to eligibility criteria such as local residential certificates and proof of employment in specific sector are a couple of examples.

Even in cases where portability exist, one of the key challenges faced is the lack of residential proof required for registration at destination locations by migrants.^[320] For example, in India, during the pandemic, it was observed that many migrants were unable to access ration at subsidised rates in cities as they had left their existing ration card with their families in source locations and did not have local residential or identity proof to access government benefits.^[321] Similar issues are faced when inter-state migrants try to avail benefits of state schemes.

Schemes designed for certain sectors or types of employment can lead to the exclusion of migrants.^[322] Such as the case of Cambodia, where informal sector workers do not have coverage under the National Social Security Fund (NSSF). The NSSF provides healthcare support to only formal sector workers. Ongoing debates in Cambodia suggest that the inclusion of the informal or unorganised sector would help support a large population, as 93.1% of the country's workforce is in the informal sector.^[323]

_____ 66 _____

"We are negotiating with the NSSF department in order to expand their insurance coverage to those who work in other sectors, especially informal sectors such as construction, familyowned restaurants/café or bar, and resorts. Up to present, there is low interest among workers in the informal sector to pay from their pocket to buy health care insurance (NSSF). Without employers' support, workers would not want to buy. This is also the challenge that we are working on. The recent problem is with construction site, specifically small-scale private contractors. When a worker on a small site gets into an accident, the contractor is not willing to pay for his medical cost."

- Huon Soeur, Deputy Director of the General Department of Labour, Ministry of Labour and Vocational Training of Cambodia

2.3. Challenges related to complex

registration processes

Complex registration procedures include different stages from a challenging application process to availing of benefits. For example, prerequisites such as the presence of migrants in source locations during the application procedure. In Cambodia, one of the key reasons for them being left out from receiving access to the IDpoor program is because of their high mobility. One in every four migrant in the country is impacted by exclusion under this program.^[324]

The Building and Other Construction Workers' (BOCW) card, designed to benefit construction workers in India, is another critical example of complex registration procedures. Lack of uniformity in application procedures and eligibility exist since state boards issue the document. Additionally, to obtain the card, the worker is required to furnish a minimum of five documents, which can increase in different states. Unavailability of documents such as the proof of employment certificate^[xxviii] hampers their chances.^[325] In other countries, similar instances of limited access because of complicated processes were observed.^[326] [^{327]}

2.4. Lack of information

Migrants tend to have lesser awareness of schemes in comparison to non-migrants. This could be because of limited information on schemes, registration procedures or benefit claims.^[328] Studies focusing on migrant workers' access to social protection schemes are largely unavailable except in India^[329]. Therefore, we have looked at lack of information as a barrier for excluded groups here. Evidence shows that lack of awareness of a scheme is a primary reason for most not having access to schemes. ^[330] For example, the Nepal government's Social Security Fund, launched in 2018, received criticism for not reaching coverage targets. The main reason behind this was poor knowledge dissemination of application and benefit delivery procedures among the target audience.^[331]

Notable Positive Trends: Social security schemes

What have countries been doing to provide their workers with social security?

- (1) Thailand has been able to increase its access to healthcare, almost its entire population is covered under the scheme. Notable provisions which has made this possible include: a) increasing geographical access by giving priority to primary healthcare centres and increasing the supply of primary health care providers outside of large urban centres and improving the rural health infrastructure, b) expanding financial access: schemes which were specially designed for lower income groups such as the 30 Baht scheme where citizens had to pay a meagre 30 Thai Baht (0.86\$) for each visit.^[332]
- (2) In 2021, the Union Government of India created the Eshram portal, an Aadhaar linked database of all unorganised workers including migrants. It is the first such database which aims to extend social security benefits to registered workers. Over 27 crore workers have been registered on the portal as of June 2022.^[333]

^[xxviii] To be obtained from employers however becomes difficult because of the nature of short-term employment in the construction sector

Aranya* - a migrant working in a food processing factory in Thailand

"After completing my schooling, I went to a vocational school for two years but decided to leave in between as I wanted to earn an income for my family. At that time, my mother was the sole earner, she worked very hard but her health was deteriorating, so I wanted to support her. After working in my village for two years, I finally migrated in 2014 as I received employment in Lad Kwang at a food processing factory. I had heard about this job through villagers. At the beginning I moved alone, then eventually I met my husband and now we have an 11 year old son.

I work in quality assurance at the factory, assisting in detecting the quality of all processes: mixing the materials, hygiene and packaging. I took the job as it provided me with good benefits and the trade union is strong. Since this job is in the formal sector, I am covered under the Social Security Fund. The company provides all the mandated benefits such as health insurance, social security, provident fund, transportation, etc. We also receive direct food assistance in the form of money (40\$ per month), free rice and drinking water from them.

Even during Covid-19, we received support from the government via the 3,000 Baht (87\$) scheme. Under this, we received cash allowance on a mobile application for 6 months. We were able to buy items by paying only 50 percent of the price and another 50 percent was contributed by the government. Even the health insurance during the pandemic helped us a lot as it covers my husband and my son. We can access private hospitals nationwide. When my son and I got COVID last year, we were able to go to a private hospital. My job and migration here has been beneficial, I am doing better financially and the additional benefits have helped me save to buy a house."

*This story is anonymous and Aranya is a pseudonym.

Internal Migration in Asia Report 2022

Conclusion

Human mobility within domestic boundaries for work, marriage or as a result of natural disasters has been taking place since time immemorial. The mass exodus during the pandemic brought the dismal conditions and plight of migrant workers to the forefront, even though internal migration has been a reality in all countries for decades. To address internal migration at a regional level, this report attempted to understand the causes, processes, impacts and challenges of migration across six countries in Asia.

Research has shown that agriculture failures and climate change have made rampant changes to rural life in the past few decades. Low crop productivity, lack of job opportunities, an increase in natural disasters and slow-onset changes have pushed those in rural areas into extreme financial distress. On top of this, the pandemic has further exacerbated workers' economic conditions as a result of job loss, decrease in wages and mobility restrictions. Migration has been a common coping strategy for these excluded groups. Remittances earned by migrants have been at the centre of addressing financial distress resulting from these factors. However, it must be noted that migration also has adverse impacts on migrants and their households. At the source, evidence suggests, women and children are burdened with extra responsibilities because of labour shortage as a result of migration that often affects their emotional well-being.

At destination, since several migrants are unskilled and without formal education, they end up working in informal sectors in poor working conditions receiving extremely low wages. Even in sectors where labour laws are applicable, evidence has shown that compliance across countries is questionable. Furthermore, as there is a lack of policies specifically catering to internal migrants, the unique challenges they face in destination locations often go unaddressed. Social security schemes can provide relief to the deplorable conditions of migrants at destination locations; however, access is often low because of several factors such as excessive conditionality, lack of documents, constant mobility of migrants, and issues with portability provision in schemes.

As the world deals with the dual challenge of climate change and the after-effects of the pandemic, safe and fair migration must be given its due importance by formulating policies that specifically address the needs of internal migrants. It is essential to understand that migration will continue for the years to come. It is inevitable. Therefore, the focus has to be on providing workers with better opportunities, conditions, safe passage, and support when they decide to migrate.

Appendix 1

Country-wise Methodology:

A country-wise methodology was developed to ensure standardisation across all the countries. First, two districts were selected in each country. Then, within each, a high migration source^[xxix] sub-district and a high migration destination^[xxx] sub-district were chosen (Figure 1).



Based on the above methodology, the following districts^[xxxi] were chosen in each country:

Country	Source Location	Destination Location	
India	Jharkhand, Gumla District	Maharashtra, Mumbai	
Thailand	Sai Buri District	Ban Pho District	
Cambodia	Sangkae district	Phnom Penh	
Bangladesh	Dhaka District and Rajshahi District	Dhaka district and Rajshahi district	
Indonesia	Banyumas regency	Batam city	
Nepal	Kavrepalanchowk	Kathmandu district	

[[]xxix] A source area was defined as a region which saw high levels of 'out-migration'

[[]xxx] A destination area was defined as a region which saw high levels of 'in-migration'

^[xoci] Due to different geographical landscapes and administrative structures across the six countries, a district level sample was decided upon. 'District' as in the Indian context is termed differently across our sample countries - district (India), district (Nepal), District/municipality (Cambodia), Cities and Regencies (Indonesia) and Amphoe/district (Thailand).

Sample Design Methodology:

While choosing our sample of migrants in each of the countries, different variables were pre-decided which needed to be considered in the primary data collection of internal labour migrants:

- Gender: Both female and male migrants were interviewed.
- **Duration of migrants:** Only seasonal/ circular labour migrants (less than one year) were interviewed.
- **Spatial patterns:** Since rural-urban migration was a prominent form of migration across countries, only migrants who moved to urban areas were interviewed in the sample.
- Sectoral patterns: 2-3 sectors were selected in each country after carefully examining census data, national surveys and micro studies to understand which sector employed most internal migrants. An attempt was made to find similar sectors across the countries for comparability. (For sector breakdown list, please look at Appendix 1)

*Names for all migrant workers in the sample have been changed to protect their identity



Socio-Demographics of sample



INTERNAL MIGRANTS: GENDER WISE

Figure I: Gender wise distribution of sample



INTERNAL MIGRANTS: RELIGION

Figure II: Religion wise distribution of sample



INTERNAL MIGRANTS: EDUCATION LEVELS

Figure III: Education level wise distribution of sample



INTERNAL MIGRANTS: SECTOR OF WORK

Figure IV: Sector of work wise distribution of sample

INTERNAL MIGRANTS: MARITAL STATUS



Figure V: Marital status distribution of sample



INTERNAL MIGRANTS: AGE

Figure VI: Age wise distribution of sample

Appendix 3

Country	Estimated job loss due to pandemic (first wave)	Note	
Bangladesh	12 to 17 million [334]	All workers without sector/ type of work differentiation – March and April 2020	
Cambodia	390,000 to 570,000 [335]	All workers without sector/ type of work differentiation – July 2020	
India	91 million [336]	Estimate of daily wage workers and hawkers – April 2020	
Indonesia	2.56 million people [337]	All workers without sector/ type of work differentiation – November 2020	
Nepal	1.6 to 2 million [338]	Informal sector workers – June 2020	
Thailand	7-8 million [339]	All workers without sector/ type of work differentiation – July 2020	

Table I: Job loss during first wave of covid-19

Country	Dates for first regulations/ lockdown imposition in each country (first wave)	Type of regulation [162]	Were domestic mobility restrictions in place?	Estimated internal return migrants' figures
Bangladesh	22 nd March to 30 th May 2020	Public transport limited	No	620,220 internal migrants ^{xxxii} [341]
Cambodia	15 th April to 1 st November 2021	Travel across provinces and between districts outside the capital of Phnom Penh restricted	Yes	No data available
India	24 th March to 30 th May 2020	All transport services were suspended	Yes	11.4 million [342]
Indonesia	24 th April to 31 st May 2020	All transport services were suspended	Yes	Around 14,000 internal migrants from the Wonogiri district of Central Java left Jakarta and its satellite cities. ^[343]
Nepal	24 th March to 21 st July 2020	All transport services suspended	Yes	600,000 migrants left Kathmandu. ^[344]
Thailand	26 th March to July 2020	Travel between provinces was limited	No	2 million workers [345]
Table II: Estimated re	Table II: Estimated return migrants because of lockdown			

 $\ensuremath{\ensuremath{\scriptscriptstyle Ixxxii}\xspace}\xspace$] Based on data from key informants in 29 districts

End Notes

^[1] International Labour Organization. "C189 - Domestic Workers Convention, 2011 (No. 189)". Retrieved from https://www. ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::P12100_ILO_CODE:C189

^[2] International Labour Organization. "C190 - Violence and Harassment Convention, 2019 (No. 190)". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::P12100_ILO_CODE:C190

^[3] United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). (2009). "Human Development Report 2009 - Overcoming barriers: Human mobility and development." Retrieved from https://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/reports/269/hdr_2009_en_ complete.pdf.

^[4] International Organization for Migration. "Key Migration Terms." Retrieved from https://www.iom.int/key-migration-terms.

^[5] United Nations Development Programme (UNDP). (2009). "Human Development Report 2009 - Overcoming barriers: Human mobility and development." Retrieved from https://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/reports/269/hdr_2009_en_ complete.pdf.

http://hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/reports/269/hdr_2009_en_complete.pdf

^[6] United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. (2013). "Cross-national comparisons of internal migration: An update on global patterns and trends." Retrieved from https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/technical/TP2013-1.pdf.

https://www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/publications/pdf/technical/TP2013-1.pdf

^[7] International Organization for Migration. (2005). "Migration, Development and Poverty Reduction in Asia." Retrieved from https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/migration_devpovasia.pdf. https://cdn.odi.org/media/documents/36_sALjk7U.pdf

^[8] International Organization for Migration. (2005). "Internal Migration and Development: A Global Perspective." Retrieved from https://cdn.odi.org/media/documents/68_Ow8Zx8g.pdf.

^[9] International Organization for Migration. (2015). World Migration Report 2008: Managing Labour Mobility in the Evolving Global Economy . Retrieved from https://publications.iom.int/books/world-migration-report-2008-managing-labour-mobility-evolving-global-economy

^[10] Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics (BBS). (2021). "Statistical Yearbook Bangladesh 2020." Retrieved from http://bbs.portal.gov.bd/sites/default/files/files/bbs.portal.gov.bd/page/b2db8758_8497_412c_a9ec_6bb299f8b3ab/2021-08-11-04-54-154c14988ce53f65700592b03e05a0f8.pdf.

^[11] National Institute of Statistics Ministry of Planning. (2020). "General Population Census of the Kingdom of Cambodia 2019." Retrieved from https://www.nis.gov.kh/nis/Census2019/Final%20Geneal%20Population%20Census%20 2019-English.pdf.

^[12] Government of India. (2011). "Census of India 2011." Retrieved from https://censusindia.gov.in/Ad_Campaign/drop_in_articles/08-Migration.pdf.

^[13] Indonesia Bureau of Statistics. (2020). "Migrant Profile Result of Socio-Economics National Survey 2019." Retrieved from https://www.bps.go.id/publication/2020/12/02/725d484ca73434e95d4d4b9d/profil-migran-hasil-survei-sosialekonomi-nasional-2019.html.

^[14] Government of Nepal. (2019). Report on the Nepal Labour Force Survey 2017/18. Retrieved from https://nepalindata. com/media/resources/items/20/bNLFS-III_Final-Report.pdf

^[15] National Statistical Office. (2020). "The 2020 Migration Survey." Retrieved from http://www.nso.go.th/sites/2014en/ Survey/social/domographic/migration/2020/report_2020.pdf.

^[16] Mobarak, Ahmed Mushfiq, and Maria Emy Reimao. (2020). "Seasonal Poverty and Seasonal Migration in Asia." Retrieved from https://direct.mit.edu/adev/article/37/1/1/93293/Seasonal-Poverty-and-Seasonal-Migration-in-Asia.

^[17] Srivastava, R. (2020). "Understanding Circular Migration in India: Its Nature and Dimensions, the Crisis under Lockdown and the Response of the State." Retrieved from http://www.ihdindia.org/working-papers/2020/IHD-CES_WP_04_2020.pdf.

^[18] Ajeevika Bureau. "Labour and Migration in India." Retrieved from https://www.aajeevika.org/labour-and-migration.php.

^[19] World Food Programme. (2019). "Vulnerability and Migration in Cambodia." Retrieved from https://docs.wfp.org/api/ documents/WFP-0000105976/download/.

^[20] Srivastava, R. (2020). "Vulnerable Internal Migrants in India and Portability of Social Security and Entitlements." Retrieved from http://www.ihdindia.org/working-papers/2020/IHD-CES_WP_02_2020.pdf.

^[21] Harttgen, K, and Stephan K. (2009). "A Human Development Index by Internal Migration Status." Retrieved from https:// hdr.undp.org/sites/default/files/hdrp_2009_54.pdf.

^[22] United Nations. (2019). "The Future of Asia & Pacific Cities." Retrieved from https://www.unescap.org/sites/default/ d8files/knowledge-products/Future%20of%20AP%20Cities%20Report%202019.pdf. ^[23] Food and Agriculture Organization (2016). Distress migration and youth in protracted crises. Retrieved from https://www.fao.org/3/i6632e/i6632e.pdf

^[24] Food and Agriculture Organization, International Fund for Agriculture Development, International Organization for Migration, & Work Food Programme (2018). The Linkages Between Migration, Agriculture, Food Security And Rural Development. Retrieved from https://environmentalmigration.iom.int/sites/g/files/tmzbdl1411/files/CA0922EN.pdf

^[25] Mobarak, Ahmed Mushfiq, and Maria Emy Reimao. (2020). "Seasonal Poverty and Seasonal Migration in Asia." Retrieved from https://direct.mit.edu/adev/article/37/1/1/93293/Seasonal-Poverty-and-Seasonal-Migration-in-Asia.

^[26] Food and Agriculture Organization, International Fund for Agriculture Development, International Organization for Migration, & Work Food Programme (2018). The Linkages Between Migration, Agriculture, Food Security And Rural Development. Retrieved from https://environmentalmigration.iom.int/sites/g/files/tmzbdl1411/files/CA0922EN.pdf

^[27] Weerdt, J. D., Christiaensen, L., & Kanbur, R. (2021). When Distance Drives Destination, Towns Can Stimulate Development. Retrieved from I Z A: Institute of Labor Economics: https://docs.iza.org/dp14157.pdf

^[28] Haider, S. K. (2010). Factors of Migration on Urban Bangladesh: An Empirical Study of Poor Migrants in Rajshahi City . Retrieved from Pakistan Journal of Social Sciences: https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.700.7450&rep=rep1&type=pdf

^[29] USAID, Open Institute., & Winrock International. (2016). Internal Migration for Low-Skilled and Unskilled Work in Cambodia: Preliminary Qualitative Results. Retrieved from https://www.open.org.kh/research/Internal_Migration-Qualitative_Results-June2016.pdf

^[30] Swee, E. (2014). Migrant Networks and Job Search: Evidence from Thailand. Retrieved from SSRN: https://papers.ssrn. com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2487197

^[31] International Organization for Migration. (2019). Thailand Migration Report 2019. Retrieved from https://thailand.un.org/ sites/default/files/2020-06/Thailand-Migration-Report-2019.pdf

^[32] ibid

^[33] Food and Agriculture Organization, International Fund for Agriculture Development, International Organization for Migration, & Work Food Programme (2018). The Linkages Between Migration, Agriculture, Food Security And Rural Development. Retrieved from https://environmentalmigration.iom.int/sites/g/files/tmzbdl1411/files/CA0922EN.pdf

^[34] Korra, V. (2010). Nature And Characteristics Of Seasonal Labour Migration: A Case Study In Mahabubnagar District Of Andhra Pradesh. Retrieved from https://core.ac.uk/download/pdf/19918871.pdf

^[35] Haan, A. d. (2011). Inclusive Growth? Labour Migration And Poverty In India. Retrieved from The Indian Journal of Labour Economics: http://www.igidr.ac.in/newspdf/IJLE_02-Arjan%20De%20Haan.pdf

^[36] Haan, A. D. (2011). Inclusive Growth? Labour Migration and Poverty in India. Retrieved from http://www.igidr.ac.in/newspdf/ IJLE_02-Arjan%20De%20Haan.pdf

^[37] Kuhn, R. S. (2005). The Determinants of Family and Individual Migration: A Case-Study of Rural Bangladesh . Retrieved from Institute of Behavioral Science: https://ibs.colorado.edu/pubs/pop/pop2005-0005.pdf

[38] Ibid

^[39] News18. (2016). Bundelkhand famine: 18 lakh people migrated to Delhi alone in 1 year. Retrieved from https://www. news18.com/news/india/bundelkhand-famine-18-lakh-people-migrated-to-delhi-alone-in-1-year-1225421.html

^[40] Susanti, H., & Damayanti, A. (2015). Internal Migration in Indonesia: Duration and Factors. Retrieved from Department of Economics, Faculty of Economics and Business University of Indonesia: https://econ.feb.ui.ac.id/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/201505.pdf

^[41] World Food Programme. (2019). "Vulnerability and Migration in Cambodia." Retrieved from https://docs.wfp.org/api/ documents/WFP-0000105976/download/.

[42] ibid

^[43] Statista. (2022). Cambodia: Distribution of employment by economic sector from 2009 to 2019. Retrieved from https://www. statista.com/statistics/438733/employment-by-economic-sector-in-cambodia/

^[44] National Sample Survey Office. (2010). Migration in India. Retrieved from Government of India: https://www.thehinducentre. com/resources/article33374171.ece/binary/533_final_compressed.pdf

[45] ibid

^[46] Indonesia, S. (2016). Profile of Indonesia Population (Result of SUPAS 2015). Retrieved from BPS: https://www.bps.go.id/publication/2016/11/30/63daa471092bb2cb7c1fada6/profil-penduduk-indonesia-hasil-supas-2015.html

^[47] International Organization for Migration. (2019). Migration in Nepal: A Country Profile 2019. Retrieved from https:// publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/mp_nepal_2019.pdf

^[48] National Statistical Office. (2021). The 2020 Migration Survey. Retrieved from: http://www.nso.go.th/sites/2014/DocLib13/ Forms/AllItems.aspx

^[49] Department of Employment. (2021). 2020 Labour Situation Report (January-December, 2021). Retrieved from https://www.

 $\label{eq:mol.go.th/wpcontent/uploads/sites/2/2021/05/\%E0\%B8\%AA\%E0\%B8\%96\%E0\%B8\%B2\%E0\%B8\%99\%E0\%B8\%81\%E0\%B8\%B2\%E0\%B8\%A3\%E0\%B8\%93\%E0\%B9\%8C\%E0\%B8\%94\%E0\%B9\%89\%E0\%B8\%B2\%E0\%B8\%99\%E0\%B8\%99\%E0\%B8\%99\%E0\%B8\%99\%E0\%B8\%99\%E0\%B8\%99\%E0\%B8\%99\%E0\%B8\%95-2563-1.$

^[50] Sarker, M. M., Yang, B., Tingzhi, W., Chakrovorty, A., Salman, M. A., & Huda, N. (2020). Impact of internal migration on poverty alleviation in Bangladesh . Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/341869200_Impact_of_ internal_migration_on_poverty_alleviation_in_Bangladesh

^[51] Srivastava, R. (2013). Impact Of Internal Migration In India. Retrieved from Refugee and Migratory Movements Research Unit (RMMRU): http://www.rmmru.org/newsite/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/workingpaper41.pdf

^[52] UNESCO, UNDP, IOM, & UN-Habitat. (2018). Overview of Internal Migration in Thailand. Retrieved from https://bangkok. unesco.org/sites/default/files/assets/article/Social%20and%20Human%20Sciences/publications/thailand.pdf

^[53] ibid

^[54] UNESCO, UNDP, IOM, & UN-Habitat. (2018). Overview of Internal Migration in Cambodia. Retrieved from https:// bangkok.unesco.org/sites/default/files/assets/article/Social%20and%20Human%20Sciences/publications/Policy-briefinternal-migration-cambodia.pdf

^[55] Rattanaprateeptong, S. (2019). Foreign Labor in the Thail Agriculture Sector. Retrieved from FFTC Agricultural Policy Platform: https://ap.fftc.org.tw/article/2608

^[56] KC, B., & Race, D. (2019). Outmigration and Land-Use Change: A Case Study from the Middle Hills of Nepal. Retrieved from mdbi: https://www.mdpi.com/2073-445X/9/1/2

^[57] Démurger, S. (2015). Migration and families left behind: Families that stay behind when a member migrates do not clearly benefit. Retrieved from I Z A: World of Labour: https://wol.iza.org/uploads/articles/144/pdfs/migration-and-families-left-behind.pdf

^[58] ibid

^[59] Najjar, D. (2021). How can migration-induced feminization of agriculture empower women in the dry areas? Retrieved from CGIAR: https://gender.cgiar.org/news-events/how-can-migration-induced-feminization-agriculture-empower-women-dry-areas

^[60] Srivastava, R. (2013). Impact Of Internal Migration In India. Retrieved from Refugee and Migratory Movements Research Unit (RMMRU): http://www.rmmru.org/newsite/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/workingpaper41.pdf

^[61] Kulczycka, K. (2015). Left behind women and empowerment: connsequences of male labour migration on the economic and social position of left behind women in Nepal. Retrieved from Lund University: https://lup.lub.lu.se/luur/ download?func=downloadFile&recordOld=5469887&fileOld=5469891

^[62] Garrett, J. I., & Chowdhury, S. (2004). Urban-rural links and transformation in Bangladesh: a review of the issues. Retrieved from IFPRI: https://www.ifpri.org/publication/urban-rural-links-and-transformation-bangladesh

^[63] Ministry of Planning. (2015). A Crump Series Report - Migration And Left-Behind Households In Rural Areas In Cambodia: Structure And Socio-Economic Conditions. Retrieved from https://cambodia.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/MigrationandLeftBehindHouseholds-Final.pdf

^[64] Lu, Y. (2012). Household migration, social support, and psychosocial health: The perspective from migrant-sending areas. Retrieved from Science Direct: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0277953611006630

[65] Panpeung, S. (2012). Migration and Health. Retrieved from http://library.mol.go.th/opac/ebook/

^[69] Srivastava, R. (2013). Impact Of Internal Migration In India. Retrieved from Refugee and Migratory Movements Research Unit (RMMRU): http://www.rmmru.org/newsite/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/workingpaper41.pdf

^[67] Kusumawardhani, N., & Warda, N. (2019). The Impact of Migration on The Left-Behind Children in Indonesia. Retrieved from The SMERU Research Institute: http://cpsp.smeru.or.id/Paper,%20Abstact,%20CV/0203_Niken-abstract.pdf

^[69] UNICEF. (2017). Study On The Impact Of Migration On Children In The Capital And Target Provinces, Cambodia. Retrieved from https://www.unicef.org/cambodia/media/1446/file/Study%20on%20The%20Impact%20of%20Migration%20on%20 Children%20in%20The%20Capital%20and%20Target%20Provinces_Eng.pdf.pdf

^[69] Sharma, S., Devkota, B., & Acharya, D. (2021). Impact of Parental Migration on Health of Left Behind Children . Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/348175975_Impact_of_Parental_Migration_on_Health_of_Left_ Behind_Children

^[70] UNESCO, UNDP, IOM, & UN-Habitat. (2018). Overview of Internal Migration in Thailand. Retrieved from https://bangkok. unesco.org/sites/default/files/assets/article/Social%20and%20Human%20Sciences/publications/thailand.pdf

^[71] Aryal, N., Regmi, P. R., Teijlingen, E. v., Simkhada, P., & Mahat, P. (2019). Adolescents left behind by migrant workers: a call for community-based mental health interventions in Nepal. Retrieved from https://www.who-seajph.org/article. asp?issn=2224-3151;year=2019;volume=8;issue=1;spage=38;epage=41;aulast=Aryal;type=3

^[72] Vikram, K. (2021). Fathers' Migration and Academic Achievement among Left-behind Children in India: Evidence of Continuity and Change in Gender Preferences . Retrieved from Sage Journals: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0197918321989279

^[73] Kusumawardhani, N., & Warda, N. (2019). The Impact of Migration on The Left-Behind Children in Indonesia. Retrieved

from The SMERU Research Institute: http://cpsp.smeru.or.id/Paper,%20Abstact,%20CV/0203_Niken-abstract.pdf

^[74] UNICEF. (2017). Study On The Impact Of Migration On Children In The Capital And Target Provinces, Cambodia. Retrieved from https://www.unicef.org/cambodia/media/1446/file/Study%20on%20The%20Impact%20of%20Migration%20on%20 Children%20in%20The%20Capital%20and%20Target%20Provinces_Eng.pdf.pdf

^[75] UNESCO. (2013). Social Inclusion of Internal Migrants in IndiaInternal Migration in India Initiative. Retrieved from https:// unesdoc.unesco.org/in/documentViewer.xhtml?v=2.1.196&id=p::usmarcdef_0000223702&file=/in/rest/annotationSVC/ DownloadWatermarkedAttachment/attach_import_6e574122-ad5f-43b2-ae12-3f2ca1b7c47e%3F_%3D223702eng. pdf&updateUrl=updateUrl7107&ark=/ark:/4822

^[76] UNESCO, UNDP, IOM, & UN-Habitat. (2018). Overview of Internal Migration in Thailand. Retrieved from https://bangkok. unesco.org/sites/default/files/assets/article/Social%20and%20Human%20Sciences/publications/thailand.pdf

^[77] Srivastava, R. (2013). Impact Of Internal Migration In India. Retrieved from Refugee and Migratory Movements Research Unit (RMMRU): http://www.rmmru.org/newsite/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/workingpaper41.pdf

^[78] Bangladesh Bureau of Statistics. (2011). Report of the Household Income & Expenditure Survey 2010. Retrieved from http://203.112.218.65:8008/WebTestApplication/userfiles/Image/LatestReports/HIES-10.pdf

^[79] Lu, Y. (2010). Mental Health and Risk Behaviors of Rural-urban Migrants: Longitudinal Evidence from Indonesia. Retrieved from PubMed Central: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3683073/

^[80] UNESCO, UNDP, IOM, & UN-Habitat. (2018). Overview of Internal Migration in Thailand. Retrieved from https://bangkok. unesco.org/sites/default/files/assets/article/Social%20and%20Human%20Sciences/publications/thailand.pdf

^[81] Government of Nepal. (2011). Nepal Living Standards Survey 2010/11. Retrieved from https://time.com/wp-content/ uploads/2015/05/statistical_report_vol2.pdf

^[82] National Sample Survey Office. (2010). Migration in India. Retrieved from Government of India: https://www.thehinducentre. com/resources/article33374171.ece/binary/533_final_compressed.pdf

[83] T, K. (2012). Analysing Chronic Poverty in Rural Cambodia: Evidence from Panel Data . Retrieved from http:// mekonglandforum.org/node/2549

^[84] Srivastava, R. (2013). Impact Of Internal Migration In India. Retrieved from Refugee and Migratory Movements Research Unit (RMMRU): http://www.rmmru.org/newsite/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/workingpaper41.pdf

^[85] National Sample Survey Office. (2010). Migration in India. Retrieved from Government of India: https://www.thehinducentre. com/resources/article33374171.ece/binary/533_final_compressed.pdf

^[86] Afsar, R. (2000). Rural-Urban Migration in Bangladesh: Causes, Consequences, and Challenges. Retrieved from University Press Limited: http://www.uplbooks.com/book/rural-urban-migration-bangladesh-causes-consequences-and-challenges

^[87] International Organization for Migration. (2011). Thailand Migration Report 2011. Retrieved from https://publications.iom. int/system/files/pdf/tmr_2011.pdf

^[88] Adhikari, J. (2013). Impact of internal and international labour migration: country study nepal. Retrieved from Refugee and Migratory Movements Research Unit (RMMRU): http://www.rmmru.org/newsite/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/workingpaper22. pdf

^[89] Susanti, H., & Damayanti, A. (2015). Internal Migration in Indonesia: Duration and Factors. Retrieved from https://econ.feb. ui.ac.id/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/201505.pdf

^[90] National Sample Survey Office. (2010). Migration in India. Retrieved from Government of India: https://www.thehinducentre. com/resources/article33374171.ece/binary/533_final_compressed.pdf

^[91] Afsar, R. (2000). Rural-Urban Migration in Bangladesh: Causes, Consequences, and Challenges. Retrieved from University Press Limited: http://www.uplbooks.com/book/rural-urban-migration-bangladesh-causes-consequences-and-challenges

^[92] World Food Programme. (2019). "Vulnerability and Migration in Cambodia." Retrieved from https://docs.wfp.org/api/ documents/WFP-0000105976/download/.

^[93] Adhikari, J. (2013). Impact of internal and international labour migration: country study nepal. Retrieved from Refugee and Migratory Movements Research Unit (RMMRU): http://www.rmmru.org/newsite/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/workingpaper22. pdf

^[94] National Sample Survey Office. (2010). Migration in India. Retrieved from Government of India: https://www.thehinducentre. com/resources/article33374171.ece/binary/533_final_compressed.pdf

^[95] Adhikari, J. (2013). Impact of internal and international labour migration: country study nepal. Retrieved from Refugee and Migratory Movements Research Unit (RMMRU): http://www.rmmru.org/newsite/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/workingpaper22. pdf

^[96] National Statistical Office. (2021). The 2020 Migration Survey. Retrieved from Ministry of Digital Economy and Society: http://www.nso.go.th/sites/2014/DocLib13/Forms/AllItems.aspx

^[97] Centre for Digital Financial Inclusion. (2019). How Migrants Send Money Home? : Study of Profiles, Preferences & Potential. Retrieved from http://www.cdfi.in/assets/images/CDFI_Migrant_Remittance_Study_Report.pdf

^[98] Srivastava, R. (2013). Impact Of Internal Migration In India. Retrieved from Refugee and Migratory Movements Research Unit (RMMRU): http://www.rmmru.org/newsite/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/workingpaper41.pdf

^[99] ibid

^[100] ibid

^[101] Afsar, R. (2000). Rural-Urban Migration in Bangladesh: Causes, Consequences, and Challenges. Retrieved from University Press Limited: http://www.uplbooks.com/book/rural-urban-migration-bangladesh-causes-consequences-and-challenges

^[102] Lee, J. N., Morduch, J., Ravindran, S., Shoncchoy, A. S., & Zaman, H. (2019). Poverty and Migration in the Digital Age: Experimental Evidence on Mobile Banking in Bangladesh. Retrieved from https://s18798.pcdn.co/jmorduch/wp-content/ uploads/sites/5267/2019/10/Lee-et-al-Poverty-and-Migration-Mobile-Banking-in-Bangladesh-October-7-2019.pdf

^[103] World Food Programme. (2019). "Vulnerability and Migration in Cambodia." Retrieved from https://docs.wfp.org/api/ documents/WFP-0000105976/download/.

^[104] Asian Development Bank. (2021). Harnessing Digitization for Remittances in Asia and the Pacific. Retrieved from https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/714036/harnessing-digitization-remittances-asia-pacific.pdf

^[105] International Labour Organization. (2019). Digitalization to promote decent work for migrant workers in ASEAN. Retrieved from http://www.oit.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/---sro-bangkok/documents/publication/ wcms_713546.pdf

^[106] International Labour Organization. (2016). High rise, low pay: Experiences of migrant women in the Thai construction sector. Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/asia/publications/WCMS_537743/lang--en/index.htm

^[107] Paypal. (2017). Digital Payments: Thinking beyond Transactions. Retrieved from https://www.paypalobjects.com/ digitalassets/c/website/marketing/global/shared/global/media-resources/documents/PayPal_Asia_Research_Report_ Digital_Payments.pdf

^[108] The World Bank. (2022). Global Economic Prospects. Retrieved from https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/ handle/10986/36519/9781464817601.pdf

^[109] Castles, S., & Vezzoli, S. (2009). The global economic crisis and migration: temporary interruption or structural change? Retrieved from https://www.migrationinstitute.org/files/news/castles-and-vezzoli_the-global-economic-crisis-and-migration.pdf

^[110] Institute of Statistics, Cambodia. (2020). Cambodia Unemployment Rate. Retrieved from Trading Economics: https://tradingeconomics.com/cambodia/unemployment-rate#:~:text=Unemployment%20Rate%20in%20Cambodia%20 is,macro%20models%20and%20analysts%20expectations

^[111] Gordon, N. (2022). More Southeast Asian countries open borders for quarantine-free travel, to help recover millions of jobs lost to COVID-19. Retrieved from Fortune: https://fortune.com/2022/03/18/southeast-asia-thailand-vietnam-indonesia-bali-tourism-covid-recovery-china-ukraine/

^[112] Saxon, S., Sodprasert, J., & Sucharitakul, V. (2021). Reimagining travel: Thailand tourism after the COVID-19 pandemic. Retrieved from Mckinsey & Company: https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/travel-logistics-and-infrastructure/our-insights/ reimagining-travel-thailand-tourism-after-the-covid-19-pandemic

^[113] Asian Development Bank. (2020). Covid-19 And Transport In Asia And The Pacific: Guidance Note. Retrieved from https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/institutional-document/623426/covid-19-transport-asia-pacific-guidance-note.pdf

^[114] Jesline, J., Romate, J., Rajkumar, E., & George, A. J. (2021). The plight of migrants during COVID-19 and the impact of circular migration in India: a systematic review . Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/s41599-021-00915-6

^[115] New Strait Times. (2020). Over half a million lose jobs in Thailand's virus-hit tourism industry. Retrieved from https:// www.nst.com.my/world/region/2020/10/628983/over-half-million-lose-jobs-thailands-virus-hit-tourism-industry

^[116] Blomberg, M., & Dara, M. (2020). Laid off due to virus, Cambodian garment workers compete for factory shifts . Retrieved from Reuters: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-health-coronavirus-cambodia-workers-f-idUSKBN23P00F

^[117] Chantapong, S. (2021). Migration and Resiliencs of Local Community. Retrieved from The Bank of Thailand: https:// www.bot.or.th/Thai/ResearchAndPublications/articles/Pages/Article_25May2021-2.aspx

^[118] Latika, K. Z., Manzur, M. M., Islam, M. T., Barua, J., & Shraboan, A. K. (2021). Young domestic workers in Bangladesh face the economic fallout from Covid-19. Retrieved from Institute of Development Studies: https://www.ids.ac.uk/opinions/ young-domestic-workers-in-bangladesh-face-the-economic-fallout-from-covid-19/

^[119] International Labour Organization. (2021). World Employment and Social Outlook Trends 2021. Retrieved from https:// www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms_795453.pdf

^[120] Kakodkar, P. (2021). 'Women 11 times more likely to not work after Covid job loss'. Retrieved from Times of India: https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/mumbai/women-11-times-more-likely-to-not-work-after-covid-job-loss/ articleshow/81233013.cms

^[121] International Labour Organization. (2021). ILO Monitor: COVID-19 and the world of work seventh edition. Retrieved

from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/documents/briefingnote/wcms_767028.pdf

^[122] Nanda, P. K. (2020). Informal workers saw 22.6% fall in wages post covid-19: ILO . Retrieved from Livemint: https://www. livemint.com/news/india/wages-in-india-fell-3-6-23-following-pandemic-ilo-11606985526476.html

^[123] Salva, A. (2022). The Pandemic Hit Asia's Garment Workers Especially Hard. Retrieved from The Diplomat: https:// thediplomat.com/2022/02/the-pandemic-hit-asias-garment-workers-especially-hard/

^[124] International Labour Organization. (2021). ILO Monitor: COVID-19 and the world of work. Eighth edition. Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/documents/briefingnote/wcms_824092.pdf

^[125] International Labour Organization . (2020). Global Wage Report 2020-21: Wages and minimum wages in the time of COVID-19. Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/ wcms_762534.pdf

^[126] The Asia Foundation. (2021). The Impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic on Employment in Middle-order Cities of Nepal: A rapid assessment. Retrieved from https://asiafoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Impact-of-the-Covid-19-Pandemic-on-Employment-in-Middle-order-Cities-of-Nepal.pdf

^[127] Bhattacharyya, R., & Philip, L. (2022). Manpower shortage may worsen for several sectors. Retrieved from The Economic Times: https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/jobs/manpower-shortage-may-worsen-for-several-sectors/ articleshow/88844126.cms

^[128] Clarke, M. F. (2021). Is Thailand facing a labour shortage in the hospitality & tourism industry? Retrieved from The Bangkok Post: https://www.bangkokpost.com/business/2235607/is-thailand-facing-a-labour-shortage-in-the-hospitality-tourism-industry-

^[129] Food and Agriculture Organization. (2020). Second rapid assessment of food and nutrition security in the context of COVID-19 in Bangladesh: May – July 2020. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.4060/cb1018en

^[130] The Economic Times. (2020). Daily wages rise in construction with labour shortage. Retrieved from https:// economictimes.indiatimes.com/industry/indl-goods/svs/construction/daily-wages-rise-in-construction-with-labour-shortage/ articleshow/79785368.cms?from=mdr

^[131]Narayanan, S., Oldiges, C., & Saha, S. (2020). MNREGA coverage expanded during lockdown, but safety net inadequate for districts that need it the most. Retrieved from Firstpost: https://www.firstpost.com/india/mnrega-coverage-expandedduring-lockdown-but-safety-net-inadequate-for-districts-that-need-it-the-most-2-9043741.html

^[132] Sharma, H. (2021). Explained: Ration card reform, so far . Retrieved from The Indian Express: https://indianexpress.com/ article/explained/one-nation-one-ration-card-benefits-implementation-supreme-court-modi-govt-7381857/

^[133] TNP2K, & Australian Government. (2020). Policy Note: Maximising the Benefits of Program Sembako During the Covid-19 Pandemic. Retrieved from http://www.tnp2k.go.id/download/75502Maximising%20the%20Benefits%20of%20Program%20 Sembako%20During%20the%20Covid-19%20Pandemic.pdf

^[134] KPMG. (2020). Bangladesh: Government and institution measures in response to COVID-19. Retrieved from https://home. kpmg/xx/en/home/insights/2020/04/bangladesh-government-and-institution-measures-in-response-to-covid.html

^[135] KPMG. (2020). Thailand: Government and institution measures in response to COVID-19. Retrieved from https://home. kpmg/xx/en/home/insights/2020/04/thailand-government-and-institution-measures-in-response-to-covid.html

^[136] Carter, J., & Khadka, S. (2020). Ensuring Food for Those Most in Need During Lockdown. Retrieved from https://reliefweb. int/report/nepal/ensuring-food-those-most-need-during-lockdown

^[137] Kunthear, M. (2021). Food distributed to people hit by Covid outbreak, lockdown . Retrieved from Phnom Penh Post: https://www.phnompenhpost.com/national/food-distributed-people-hit-covid-outbreak-lockdown

^[138] B. S. (2020). Covid-19 lockdown: Railways ferried 450,000 Indians in 428 special trains. Retrieved from https:// www.business-standard.com/article/current-affairs/lockdown-3-0-railways-operate-428-trains-protest-breaks-out-inkerala-120051100109_1.html

^[139] International Labour Organization (2021). Social protection responses to COVID-19 in Nepal. Retrieved from https://www. ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/---ilo-kathmandu/documents/publication/wcms_809272.pdf

^[140] Chau, C. (2022). Indonesia provides wage subsidies to lower-income workers. Retrieved from hrmasia: https://hrmasia. com/indonesia-provides-wage-subsidies-to-lower-income-workers/

^[141] Lee, C. (2021). Thailand rolls out wage subsidies to deter mass layoffs. Retrieved from hrmasia: https://hrmasia.com/ thailand-rolls-out-wage-subsidies-to-deter-mass-layoffs/

^[142] Brown, O. (2008). Migration and Climate Change. Retrieved from https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/books/9789213630235

^[143] World Bank. (2018). Groundswell : Preparing for Internal Climate Migration. Retrieved from https://openknowledge. worldbank.org/handle/10986/29461

^[144] World Meteorological Organization. (2021). State of the Climate in Asia 2020. Retrieved from https://library.wmo.int/index. php?lvl=notice_display&id=21977#.Yot23JNBz9F

^[145] German Watch. (2021). Global Climate Risk Index 2021. Retrieved from https://www.germanwatch.org/en/19777

^[146] World Bank. (2018). Groundswell : Preparing for Internal Climate Migration. Retrieved from https://openknowledge. worldbank.org/handle/10986/29461

[147] International Organization for Migration. Definitional Issues. Retrieved from https://www.iom.int/definitional-issues

^[148] Brown, O. (2008). Migration and Climate Change. Retrieved from https://www.un-ilibrary.org/content/ books/9789213630235

^[149] International Organization for Migration. (2009). Migration, Environment And Climate Change: Assessing The Evidence. Retrieved from https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/migration_and_environment.pdf

^[150] Thakur, J. (2022). Cyclone Amphan was largest source of displacement in 2020, says latest IPCC report. Retrieved from Hindustan Times: https://www.hindustantimes.com/india-news/cyclone-amphan-was-largest-source-of-displacement-in-2020-says-latest-ippc-report-101646315766914.html

^[151] Singh, H., Faleiro, J., Anderson, T., & Vashisht, S. (2020). Costs of climate inaction: Displacement & Distress Migration . Retrieved from Action Aid: https://actionaid.org/sites/default/files/publications/ActionAid%20CANSA%20-%20South%20 Asia%20Climate%20Migration%20report%20-%20Dec%202020_3.pdf

^[152] Internal displacement monitoring centre. (2020). Global Report On Internal Displacement. Retrieved from https://www. internal-displacement.org/sites/default/files/publications/documents/2020-IDMC-GRID.pdf

^[153] ibid

^[154] International Organization for Migration. (2009). Migration, Environment And Climate Change: Assessing The Evidence. Retrieved from https://publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/migration_and_environment.pdf

^[155] Kisan Swaraj. (2017). Fact Finding Report Of Drought In Anantapur & The State Of Citizens' Entitlements In The Context Of Drought. Retrieved from http://www.kisanswaraj.in/wp-content/uploads/Rapid-Assessment-of-Drought-in-Anantapur-and-state-of-citizens-entitlements.pdf

^[156] Singh, H., Faleiro, J., Anderson, T., & Vashisht, S. (2020). Costs of climate inaction: Displacement & Distress Migration . Retrieved from Action Aid: https://actionaid.org/sites/default/files/publications/ActionAid%20CANSA%20-%20South%20 Asia%20Climate%20Migration%20report%20-%20Dec%202020_3.pdf

^[157] India Today. (2021). Uttarakhand flood: 2019 study warned Himalayan glaciers melting at alarming speed. Retrieved from https://www.indiatoday.in/india/story/himalayan-glaciers-melting-twice-as-fast-2019-study-found-1766824-2021-02-07

^[158] Siddiqui, T., Bhuiyan, M. R., Kniveton, D., Black, R., Islam, T., & Martin, M. (2017). Situating migration in planned and autonomous adaptation practices to climate change in Bangladesh. Retrieved from Climate Change, Vulnerability and Migration: https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.4324/9781315147741-7/situating-migration-plannedautonomous-adaptation-practices-climate-change-bangladesh-tasneem-siddiqui-mohammad-rashed-alam-bhuiyandominic-kniveton-richard-black-towheedul-islam-maxmilan

^[159] International Organization for Migration. (2019). Climate Change And Migration In Vulnerable Countries: A snapshot of least developed countries, landlocked developing countries and small island developing States. Retrieved from https:// publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/climate_change_and_migration_in_vulnerable_countries.pdf

^[160] Mazumder, M., & Wencong, L. (2012). Monga vulnerability in the northern part of Bangladesh . Retrieved from Semantic Scholar: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Monga-vulnerability-in-the-northern-part-of-Mazumder-Wencong/97c4bc 5c5b34c6212ec63799f0c3ad92f7f21f4e

^[161] Etzold, B., Ahmed, A. U., Hassan, S. R., & Neelormi, S. (2014). Clouds gather in the sky, but no rain falls. Vulnerability to rainfall variability and food insecurity in Northern Bangladesh and its effects on migration. Retrieved from Climate and Development: https://rsa.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/17565529.2013.833078

^[162] News18. (2021). From 1999 Super Cyclone to Jawad: Odisha's Tryst with 10 Cyclones in 22 Years. Retrieved from https:// www.news18.com/news/india/from-1999-super-cyclone-to-jawad-odishas-tryst-with-10-cyclones-in-22-yrs-4519502.html

^[163] Center for Migration and Labor Solutions, & Aajeevika Bureau. (2014). Studies, Stories and a Canvas: Seasonal Labor Migration and Migrant Workers from Odisha. Retrieved from https://www.humandignity.foundation/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Odisha-State-Migration-Profile-Report.pdf

^[164] Bharadwaj, R., Bishop, D., Hazra, S., Pufaa, E., & Annan, J. K. (2021). Climate-induced migration and modern slavery: A toolkit for policy-makers. Retrieved from https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/20441G.pdf

^[165] Asian Development Bank. (2012). Addressing Climate Change and Migration in Asia and the Pacific. Retrieved from https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/29662/addressing-climate-change-migration.pdf

^[166] World Bank. (2018). Groundswell : Preparing for Internal Climate Migration. Retrieved from https://openknowledge. worldbank.org/handle/10986/29461

^[167] Nanda, R. (2016). Bundelkhand famine: 18 lakh people migrated to Delhi alone in 1 year . Retrieved from News18: https://www.news18.com/news/india/bundelkhand-famine-18-lakh-people-migrated-to-delhi-alone-in-1-year-1225421.html

^[168] Entwisle, B., Verdery, A., & Williams, N. (2020). Climate Change and Migration: New Insights from a Dynamic Model of Out-Migration and Return Migration. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC7406200/

^[169] Dasgupta, S., Laplante, B., Meisner, C., Wheeler, D., & Yan, J. (2007). The Impact of Sea Level Rise on Developing Countries: A Comparative Analysis . Retrieved from World Bank: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/

handle/10986/7174/wps4136.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

^[170] National Geographic. Urban Threats. Retrieved from https://www.nationalgeographic.com/environment/article/urban-threats

^[171] Urbanization & Global Change. Environmental Impacts of Urban Growth. Retrieved from https://urbanization.yale.edu/ research/theme-4

^[172] Vargas-Lundius, R., Chowdhury, A., Yi, S., Seshan, G., & Yameogo, N. D. (2018). Synthesis Report-Internal Migration and Urbanization. Retrieved from World Bank Group: https://www.knomad.org/sites/default/files/2018-01/Internal%20 Migration%20and%20Urbanization_Synthesis%20Report_1.pdf

^[173] India Today. (2022). Jakarta is sinking! Indonesia changes its capital to Nusantara I Explained. Retrieved from https://www. indiatoday.in/world/story/jakarta-sinking-indonesia-changes-capital-nusantara-explained-1902290-2022-01-20

^[174] The Conversation. (2021). Indonesia's capital Jakarta is sinking. Here's how to stop this. Retrieved from https://theconversation.com/indonesias-capital-jakarta-is-sinking-heres-how-to-stop-this-170269#:~:text=The%20 land%20surface%20is%20sinking%20while%20the%20sea%20is%20rising,year%20during%202019%20and%20 2020.&text=While%20the%20capital's%20land%20surface%

^[175] Rajan, S. I., Suresh, A., & Irudayarajan, R. (2022). Footloose Workers in Times of Calamities: A Case Study of the 2018 Kerala Floods . Retrieved from https://www.insightturkey.com/commentaries/footloose-workers-in-times-of-calamities-a-casestudy-of-the-2018-kerala-floods

^[176] Basu, J. (2018). India: Migrant Workers Turn Climate Refugees Twice Over. Retrieved from https://www.preventionweb. net/news/india-migrant-workers-turn-climate-refugees-twice-over

^[177] Press Information Bureau. (2017). MGNREGA has helped in checking distress migration. Retrieved from https://pib.gov.in/ PressReleasePage.aspx?PRID=1497796

^[178] The Print. (2022). Double-engine BJP govts addressed Bundelkhand's problems of drought, migration: Adityanath. Retrieved from https://theprint.in/india/double-engine-bjp-govts-addressed-bundelkhands-problems-of-drought-migrationadityanath/835253/

^[179] Khandker, S. R., Khaleque, M. A., & Samad, H. A. (2011). Can Social Safety Nets Alleviate Seasonal Deprivation? : Evidence from Northwest Bangladesh. Retrieved from The World Bank: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/bitstream/ handle/10986/3631/WPS5865.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

^[180] International Labour Organization (2014). The benefits of International Labour Standards . Retrieved from https://www.ilo. org/global/standards/introduction-to-international-labour-standards/the-benefits-of-international-labour-standards/lang--en/ index.htm

^[181] International Labour Organization. (2014). SAARC commits to helping migrant workers. Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/ asia/media-centre/articles/WCMS_329302/lang--en/index.htm

^[162] International Labour Organization. (2015). The ASEAN Declaration on the Protection and Promotion of the Rights of Migrant Workers. Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/migpractice/migmain.showPractice?p_lang=en&p_practice_id=41

^[183] Sinha, B. (2020). This 1979 inter-state workmen law could help avert migrant crisis if enforced strictly . Retrieved from ThePrint: https://theprint.in/judiciary/this-1979-inter-state-workmen-law-could-help-avert-migrant-crisis-if-enforced-strictly/437494/

^[184] Srivastava, R., & Pandey, A. K. (2017). Internal and international migration in South Asia: drivers, interlinkage and policy issues; discussion paper . Retrieved from UNESCO: https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000249459

^[185] Government of Bangladesh. (2006). Labour Act, 2006 (XLII of 2006). Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/natlex4. detail?p_lang=en&p_isn=76402

^[186] Government of Bangladesh. (2013). Bangladesh Labour (Amendment) Act, 2013 (Act No. 30 of 2013). Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/natlex4.detail?p_lang=en&p_isn=94286&p_classification=01.02

^[187] The Royal Government of Cambodia. (1997). Kram Dated March 13, 1997 On The Labor Law. Retrieved from https://www. ilo.org/dyn/travail/docs/701/labour

^[188] The Royal Government of Cambodia. (2007). Law On The Amedments Of Article 139 And Article 144 Of Labour Law. Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/travail/docs/694/Labour%20Law%20-%20Amendments%20of%20Articles%20 139%20and%20144.pdf

^[189] ASEAN Briefing. (2021). Cambodia Makes Amendments to the Labor Law. Retrieved from https://www.aseanbriefing. com/news/cambodia-makes-amendments-to-the-labor-law/#:~:text=On%20October%205%2C%202021%2C%20 Cambodia's,articles%20of%20the%20Labor%20Law

^[190] ibid

^[191] The Royal Government of Cambodia. (2018). Law on Minimum Wage. Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/docs/ MONOGRAPH/110793/137916/F541182463/KHM110793%20ENG.pdf

^[192] Government of Cambodia. (2009). "LAW ON SOCIAL SECURITY SCHEMES". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/docs/ELECTRONIC/71910/96916/F1873020753/KHM71910.pdf

^[193] Government of Cambodia. (2019). "Amendment of 2019". Retrieved from https://www.loc.gov/item/global-legal-monitor/2021-11-08/cambodia-labor-law-amended-for-third-time/https://ilo.org/dyn/natlex/docs/ ELECTRONIC/103389/125600/F1146872348/KHM103389 Eng.pdf

^[194] Government of India. (2019). "The Code on Wages". Retrieved from https://egazette.nic.in/WriteReadData/2019/210356. pdf

^[195] Government of India. (2020). "The Occupational Health, Safety and Working Conditions Code". Retrieved from https:// labour.gov.in/sites/default/files/OSH_Gazette.pdf

^[196] Government of India. (2020). "The Industrial Relations Code". Retrieved from https://egazette.nic.in/ WriteReadData/2020/222118.pdf

^[197] Government of India. (2020). "The Code on Social Security". Retrieved from https://labour.gov.in/sites/default/files/ SS_Code_Gazette.pdf

^[198] Government of Indonesia. (2003). "The Indonesian Labour Law Act of 2003". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/ travail/docs/760/Indonesian+Labour+Law+-+Act+13+of+2003.pdf

^[199] Government of Indonesia. (2021). "Indonesia's Omnibus Law and Effects on Foreign Investors in 2021". Retrieved from https://greenhouse.co/blog/omnibus-law-indonesia/

^[200] Government of Indonesia. (2000). "Law on Trade Unions". Retrieved from https://docs.google.com/document/d/1-HPdcqcdsYYq3ynwuoNh22eXDksRXxXQ/edit

^[201] Government of Indonesia. (2004). "The Industrial Dispute Settlement Act". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/ natlex/natlex4.detail?p_lang=en&p_isn=67355&p_country=IDN&p_count=611&p_classification=02&p_classcount=38

^[202] Government of Nepal. (2017). "The Labour Act (2074)". Retrieved from https://www.lawcommission.gov.np/en/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/The-Labor-Act-2017-2074.pdf

^[203] Government of Nepal. (2018). "Labour Rules". Retrieved from https://pkf.trunco.com.np/uploads/publication/file/ Labor%20Rules%202018_20181125025258_20181126031446.pdf

^[204] Government of Nepal. (2020). "The Industrial Enterprises Act,2076". Retrieved from https://moics.gov.np/uploads/ shares/laws/Industrial%20Enterprises%20Act%20%202020.pdf

^[205] Government of Thailand. (1998). "The Labour Protection Act, 2541". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/ docs/ELECTRONIC/49727/125954/F-1924487677/THA49727%20Eng.pdf

^[206] Government of Thailand. (2019). "The Labour Protection Act: Amendment of 2019". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/ dyn/natlex/natlex4.detail?p_lang=en&p_isn=110794&p_country=THA&p_classification=01

^[207] Government of Thailand. (1975). "Labour Relations Act 1975". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/natlex4. detail?p_isn=62435&p_lang=en

^[208] Government of Thailand. (2001). "Labour Relations Act: Amendment of 2001". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/ natlex/natlex4.detail?p_lang=&p_isn=14497

^[209] Government of Thailand. (2010). "Home Workers Protection Act B.E.2553 (2010)". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/ dyn/natlex/docs/ELECTRONIC/93545/109400/F-1826987314/THA93545%20Eng.pdf

^[210] United Nations. (2013). "Revised Bangladesh labour law 'falls short' of international standards – UN agency". Retrieved from https://news.un.org/en/story/2013/07/445222-revised-bangladesh-labour-law-falls-short-international-standards-unagency

^[211] Working People's Charter. (2020). "Why the new labour codes leave India's workers even more precariously poised than before". Retrieved from The Scroll: https://scroll.in/article/973877/why-the-new-labour-codes-leave-workers-even-more-precariously-poised-than-before

^[212] Tungsuwan, S. (2019). "Thailand's Redrafted Labor Protection Act Introduces Major Changes to Employment Law". Retrieved from Baker McKenzie: https://www.globalcompliancenews.com/2019/06/27/thailand-redrafted-labor-protection-act-introduces-major-changes-employment-law-20190506/

^[213] Vidhi Legal . (2021). "GENERAL INTRODUCTION TO LABOR LAWS IN NEPAL". Retrieved from https://vidhilegal.com/general-introduction-to-labor-laws-in-nepal/

^[214] International Labour Organization. (2020). "Fundamental rights at work can help build back better from COVID-19". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/global/about-the-ilo/newsroom/news/WCMS_759288/lang--en/index.htm

^[215] Pwc. (2021). "Changes of Employment Regulations and Their Impact on Financial Accounting". Retrieved from https:// www.pwc.com/id/en/publications/omnibus/omnibus-flash-2021-04.pdf

^[216] Hamid, U., & Hermawan, A. (2020). "Indonesia's omnibus law is a bust for human rights". Retrieved from New Mandala: https://www.newmandala.org/indonesias-omnibus-law-is-a-bust-for-human-rights/

^[217] The Times of India. (2021). "Workers protest Indonesia's labor law in May Day rallies". Retrieved from https://timesofindia. indiatimes.com/world/rest-of-world/workers-protest-indonesias-labor-law-in-may-day-rallies/articleshow/82340474.cms

^[218] Widianto, S. (2021). "Indonesia court orders government to revise controversial labour law". Retrieved from Reuters: https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/indonesia-court-orders-government-amend-controversial-labour-law-2021-11-25/

^[219] Government of India. (2020). "The Uttar Pradesh Temporary Exemption from Certain Labour Laws Ordinance, 2020". Retrieved from https://www.livelaw.in/pdf_upload/pdf_upload-374550.pdf

^[220] Industrial Global Union. (2020). "Indian states suspend labour laws and increase working hours". Retrieved from https:// www.industriall-union.org/indian-states-suspend-labour-laws-and-increase-working-hours

^[221] Government of India. (1996). "The Building And Other Construction Workers (Regulation Of Employment And Conditions Of Service) Act, 1996". Retrieved from https://legislative.gov.in/sites/default/files/A1996-27_0.pdf

^[222] Srivastava, R., & Sutradhar, R. (2016). "Migrating Out of Poverty: A study of migrant construction workers in India". Retrieved from Institute for Human Development: http://www.ihdindia.org/1.pdf

^[223] Chun, N., & Khor, N. (2010). "Minimum Wages and Changing Wage Inequality in Indonesia". Retrieved from Asian Development Bank: https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/28407/economics-wp196.pdf

^[224] Srija, A. (2014). "Implementation of the Minimum Wages Act, 1948 - Case Study of India". Retrieved from Niti Ayog: https:// www.niti.gov.in/writereaddata/files/document_publication/Publication%20in%20Global%20Journal.pdf

^[225] Leckcivilize, A. (2015). "Does the minimum wage reduce wage inequality? Evidence from Thailand". Retrieved from https:// izajold.springeropen.com/articles/10.1186/s40175-015-0041-7

^[226] Estupinan, X. (2019). "Application of Minimum Wages in Nepal: Challenges and Opportunities". Retrieved from Spotlight: https://www.spotlightnepal.com/2019/05/22/application-minimum-wages-nepal-challenges-and-opportunities/

[227] Ronconi, L. (2019). "Enforcement of labor regulations in developing countries". Retrieved from IZA World of Labour: https:// wol.iza.org/articles/enforcement-of-labor-regulations-in-developing-countries/long

^[228] Gerningon, B., Odero, A., & Guido, H. (2000). "ILO principles conernicing the right to strike". Retrieved from International Labour Organisation: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/---normes/documents/publication/wcms_087987. pdf

^[229] ibid

^[230] International Labour Organization. "Compilation of decisions of the Committee on Freedom of Association". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:70002:0::NO::P70002_HIER_ELEMENT_ID,P70002_HIER_LEVEL:3945366,1

^[231] International Labour Organization. "Substantive provisions of labour legislation: The right to strike". Retrieved from https:// www.ilo.org/legacy/english/dialogue/ifpdial/llg/noframes/ch5.htm

^[232] Venkatesan. (2020). "Labour law perform a redistributive function. Diluting them has serious consequences". Retrieved from The Wire: https://thewire.in/labour/labour-law-dilution-consequences

^[233] Survey of Violations of Trade Union Rights. "Freedom of association / Right to organise". Retrieved from https://survey. ituc-csi.org/Nepal.html?lang=en#tabs-2

^[234] International Labour Organization. "C158 - Termination of Employment Convention, 1982 (No. 158)". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::P12100_ILO_CODE:C158

^[235] International Labour Organization. "Q&As on business and employment security". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/ empent/areas/business-helpdesk/faqs/WCMS_DOC_ENT_HLP_SOE_FAQ_EN/lang--en/index.htm#Q11

^[236] International Labour Organization. (1985). "Ratifications of C158 - Termination of Employment Convention, 1982 (No. 158)". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11300:0::NO:11300:P11300_INSTRUMENT_ID:312303

[237] Government of Nepal. (2017). "The Labour Act (2074)". Retrieved from https://www.lawcommission.gov.np/en/wp-content/ uploads/2021/03/The-Labor-Act-2017-2074.pdf

^[238] International Labour Organization. "Valid and Prohibited Grounds for Dismissal". Retrieved from https://eplex.ilo.org/validand-prohibited-grounds-for-dismissal/

^[239] Government of Nepal. (2017). "The Labour Act (2074)". Retrieved from https://www.lawcommission.gov.np/en/wp-content/ uploads/2021/03/The-Labor-Act-2017-2074.pdf

^[240] International Labour Organization. "Valid and Prohibited Grounds for Dismissal". Retrieved from https://eplex.ilo.org/validand-prohibited-grounds-for-dismissal/

^[241] Wage Indicator Foundation, Centre for Labour Research . (2020). "Labour Rights Index". Retrieved from https:// labourrightsindex.org/data-visual

^[242] International Labour Organization. (1919). "C001 - Hours of Work (Industry) Convention, 1919 (No. 1)". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::P12100_ILO_CODE:C001

^[243] International Labour Organization. "International Labour Standards on Working time". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/ global/standards/subjects-covered-by-international-labour-standards/working-time/lang--en/index.htm ^[244] International Labour Organization. "Ratifications of C001 - Hours of Work (Industry) Convention, 1919 (No. 1)". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=1000:11300:0::NO:11300:P11300_INSTRUMENT_ID:312146

^[245] Robertson, R., Di, H., Brown, D. K., & Dehejia, R. H. (2016). "Working Conditions, Work Outcomes, and Policy in Asian Developing Countries". Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/318008627_Working_Conditions_Work_Outcomes_and_Policy_in_Asian_Developing_Countries

^[246] International Labour Organization. (2018). "Working time and the Future of Work". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/ wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---cabinet/documents/publication/wcms_649907.pdf

^[247] UN Women. "Redistribute unpaid work". Retrieved from https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/in-focus/csw61/redistribute-unpaid-work

^[248] Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2021). "Caregiving in Crisis: Gender inequality in paid and unpaid work during COVID-19". Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/policy-responses/caregiving-in-crisis-gender-inequality-in-paid-and-unpaid-work-during-covid-19-3555d164/

^[249] Fair Labor. (2018). Toward Fair Compensation in Bangladesh. Retrieved from https://www.fairlabor.org/projects/toward-fair-compensation-in-bangladesh/

^[250] Ministry of Planning. (2019). "Report on the Cambodia Labour Force Survey". Retrieved from https://www.nis.gov.kh/ nis/CLFS/CLFS19_Final_Full%20Report_EN.pdf

^[251] Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation. (2020). "Annual Report on Periodic Labour Force Survey (July 2019-June 2020)". Retrieved from https://www.mospi.gov.in/documents/213904/301563/Annual_Report_PLFS_2019_20m1627036454797.pdf/18afb74a-3980-ab83-0431-1e84321f75af

^[252] Government of Nepal (2019). "Report on the Nepal Labour Force Survey 2017/18". Retrieved from https://nepalindata. com/media/resources/items/20/bNLFS-III_Final-Report.pdf

^[253] International Labour Organization. (2004). "Regulations on overtime and extra hours pursuant to the Labour Act". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/travail/docs/2438/Regulations%20on%20overtime%20and%20extra%20 hours.%20April%202004.pdf

^[254] Merk, J. (2014). "Living Wage in Asia". Retrieved from Clean Clothes Campaign: https://cleanclothes.org/resources/ publications/asia-wage-report

^[255] Fair Labor. (2018). Toward Fair Compensation in Bangladesh. Retrieved from https://www.fairlabor.org/projects/toward-fair-compensation-in-bangladesh/

^[256] Ministry of Planning. (2019). "Report on the Cambodia Labour Force Survey". Retrieved from https://www.nis.gov.kh/ nis/CLFS/CLFS19_Final_Full%20Report_EN.pdf

^[257] Srivastava, R., & Sutradhar, R. (2016). "Migrating Out of Poverty: A study of migrant construction workers in India". Retrieved from Institute for Human Development: http://www.ihdindia.org/1.pdf

^[258] Akbary, S. "3 Ways Garment Workers in Bangladesh are Struggling". Retrieved from Brogen Project: https://borgenproject. org/tag/unsafe-working-conditions/#:~:text=Garments%20account%20for%20around%2080,conditions%20without%20 any%20financial%20protection

^[259] Schyst Resande. (2012). "No place in the sun: A study of working conditions in the tourism sector in Thailand and Turkey". Retrieved from Fair Action: https://fairaction.se/wp-content/uploads/2015/04/No-place-in-the-sun_0.pdf

^[260] International Labour Organization. "How to define a minimum wage". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/ wages/minimum-wages/definition/lang--en/index.htm

^[261] International Labour Organization. "How many different minimum wage rates should there be". Retrieved from https:// www.ilo.org/global/topics/wages/minimum-wages/rates/lang--en/index.htm

^[262] International Labour Organization. (2020). "Global Wage Report: 2020-2021". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/ wcmsp5/groups/public/@dgreports/@dcomm/@publ/documents/publication/wcms_762534.pdf

^[263] SEWA. (2014). "Domestic Workers' Laws and Legal Issues in India". Retrieved from WIEGO Law and Informality Resources: https://www.wiego.org/sites/default/files/resources/files/Domestic-Workers-Laws-and-Legal-Issues-India.pdf

^[264] International Labour Organization. (2021). "Making decent work a reality for domestic workers". Retrieved from https:// www.ilo.org/global/publications/books/WCMS_802551/lang--en/index.htm

^[265] International Labour Organization. "Working conditions of domestic workers". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/ travail/areasofwork/domestic-workers/lang--en/index.htm#:~:text=Around%20the%20world%2C%20domestic%20 workers,no%20access%20to%20social%20protections

^[266] World Footwear. (2021). "Cambodia to increase minimum wage for 2022". Retrieved from https://www.worldfootwear.com/ news/cambodia-to-increase-minimum-wage-for-2022/7104.html#:~:text=Under%20the%20new%20regulation%2C%20 workers,US%20dollars%20in%202021)%3B

^[267] Bangladesh Institute of Labour Studies. (2015). "National Minimum Wage for Bangladesh's Workers". Retrieved from http://bilsbd.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/NMW_MJF.pdf ^[268] Olsen, D. K. (2022). "In Cambodia, informal construction workers are still reaching for the labour rights won by garment workers". Retrieved from Equal Times: https://www.equaltimes.org/in-cambodia-informal-construction#.Yo3GwqhBzrd

^[269] International Labour Organization. "What is a minimum wage". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/global/topics/wages/ minimum-wages/definition/WCMS_439067/lang--en/index.htm

^[270] NOP, K. (2017). "Overview of Labor Legal Issues in Cambodia". Retrieved from Japan Labour Issues: https://www.jil.go.jp/ english/jli/documents/2017/003-12.pdf

^[271] Cowgill, M., & Huynh, P. (2016). "Weak minimum wage compliance in Asia's garment industry". Retrieved from International Labour Organization: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_protect/---protrav/---travail/documents/publication/ wcms_509532.pdf

^[272] Tijdens, K., Adib, A., Ceccon, D., Chowdhury, T., Mahmud M., Medas, G., Klaveren M. V. (2020). "Wages in Bangladesh: A study of tea estates, ready made garment and construction". Retrieved from Bangladesh Institute of Development Studies: https://bids.org.bd/uploads/research/completed_research/DECENT%20WAGE_20201216-BangladeshWageReport-WageIndicator-Bids.pdf

^[273] Ministry of Statistics and Programme Implementation. (2020). "Annual Report on Periodic Labour Force Survey (July 2019-June 2020)". Retrieved from https://www.mospi.gov.in/documents/213904/301563/Annual_Report_ PLFS_2019_20m1627036454797.pdf/18afb74a-3980-ab83-0431-1e84321f75af

^[274] Robertson, R., Di, H., Brown, D., & Dehejia, R. (2016). "Working conditions, work outcomes, and policy in Asian developing countries". Retrieved from Asian Development Bank: https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/198551/ewp-497.pdf

^[275] Phuspa, S. M., Rachmawati, A., Kamaluddin, I., Bakri, W., & Trisnani, A. (2019). "Implications of Indonesian Occupational Safety and Health Management System Award to the Safety Culture". Retrieved from https://eudl.eu/pdf/10.4108/eai.13-2-2019.2286198

^[276] Kjaer, K. (1998). "Handbook for Joint Safety and Health Committees in the English-Speaking Caribbean". Retrieved from International Labour Organization: https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---americas/---ro-lima/---sro-port_of_spain/ documents/publication/wcms_224326.pdf

^[277] International Labour Organization. "International labour standards on occupational health and safety". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/global/standards/subjects-covered-by-international-labour-standards/occupational-safety-and-health/lang--en/index.htm

^[278] International Labour Organization. "Ratifications of C155 - Occupational Safety and Health Convention, 1981 (No. 155)". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:11300:0::NO::P11300_INSTRUMENT_ID:312300

^[279] International Labour Organisation & World Health Organisations (2021). WHO/ILO Joint Estimates of the Work-related Burden of Disease and Injury, 2000–2016. Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_dialogue/---lab_ admin/documents/publication/wcms_819788.pdf

^[280] Work Bank Group. (2018). "The State of Social Safety Nets". Retrieved from https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/ bitstream/handle/10986/29115/211254.pdf?sequence=4&isAllowed=y

^[281] Asian Development Bank. (2003). "Our Framework Policies and Strategies". Retrieved from https://www.adb.org/sites/ default/files/institutional-document/32100/social-protection.pdf

^[282] Work Bank Group. (2018). "The State of Social Safety Nets". Retrieved from https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/ bitstream/handle/10986/29115/211254.pdf?sequence=4&isAllowed=y

^[283] UNDP. (2013). Conditional Cash Transfer Schemes for Alleviating Human Poverty : Relevance for India. Retrieved from https:// www.in.undp.org/content/india/en/home/library/poverty/conditional_cashtransferschemesforalleviatinghumanpovertyrelevan. html

^[284] Government of India. "One Nation One Ration Card". Retrieved from https://transformingindia.mygov.in/wp-content/ uploads/2021/10/ONORC-eng.pdf

^[285] Saran, M. (2021). What Is One Nation, One Ration Card? What Challenges Does It Face? Retrieved from The Quint. Retrieved from: https://www.thequint.com/news/india/what-is-one-nation-one-ration-card-how-does-it-work#read-more

^[286] Food and Agriculture Organization. (2015). "Nepal enshrines the Right to Food in new constitution". Retrieved from https:// www.fao.org/news/story/en/item/334895/icode/

^[287] Government of Nepal. (2018). "The Right to Food and Food Sovereignty Act, 2075 (2018)". Retrieved from https://www. lawcommission.gov.np/en/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/The-Right-to-Food-and-Food-Sovereignty-Act-2075-2018.pdf

^[288] Amnesty International. (2019). "Nepal: Right to food in Nepal: Analysis of the Right to Food and Food Sovereignty Act 2018". Retrieved from https://www.amnesty.org/en/documents/asa31/0130/2019/en/

[289] IFPRI. "Global Hunger Index—Asia Fact Sheet". Retrieved from https://www.ifpri.org/sites/default/files/News%20Release/ ghi15factsasia.pdf

^[290] Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2016). "A territorial approach to food security and nutrition policy: The case of Cambodia". Retrieved from https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/urban-rural-and-regional-development/adopting-a-territorial-approach-to-food-security-and-nutrition-policy/a-territorial-approach-to-food-security-approach-to-food-security-approach-to-food-security-approach-to-food-security-approach-to-food-security-approach-to-food-security-approach-to-food-security-approach-to-food-security-approach-to-food-security-approach-to-food-security-approach-to-food-security-approach-to-food-security-approach-to-food-security-approach-to-food-security-approach-to-food

case-of-cambodia_9789264257108-5-en;jsessionid=oVFXfp

^[291] Felcon, R. (2014). "SCHOOL LUNCH PROGRAM IN THAILAND TARGETS MALNUTRITION". Retrieved from Brogen Project: https://borgenproject.org/school-lunch-program-thailand-targets-malnutrition/

^[292] Isvilanonda, S., & Bunyasiri, I. (2009). "Food Security in Thailand: Status, Rural Poor Vulnerability, and Some Policy Options". Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/46457486_Food_Security_in_Thailand_Status_Rural_Poor_Vulnerability_and_Some_Policy_Options#:~:text=The%20recent%20increase%20in%20food,intake%20of%20 more%20nutritious%20food

^[293] UNDP. (2013). Conditional Cash Transfer Schemes for Alleviating Human Poverty : Relevance for India. Retrieved from https://www.in.undp.org/content/india/en/home/library/poverty/conditional_ cashtransferschemesforalleviatinghumanpovertyrelevan.html

^[294] Ministry of Social Affairs. (2019). "Program Keluarga Harapan". Retrieved from https://kemensos.go.id/programkeluarga-harapan-pkh

^[295] Government of Cambodia. "Law on Social Security Schemes for Persons Defined by the Provisions of the Labour law". Retrieved from International Labour Organization: https://www.ilo.org/dyn/natlex/docs/ELECTRONIC/71910/96916/ F1873020753/KHM71910.pdf

^[296] Gupta, D. S. "Direct Benefit Transfer – A blessing during the time of Pandemic". Retrieved from https://www.nic.in/ blogs/direct-benefit-transfer-a-blessing-during-the-time-of-pandemic/#:~:text=time%200f%20Pandemic-,Direct%20 Benefit%20Transfer%20%E2%80%93%20A%20blessing%20during%20the%20time%20of%20Pandemic,-Dipankar%20 Sengupta%0ADeputy

[297] Social Security Office, Ministry of Labour. "Social Security Fund". Retrieved from https://www.mol.go.th/wp-content/ uploads/sites/2/2021/02/2-%E0%B9%81%E0%B8%9C%E0%B9%88%E0%B8%99%E0%B8%9E%E0%B8%B1%E0%B 8%9A%E0%B8%81%E0%B8%AD%E0%B8%87%E0%B8%97%E0%B8%B8%E0%B8%99%E0%B8%9B%E0%B8%A3 %E0%B8%B0%E0%B8%81%E0%B8%B1%E0%B8%99%E0%B8%AA%E0%B8%B1%E0%B8%

^[298] Alam, M. J., Aktar, S., Haque, M. M., & Ara, I. (2021). "Productive Impacts of Cash Transfer and Conditional Cash Transfer Programs in Bangladesh". Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/353143440_Productive_Impacts_of_Cash_Transfer_and_Conditional_Cash_Transfer_Programs_in_Bangladesh

^[299] Pokharel, R. K. Social transfer programme in Nepal: an overview. Retrieved from Ministry of Health and Population: https://europa.eu/capacity4dev/file/14014/download?token=gpamMDMv

^[300] The Guardian. (2016). "What Thailand can teach the world about universal healthcare". Retrieved from https://www. theguardian.com/health-revolution/2016/may/24/thailand-universal-healthcare-ucs-patients-government-political

^[301] Social Protection. (2022). "Employment Generation Programme for the Poorest, EGPP". Retrieved from https:// socialprotection.org/discover/programmes/employment-generation-programme-poorest-egpp

^[302] Government of India. (2005). "The National Rural Employment Guarantee Act, 2005". Retrieved from https://rural.nic. in/sites/default/files/nrega/Library/Books/1_MGNREGA_Act.pdf

^[303] My Republica. (2019). "Government launching Prime Minister Employment Program on Wednesday". Retrieved from https://myrepublica.nagariknetwork.com/news/government-launching-prime-minister-employment-program-onwednesday/

^[304] Social Protection for Employment Community. (2020). "Pre-Employment Card Program". Retrieved from https:// socialprotection.org/system/files/SPEC-Infographics-INDONESIA.pdf

[305] IFPRI. "Global Hunger Index-Asia Fact Sheet". Retrieved from https://www.ifpri.org/sites/default/files/News%20 Release/ghi15factsasia.pdf

^[306] Morris, E. (2007). "Promoting Employment in Cambodia: Analysis and Options". Retrieved from International Labour Organization. Retrieved from: http://www.ilo.int/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/documents/publication/wcms_bk_pb_137_en.pdf

^[307] International Labour Organization. "Facts on Social Security". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/ public/---dgreports/---dcomm/documents/publication/wcms_067588.pdf

^[308] International Labour Organization. (2022). "World Social Protection Report". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/global/ research/global-reports/world-social-security-report/2020-22/lang--en/index.htm

^[309] Hopkins, E., Bastagil, F., & Zanker, J. H. (2016). "Internal migrants and social protection: a review of eligibility and takeup". Retrieved from https://www.shram.org/uploadFiles/20170809013520.pdf

^[310] Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2017). "Social Protection System: Review of Cambodia". Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/countries/cambodia/SPSR_Cambodia_ebook.pdf

^[311] Ismail, G., & Valdivia, M. (2021). "Internal Migrants in the Informal Economy: COVID-19 lessons". Retrieved from Women in Infromal Employment: Globalising and Organising: https://www.wiego.org/sites/default/files/resources/file/PolicyInsights6.pdf

[312] Hopkins, E., Bastagil, F., & Zanker, J. H. (2016). "Internal migrants and social protection: a review of eligibility and take-

up". Retrieved from https://www.shram.org/uploadFiles/20170809013520.pdf

^[313] Sharma, H. (2021). "Explained: Ration card reform, so far". Retrieved from Indian Express: https://indianexpress.com/ article/explained/one-nation-one-ration-card-benefits-implementation-supreme-court-modi-govt-7381857/

^[314] Allu, R., Ganesh, M., Deo, S., & Devalkar, S. K. (2019). "Portability in the Public Distribution System – Determinants of Utilization & their Implications". Retrieved from https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3479298

^[315] The Mint. (2019). "Over 40,000 people availed portable treatment under Ayushman Bharat". Retrieved from https://www. livemint.com/politics/policy/over-42-000-people-availed-portable-treatment-under-ab-pmjay-1569476280775.html

^[316] KK, S. (2020). "Need to do more to promote awareness: Ayushman Bharat CEO Indu Bhushan". Retrieved from Economic Times: https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/politics-and-nation/need-to-do-more-to-promote-awareness-ayushman-bharat-ceo-indu-bhushan/articleshow/76664759.cms?from=mdr

^[317] Hopkins, E., Bastagil, F., & Zanker, J. H. (2016). "Internal migrants and social protection: a review of eligibility and take-up". Retrieved from https://www.shram.org/uploadFiles/20170809013520.pdf

^[318] Merwin, R. (2019). "Portability issues hamper Ayushman Bharat". Retrieved from Business Line: https://www. thehindubusinessline.com/money-and-banking/portability-issues-hamper-ayushman-bharat/article26196019.ece

^[319] Mboi, N. (2014). "Indonesia: On the Way to Universal Health Care". Retrieved from https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/1 0.1080/23288604.2015.1020642

^[320] Hopkins, E., Bastagil, F., & Zanker, J. H. (2016). "Internal migrants and social protection: a review of eligibility and take-up". Retrieved from https://www.shram.org/uploadFiles/20170809013520.pdf

^[321]John, J., Thomas, N. J., Jacob, M., & Jacob, N. (2020). "A Study on Social Security and Health Rights of Migrant Workers in India". Retrieved from National Human Rights Commission: https://nhrc.nic.in/sites/default/files/Approved_Health%20 and%20social%20security%20ISMW_KDS-NHRC.pdf

^[322] Hopkins, E., Bastagil, F., & Zanker, J. H. (2016). "Internal migrants and social protection: a review of eligibility and take-up". Retrieved from https://www.shram.org/uploadFiles/20170809013520.pdf

^[323] International Labour Organization. (2018). "Women and Men in the Informal Economy: A Statistical Picture". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/documents/publication/wcms_626831.pdf

^[324] DeRiel, E. (2017). "Leave no one behind: Insights from Cambodia's national poverty identification system". Retrieved from Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development: https://health.bmz.de/wp-content/uploads/studies/ID_POOR_ Final_lowres.pdf

[325] Biswas, S. (2021). "No Card, No Benefits". Retrieved from The Times of India: https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/blogs/ developing-contemporary-india/no-card-no-benefits/

^[326] Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development. (2019). "Social Protection System Review of Indonesia". Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/social/inclusivesocietiesanddevelopment/SPSR_Indonesia_ebook.pdf

^[327] Holmes, R., Samuels, F., Evans, M., Ghimire, A., & Twigg, J. (2019). "The potential of Nepal's social security allowance schemes to support emergency flood response". Retrieved from UNICEF: https://www.unicef.org/nepal/media/3401/ file/%20Report%20%7C%20The%20potential%20of%20Nepal%E2%80%99s%20social%20security%20allowance%20 schemes%20to%20support%20emergency%20flood%20response.pdf

^[328] Hopkins, E., Bastagil, F., & Zanker, J. H. (2016). "Internal migrants and social protection: a review of eligibility and take-up". Retrieved from https://www.shram.org/uploadFiles/20170809013520.pdf

^[329] John, J., Thomas, N. J., Jacob, M., & Jacob, N. (2020). "A Study on Social Security and Health Rights of Migrant Workers in India". Retrieved from National Human Rights Commission: https://nhrc.nic.in/sites/default/files/Approved_Health%20 and%20social%20security%20ISMW_KDS-NHRC.pdf

^[330] International Labour Organization. (2021). "Social Protection Spotlight". Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/ groups/public/---ed_protect/---soc_sec/documents/publication/wcms_749491.pdf

^[331] Mandal, C. K. (2020). "Why Nepal's social security scheme has failed to take off". Retrieved from Kathmandu Post: https:// kathmandupost.com/national/2019/12/05/why-nepal-s-social-security-scheme-has-failed-to-take-off

^[332] PHCPI. "Thailand: Improved geographic and financial access to care strengthens primary care". Retrieved from https://improvingphc.org/promising-practices/thailand#:~:text=Infrastructure%3A%20Throughout%20the%201970s%20 and,outside%20of%20large%20urban%20centers

^[333] Outlook India. (2022). How BOCW Boards Were Used To Help Unorganised Workers In Pandemic And What Issues Remain. Retrieved from https://www.outlookindia.com/national/how-bocw-boards-were-used-to-help-unorganised-workersin-pandemic-and-what-issues-remain-news-194348

^[334] Ahmed, I., & Kamal, S. M. (2020). Bangladesh at work in the era of COVID-19: Job creation and inclusive growth . Retrieved from bdnews24: https://opinion.bdnews24.com/2020/06/04/bangladesh-at-work-job-creation-and-inclusive-growth-in-the-era-of-covid-19/

^[335] Asian Development Bank. (2020). Employment And Poverty Impact Assessment: Cambodia. Retrieved from https://www. adb.org/sites/default/files/linked-documents/54195-001-sd-03.pdf ^[336] Vyas, M. (2020). The jobs bloodbath of April 2020. Retrieved from Centre for Monitoring Indian Economy: https://www. cmie.com/kommon/bin/sr.php?kall=warticle&dt=2020-05-05%2008:22:21&msec=776&ver=pf#:~:text=Compared%20 to%20the%20same%20average,mind%20boggling%20loss%20of%20jobs

^[337] Akhlas, A. W. (2020). Unemployment surges to decade high as COVID-19 causes millions to lose jobs . Retrieved from The Jakarta Post: https://www.thejakartapost.com/news/2020/11/05/unemployment-surges-to-decade-high-as-covid-19-causes-millions-to-lose-jobs.html

^[338] International Labour Organization. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 on Nepali Migrant Workers: Protecting Nepali Migrant Workers during the Health and Economic Crisis. Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---asia/---ro-bangkok/---ilo-kathmandu/documents/briefingnote/wcms_748917.pdf

^[339] Reuters. (2020). REFILE-Thailand may have lost 7-8 million jobs during lockdown -cenbank . Retrieved from https:// www.reuters.com/article/thailand-economy-idUSL3N2EV161

^[340] Asian Development Bank. (2020). Covid-19 And Transport In Asia And The Pacific: Guidance Note. Retrieved from https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/institutional-document/623426/covid-19-transport-asia-pacific-guidance-note.pdf

^[341] International Organization for Migration. (2020). Situation Snapshot- Bangladesh. Retrieved from https://migration.iom. int/sites/default/files/public/reports/MT_Internal%20Returnees_Final%20%28Upload%29.pdf

^[342] Ministry of Labour and Employment. (2021). Unstarred Question No.1056. Retrieved from http://164.100.24.220/ loksabhaquestions/annex/175/AU1056.pdf

^[343] KumparanSains. (2020). Nasib Wonogiri Setelah Diserbu Pemudik dan Upaya Cegah COVID-19 Menyebar. Retrieved from https://kumparan.com/kumparansains/nasib-wonogiri-setelah-diserbu-pemudik-dan-upaya-cegah-covid-19menyebar-1t6XL9H32qv

^[344] Fox, J., Yokying, P., Paudel, N. S., & Chhetri, R. (2020). Another Possible Cost Of Covid-19: Returning Workers May Lead To Deforestation In Nepal. Retrieved from East-West Center: https://www.eastwestcenter.org/news-center/east-west-wire/another-possible-cost-covid-19-returning-workers-may-lead-deforestation

^[345] International Organization for Migration. (2020). IOM Myanmar COVID-19 Response Situation Report 11. Retrieved from https://reliefweb.int/report/myanmar/iom -myanmar-covid-19-response-situation-report-11-6-august-2020

About Migrants Resilience Collaborative

Migrants Resilience Collaborative (MRC) is a grassroots-led multi stakeholder collaborative of non-profit, philanthropic, and private sector actors focused on ensuring safety, security and mobility for vulnerable migrant families. Jan Sahas leads the collaborative with the Global Development Incubator (GDI) and the EdelGive Foundation as strategic partners. MRC aims to strengthen the resilience of 10 million migrant households across 100 districts and build the roles and systems required to enable social security and broader protections for 10s of millions more.

For more information, visit: www.migrantresilience.org







